

Walden University ScholarWorks

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection

2021

Assisted Living Transitions: Experiences of Family Members of older African American women

Carol A. Shaw Burns Walden University

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations

Part of the Family, Life Course, and Society Commons, and the Feminist, Gender, and Sexuality Studies Commons

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection at ScholarWorks. It has been accepted for inclusion in Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies by an authorized administrator of ScholarWorks. For more information, please contact ScholarWorks@waldenu.edu.

Walden University

College of Social and Behavioral Sciences

This is to certify that the doctoral dissertation by

Carol Shaw Burns

has been found to be complete and satisfactory in all respects, and that any and all revisions required by the review committee have been made.

Review Committee

Dr. Barbara Benoliel, Committee Chairperson, Human Services Faculty Dr. Jan Ivery, Committee Member, Human Services Faculty Dr. Dorothy Scotten, University Reviewer, Human Services Faculty

Chief Academic Officer and Provost Sue Subocz, Ph.D.

Walden University 2021

Abstract

Assisted Living Transitions: Experiences of Family Members of Older African American Women

by

Carol Shaw Burns

MPA, Roosevelt University, 2001 BS, Northern Illinois University, 1995

Dissertation Submitted in Partial Fulfillment
of the Requirements for the Degree of
Doctor of Philosophy
Human Services Administration

Walden University

February 2021

Abstract

Long-term care, also known as aging services, is evolving to meet the needs of the aging population in the United States, which is increasingly ethnically and racially diverse. The objective of this qualitative multiple case study was to understand how immediate family members experienced the transition of older African American women as they moved into assisted living facilities. Black feminist theory provided a theoretical framework. Narrative interview data were collected from four adult children family caregivers who facilitated the move. Three themes emerged from the content analysis: (a) Transition is not planned in advance and does not happen until a critical event or incident occurs that changes the older adult's physical, social, or emotional status; (b) The transition was more difficult than had been thought for the older women and their families; and (c) Older adults expect that family members stay connected and involved after the transition, and family members may have similar expectations. Human services professionals may use the results to provide better-informed programs and services for older African American women and their family member caregivers. Social change implications suggest developing a transition model to improve assessment and evaluation processes, promote cultural competence initiatives, and promote a person-centered approach to the transition process in order to begin to identify a framework that might be useful for human services practitioners.

Assisted Living Transitions: Experiences of Family Members of Older African American Women

by

Carol Shaw Burns

MPA, Roosevelt University, 2001 BS, Northern Illinois University, 1995

Dissertation Submitted in Partial Fulfillment
of the Requirements for the Degree of
Doctor of Philosophy
Human Services Administration

Walden University

February 2021

Dedication

I want to dedicate this dissertation to my loving husband, Marlon. He has always been my cheerleader, the person I look to for encouragement, advice, and support throughout my dissertation journey. I want to thank him for his patience, understanding, and flexibility, especially during those many days, evenings, and weekends where I needed to focus on course assignments and other related projects to pursue my doctoral degree. I have to say that you have given me strength, motivation, and tenacity because of your positive attitude, insightfulness, and thoughtful perspective. Marlon Bruce Burns, you are my rock. I adore, love, and appreciate you beyond words. Thank you for everything, my LOVE.

Acknowledgments

First, I would like to acknowledge all the older adult clients with whom I have worked over the last 25 years in the field of aging services. Each one I have encountered throughout my career has inspired me to advocate to improve, enhance, and support the programs and services offered to this population. I also want to acknowledge my mother, Alva Nora Shaw, sisters, Angela and Karen, brother, Andrew, nephew, Justin, and husband, Marlon, for their unwavering support, encouragement, and guidance throughout my doctoral pursuit. Each contributed in different ways, resulting in the successful completion of my studies and now my dissertation. I cannot forget to mention my loving father, Ambrose Vivian Shaw. Even though he is no longer with us, he continues to guide me. Daddy, I love and thank you always!

And lastly, I must thank my chair, Dr. Barbara Benoliel, and my dissertation committee members, Dr. Jan Ivery and Dr. Dorothy Scotten, for their guidance, recommendations, and expertise. It gave me comfort to know that I had support at Walden, especially when I had questions, experienced challenges, or setbacks during the rigorous process of completing my dissertation. Walden University is fortunate to have scholar-practitioners that are competent, knowledgeable, and supportive.

Table of Contents

Lis	st of Tables	V
Ch	apter 1: Introduction to the Study	1
	Background	2
	Problem Statement	5
	Purpose of the Study	9
	Central Research Question and Subquestions	9
	Theoretical Framework	10
	Nature of the Study	14
	Definitions	15
	Assumptions	17
	Scope and Delimitations	18
	Limitations	20
	Significance	21
	Summary	22
Ch	apter 2: Literature Review	24
	Literature Search Strategy	26
	Theoretical Foundation	27
	Transitioning to Assisted Living	31
	Autonomy and Independence	34
	Decision-Making	35
	Family Member Caregivers	38

	Quality of Life in Assisted Living	41
	Diversity in Assisted Living	42
	Successful Aging	44
	Social Ties and Social Isolation	48
	Health Perceptions	50
	Cultural Competence	52
	Summary	55
Ch	napter 3: Research Method	57
	Research Design and Rationale	58
	Role of the Researcher	60
	Methodology	62
	Participant Selection	62
	Instrumentation	64
	Participant Recruitment, Participation, and Data Collection	65
	Data Analysis Plan	66
	Issues of Trustworthiness	67
	Ethical Procedures	68
	Summary	70
Ch	napter 4: Results	71
	Participant Recruitment and Study Setting	72
	Participant Demographics	74
	Data Collection	74

Data Analysis	75
Evidence of Trustworthiness	79
Credibility	79
Transferability	80
Dependability	80
Confirmability	81
Study Results	81
Subquestion 1	82
Subquestion 2	84
Subquestion 3	91
Summary	96
Chapter 5: Discussion, Conclusions, and Recommendation	ns97
Interpretation of Findings	99
Theme 1	99
Theme 2	102
Theme 3	106
Limitations of the Study	110
Recommendations for Future Research	111
Implications for Social Change	113
Conclusion	114
References	117
Appendix A: Interview Guide	161

Appendix B: Facility Participation Invita	ation Letter	164
J 1		
Appendix C: Recruitment Flyer		165

List of Tables

Table 1. En	nergent Th	nemes	78
-------------	------------	-------	----

Chapter 1: Introduction to the Study

Steady increases in the number of older adults in the United States will result in an estimated 89,000,000 people age 65 years or older by 2050 (Centers for Disease Control [CDC], 2013). This growth has social and economic implications that need to be recognized to support this population's needs, particularly their health care needs. There are also cultural implications as the community becomes more diverse, and as aging services professionals work with increasing numbers of older adults (American Geriatrics Society Ethnogeriatrics Committee, 2016; Baker et al., 2015; Chatterji et al., 2015; Harper, 2014). In the face of this growth and to ensure comprehensive support for elders, aging services professionals need to be prepared to provide programs and services that address older adults' social, economic, and cultural needs (Ortman et al., 2014; Rowe et al., 2016).

There are many aging services program options for older adults and their family members to choose from, including retirement communities, assisted living facilities, and nursing homes. Still, there is limited research on diverse older adults and their family caregivers' experiences, even with these options. The present study was on how family caregivers of older African American women interpreted these women's transitions into assisted living facilities. Exploring how family member caregivers interpreted these transitions and related issues may help to shape a framework for aging services professionals to support older African American women's needs as they transition into assisted living facilities. As a group, older African American women outlive their spouses and experience chronic diseases and other conditions more often than their older White

counterparts (Melvin et al., 2014; Ng et al., 2014; Pollard & Scommegna, 2013). With older African American women experiencing greater longevity, medical conditions, and other issues, family member caregivers play a critical role in these women's care. Family members can share vital information about the transition into aging services facilities.

The goal was to use the study findings to suggest a transition framework to better support older African American women when they move into assisted living facilities.

In this chapter, I present the study background and problem statement. I also state the central research question and subquestions and the theoretical framework, followed by sections on definitions of terms and the study assumption.

Background

Referring to a 2001 Pew report coined the "silver tsunami," C. Johnson (2018) and Mitchell (2014) acknowledged the aging population's demographic shift that will impact health care and society. According to Rowe et al. (2016), 2030 will be a pivotal time in the aging population's growth because one in five older adults will be over 65 years of age. This population will have economic, policy, and social elements that will impact programs and services that support older adults (Bloom et al., 2015). The aging population's high health care costs have sparked reforms in health care services and managed care programs to create more financially efficient service models (Spitzer & Davidson, 2013).

Health disparities and health services coordination are social aspects impacting elders, including ethnically diverse elders (Clarke et al., 2017; Spitzer & Davidson, 2013). As this population grows and becomes more diverse, it will need more significant

support than has previously been allocated (Beard & Bloom, 2015; Freedman & Spillman, 2014; Lowry et al., 2012; Mendes, 2013; O'Neill & Pruchno, 2015). Aging services practitioners, human services professionals, and other providers who serve older adults and their family member caregivers will need to be well prepared to embrace person-centered approaches to programs and services (McFarland & Wehbe-Alamah, 2019; Tam, 2014). This group includes older adults who reside in their own homes and those in various housing arrangements. When older adults and their families decide on aging and long-term care services, finding person-centered programs that reflect the needs and preferences of older adults and their family caregivers can impact successful aging (Hollinger-Smith, 2016; Koehn et al., 2016; Kozar-Westman et al., 2013; Perkinson & Solimeo, 2013). Understanding family member caregivers' thoughts and impressions is vital for promoting successful aging.

Along with the financial, political, and social aspects of an older adult's life, there are cultural perspectives to understand, especially as this population becomes more culturally diverse (CDC, 2013; Li & Cai, 2014; Markides & Rote, 2014; Melvin et al., 2014; Pollard & Scommegna, 2013). Diversity constitutes racial and ethnic groups including African Americans, Mexican Americans, Japanese Americans, and other non-White groups (Rowe et al., 2016). A broad spectrum of cultural backgrounds will represent a significant portion of this population (Dauvrin & Lorant, 2015; Waites & Onolemhemhen, 2014). Professionals and practitioners must understand and provide comprehensive, person-centered services to address the needs of the growing diverse population of older adults and their families.

Researchers have explored older adult populations, but most focused on older European Americans and their family caregivers. With limited research on African American older adults and their family member caregivers, it can be difficult for aging services professionals, human services practitioners, and other service providers to administer comprehensive programs (Douglas et al., 2014; Foronda et al., 2016; Hollinger-Smith, 2016; Waites & Onolemhemhen, 2014). Girling and Morgan (2014), Moreno et al. (2015), and Pollard and Scommegna (2013) reported on the older African American population in general. However, specific information on the experiences of older African American women and their family member caregivers is still insufficient.

Understanding the aging diversity among older African American women is relevant because senior women, in general, are outliving men (Administration for Community Living, 2019). Older women appear to benefit from medical advancements and treatments more than men due to longer lifespans (Beard & Bloom, 2015; CDC, 2013). Despite their longevity, older African American women experience chronic diseases and other conditions more often than their older European American women counterparts (Melvin et al., 2014; Ng et al., 2014; Pollard & Scommegna, 2013). With the prevalence of chronic diseases among older African American women, transitioning from private homes to skilled nursing settings may be needed to monitor these conditions (Freedman & Spillman, 2014; Pollard & Scommegna, 2013), but with oversight and other interventions, moving to a skilled nursing facility may not be necessary. Instead, older adults and their family members may decide to move to a setting that provides support and nonmedical services, like assisted living.

In recent years, assisted living has become an alternative to nursing facilities or homes for older adults (Li & Cai, 2014), primarily when managing chronic diseases is the reason for transferring to these facilities (Grabowski et al., 2012; Koehn et al., 2016). As the U.S. population continues to become more diverse, especially in settings like assisted living, cultural aspects must be recognized and incorporated to serve the needs of older Americans and the family caregivers (American Geriatrics Society Ethnogeriatrics Committee, 2016; Koehn et al., 2016; Perkinson & Solimeo, 2013). It is essential to address social, economic, health-related, and cultural needs, and engaging family members can promote better adjustments for older adults (Moreno et al., 2015; Ng et al., 2014; Pollard & Scommegna, 2013). Therefore, acknowledging social, economic, health, and cultural needs may impact older adults' well-being and their family member caregivers.

Problem Statement

The problem is that there is not a clear framework that addresses how family members interpret and support the needs of African American women transitioning into assisted living. There is limited research specifically on the lived experiences of family members of older African American women, suggesting a need for developing a deeper understanding of how family members perceive their loved one's transition to these facilities. Researchers have mainly explored the experiences, attitudes, and perceptions of older European American women and their family members who transition into long-term care settings like assisted living (Hernandez, 2012; Mulry, 2012; Porter & James, 2016). Researchers have also investigated elder care programs that support ethnic

populations and their family caregivers. I did not find a transition framework reflecting the assisted living transition impressions of family member caregivers of older African American women in existing literature such as Hernandez (2012), Moreno et al. (2015), Ortman et al. (2014), Park et al. (2013), and Weeks et al. (2012).

Older African American women are perceived to have specific needs related to cultural, social, and health care aspects. These assumptions may result from cultural norms, family expectations, and other factors that shape their experiences as African American women. Hernandez (2012) stated that cultural competency is essential in aging services settings such as assisted living. The need to address cultural competence in conjunction with older African American women's social and health needs must be recognized by family caregivers and professionals. From an organizational perspective, developing and encouraging access to organizational programs and services should not be neglected or overlooked by professionals and leaders responsible for providing comprehensive services.

Gaining insights into family member caregivers' thoughts and opinions on the assisted living transition may help to frame older African American women's cultural, social, and health needs to avoid neglect and promote a resident-centered focus in assisted living. Band-Winterstein (2015) stated that neglect is a form of elder abuse that results in the intentional or unintentional denial of programs and services. Because family member caregivers can play a role in transitions into aging services settings, their interpretations of these transitions can encourage change so that these women do not experience social isolation, depression, and physical decline (Kozar-Westman et al.,

2013; Miyawaki, 2015; Rasquinha, 2013). In the 20 databases I searched, I found no scholarly literature addressing the transition perceptions and experiences of older African American women's family member caregivers.

Traditionally, older African Americans have lived with family members in their own homes or relatives' homes (Administration for Community Living, 2019; Li & Carter, 2017). These older adults believe that family members' presence and the familiarity of being in their own homes provide comfort and support as they age in place (Kelly, 2012; Sheridan et al., 2014). However, because of the declines that may occur as part of the aging process, chronic disease, cognitive impairment, and the increased caregiving demands experienced by family caregivers and the decrease of informal caregivers in the future, older African Americans may transition into aging services facilities instead (Hernandez, 2012; Weeks et al., 2012).

Hollis-Sawyer (2017) reported that the number of women 55 years of age and older would increase to 26,000,000 in the United States by 2050. This increase reflects the need to understand the aging female population's experiences to support their needs (Hooyman, 2018). Generally, studies on women's life experiences are limited, which is especially true for older African American women. There appears to be an assumption that all older women's life experiences are the same, along with the family member caregivers' experiences. The aging experience can be different for older African American women because of their life experiences, cultural factors, social norms, family structure, and other beliefs. Therefore, the limited studies on this population's life experiences and exploring family member caregivers' opinions are meaningful.

The present study reflected family members' impressions that may be used to shape a transition model that help older African American women adjust in assisted living facilities. Assisted living professionals and other practitioners working in the field can benefit from the perspectives of family member caregivers of older African American women. These caregivers, because of their active participation in the care of their older loved ones, can share insights on their experiences to contribute to the development of person-centered programs and services that can support older adults and family members alike (Carroll & Qualls, 2014; Howie et al., 2014).

Heid et al. (2016) described how family caregivers' influence and decisionmaking responsibilities become apparent when older loved ones are more dependent. The
researchers also explored the family care context, emphasizing the importance of input
from family member caregivers and the older adult when making decisions and
responding to care preferences and needs. Heid et al. recognized that even with
collaboration between family caregivers and older adults, conflicts can arise when there
are differences in care goals and expectations between the two parties (p. 49). In the
present study, I explored family member caregivers' interpretations and impressions of
the transition experiences of their older female African American family members. The
data obtained may contribute to developing an assisted living transition framework that
can benefit older adults and family member caregivers during these times of change and
adjustment.

Purpose of the Study

Exploring family member caregivers' interpretations and impressions of the transition experiences of their older female African American family members, 75–95 years of age, was the purpose of this study. I selected a multiple case study exploration with these women's family members, all of whom helped facilitate their family members' moves to assisted living facilities. I conducted semistructured interviews and asked openended questions to better understand family caregivers' perspectives of their family members' moves to assisted living and their loved ones' adjustments to these facilities. The inclusion criteria for study participation were that the family member initiated, coordinated, or physically moved the older African American woman into the assisted living facilities. Additionally, the family member caregiver was not required to have power of attorney or other legal oversight of the older woman.

Central Research Question and Subquestions

Family member caregivers' perceptions as they transitioned older African

American women into assisted living facilities were addressed in this study. I explored
the circumstances leading to the transition of older African American women into these
facilities, the challenges faced during these transitions, and suggestions from family
caregivers for programs and services that may help to inform a transition framework to
better support the adjustment of older African American women and their family member
caregivers. I developed the following central research question and subquestions to guide
this investigation:

Central research question: What are the family member caregivers' experiences and perceptions about the assisted living transitions of older African American women?

Subquestion 1: What do the family members understand to be the events and circumstances leading up to the older African American woman's transition into an assisted living facility?

Subquestion 2: What are the family member caregivers' thoughts about the challenges older African American women face when transitioning to assisted living facilities?

Subquestion 3: What are the family member caregivers' thoughts about programs and services that could be offered to older African American women to enhance the transition and adjustment into assisted living facilities?

Theoretical Framework

The study's theoretical framework reflected feminist theory, specifically, Black feminist theory. Turner and Maschi (2015) described feminist theory as an approach to understanding social inequality related to women's status. García (2020) defined Black feminism as a subgenre of feminist philosophy and social theory that focuses on African American women's life experiences in the United States. Black feminism developed from the women's rights efforts of the mid-19th century and became prominent during the Black Power movement of the 1960s and 1970s (García, 2020). Additionally, Black feminism reflects the need to understand Black women's position in society and dispel the assumption that because of gender, White and Black women have the same lived experiences (S. Smith, 2013). This theoretical framework was relevant for this study

because I evaluated the experiences from a Black feminist perspective by interviewing family member caregivers of African American women 75–95 years of age.

Evans et al. (2018) and Lahaie et al. (2012) suggested that with the anticipated growth and diversity in the aging population, health and human services professionals must acknowledge that family member caregivers can be a vital part of the care and quality of life of their older loved ones. Therefore, collaboration will be necessary (Mello et al., 2017; Wolff, Feder, et al., 2016). Feinberg and Levine (2015) stated that providing care for older loved ones has become more complicated for caregivers due to increased life expectancies, the prevalence of disability, and shifts in family structure and dynamics. Those who accept responsibility as informal caregivers include various people, but women are often the primary caregivers (Evans et al., 2018; Lahaie et al., 2012; Wolff, Feder, et al., 2016).

According to the U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics (2019), 56% of family member caregivers are women. Along with providing care to their older loved ones, female caregivers may be married, rearing children, and working full time (Feinberg & Levine, 2015; Suh, 2016). Suh (2016) described these caregivers as the "sandwich generation" because they care for children and older adults and manage their personal lives. Despite the positive impact family caregivers can have on their loved ones' lives, juggling these priorities can be stressful for the caregiver (Longacre et al., 2016; Paulson & Bassett, 2016; Roth et al., 2015). The stress is typically experienced when coordinating multiple tasks for their older loved ones such as running errands, managing finances, and personal care-related activities. Family caregivers are also involved in decisions to move to a

senior living facility when the older adult can no longer live at home (O'Hora & Roberto, 2018; Wolff, Feder, et al., 2016). Informal family caregiver duties may be on a part-time or full-time basis. Therefore, family member caregivers' perceptions and experiences can provide valuable details about assisted living transitions.

Regardless of culture or ethnicity, the caregiver's role often falls on the shoulders of the women in the family (Grigoryeva, 2017). Santoro et al. (2016) and Pharr et al. (2014) explored the influence of culture and ethnicity on filial responsibility and care of older loved ones. Filial duty is the sense of obligation an adult child or friend feels about providing care and support for a disabled or older adult (Paulson & Barrett, 2016; Santoro et al. 2016). Pharr et al. found a significant emphasis on filial responsibility in African Americans and other ethnic cultures. Cultural norms and expectations in the family structure impress the importance of taking care of one's own. Powers and Whitlatch (2016) reported that African American adult daughters feel a great sense of responsibility to care for their older or disabled family members. Filial duty emphasizes the expectation that the daughter must provide the necessary support as their loved one grows older (Wells-Wilbon & Simpson, 2009). Epps et al. (2019) and Sheridan et al. (2014) explained the intensity of the African American caregiver's experience by reporting that these individuals are more likely to perform more hours of caregiving, use limited formal care services, work full time, and be economically disadvantaged compared to White family member caregivers.

African American family caregivers are often highly involved in the support and care of their loved ones. As such, the family caregiver's influence on the health and well-

being of their loved ones can be considerable. The family member caregiver's influence is apparent when an older person requires more care, experiences a decline, or safety concerns arise. Decisions may be difficult but necessary to promote and maintain quality of life or adhere to end-of-life wishes or directives (Conner & Chase, 2015; Day et al., 2014; Reid & Chappell, 2017), especially when a transition is necessary. Feinberg and Levine (2015) discussed the fundamental principles for family caregivers, including a person-centered approach for older adults and a family-centric focus to engage the family and other informal caregivers in the caregiving process. The family-centric approach is noteworthy, especially since family engagement and involvement are parts of the African American family structure (Pharr et al., 2014).

I used a theoretical foundation in the present study that emphasized Black feminist theory as I sought insights into the assisted living transitions of older African American women through the impressions of their family member caregivers. As the foundational theory for Black feminism, I acknowledged that feminist theory intends to examine and understand all women (Lorraine Radtke, 2017; Pandey, 2016). Rousseau (2013) also acknowledged the importance of traditional feminist theory but stated that the feminist framework fails to recognize women of diverse cultures and backgrounds.

To recognize and elevate Black women's status, Black feminist theory specifically focuses on African American women (P. H. Collins, 2002; Rousseau, 2013; Wells-Wilbon & Simpson, 2009). Black feminist theory is a construct that examines the lived experiences of African American women from a social equality and empowerment perspective (P. H. Collins, 2002). Belgrave and Abrams (2016) and Moore and

Ghilarducci (2018) explored the aging experiences of older African American women and acknowledged differences between their experiences and those of European American women due to race and cultural expression. King (2016) and Belgrave and Abrams specifically addressed the significance of connecting African American women's lived experiences by examining culture and gender to improve life satisfaction.

P. H. Collins (2002) analyzed Black feminism and emphasized the significance of understanding the lived experiences from the African American woman's standpoint.

According to P. H. Collins, despite inequalities and discrimination due to African American women's race and gender, capturing this group's experiences is valuable. It can provide a framework for change when developing programs, services, and other social institutions that support African American women. Black feminist theory expressed and examined by P. H. Collins related to the study's approach and research questions because of my inquiry into the assisted living transitions of older African American women expressed by their family member caregivers. I used data captured through family member caregivers' perceptions to examine these transitions. This inquiry resulted in data on the family member caregivers' lived experiences and provided insights into aging, gender, and race, which can contribute to a transition model that can benefit adjustment for older adults and their family caregivers.

Nature of the Study

The study was a multiple case study, reflecting the perspectives of family member caregivers who helped to transition their older African American female loved ones into assisted living facilities. According to Sheridan et al. (2014), family members' roles as

informal caregivers can be rewarding but also demanding regardless of whether the older adult lives at home or in a residential aging services setting. Therefore, the decision to move into a senior living facility also impacts the family member caregiver. This individual facilitates various aspects of the move (Weeks et al., 2012; Zimmerman et al., 2013). The family member is aware of the older person's physical, cognitive, and cultural status. Exploring the transitions of older African American women into assisted living settings through family member caregivers' vantage points provided critical details. Study outcomes may help to develop a transition framework that reflects these experiences and perceptions, providing relevant facts about the transition to promote successful adjustment.

Definitions

The following terms were used in this study:

Activities of daily living: Activities of daily living are events of everyday life such as self-care tasks and activities conducted regularly (Freedman & Spillman, 2014).

Advanced directives: Advanced directives are oral or written guidance from an individual to communicate medical needs if the individual is unable to express his or her wishes (O'Sullivan et al., 2015; Pedraza et al., 2016).

Alternative decision-maker: These decision-makers do not require legal authority or appointment to make decisions for a person that lacks decisional capacity (DeMartino et al., 2017)

Assisted living: Assisted living is a housing option between independent living and skilled nursing care services (Bagwell, 2019; Grabowski et al., 2012; Lord et al., 2018).

Capacity: Capacity refers to the ability to maintain oneself and one's quality of life from physical, social, and emotional standpoints (Koehn et al., 2016; Mendes, 2013).

Culture: Culture refers to the customs, traditions, and ethnic group identities that influence an individual's experiences, preferences, and life activities (American Geriatrics Society Ethnogeriatrics Committee, 2016; Douglas et al., 2014).

Cultural competence: Cultural competence encompasses cultural awareness, understanding cultural differences, and cross-cultural understanding (Alizadeh & Chavan, 2016; Martyr et al., 2018; Henderson et al., 2018; Sorensen, Jervelund, et al., 2017).

Decline: Decline refers to adverse changes related to the aging process or decreasing physical, social, cultural, and emotional abilities (Perkins et al., 2013).

Diversity: Diversity is differences in ethnic and cultural aspects (Diwan, 2017; Markides & Rote, 2014; Park et al., 2013).

Independence: Independence is the ability to be self-sufficient and capable of managing daily living (Lowry et al., 2012).

Long-term care: Long-term care includes programs and services provided for disabled and older persons. These programs reflect a broad range of services, from home and community-based services to skilled nursing care (CDC, 2013; Sloane et al., 2014; Tinker et al., 2013).

Power of attorney: Powers of attorney are documents designated to support and protect an individual's financial and health care wishes and rights (de Heer et al., 2017, Klein & Coogle, 2015; Luck et al., 2017).

Primary caregiver: A primary caregiver is a family member, friend, or other whose direct duties and responsibilities are to care for an older, disabled, or incapacitated individual (Kucmanski et al., 2016).

Secondary caregiver: A secondary caregiver is a family member, friend, or other who has similar duties and responsibilities as the primary caregiver but does not have direct authority to make decisions (Kucmanski et al., 2016).

Silver tsunami: The term silver tsunami is used to describe the aging population (S. D. Johnson, 2018; Mitchell, 2014).

Supported decision-making: Supported decision-making is an approach to health care decision-making that emphasizes patient participation in the process to increase health and well-being (Gray et al., 2019; Shay & Lafata, 2015).

Assumptions

An assumption in this study was that the semistructured interviews with family member caregivers captured their impressions of the assisted living transition process. Kallio et al. (2016) stated that the semistructured interview approach is flexible and mutual between the researcher and the participant. This mutual exchange encouraged family member caregivers to answer questions honestly and openly and share their perceptions and experiences. The format was especially crucial for this study because family members, due to cultural expectations, norms, and family obligations, typically

accept the responsibility of care and decision-making for their older loved ones (Paulson & Bassett, 2016).

As the caregivers, these family members can also support and provide oversight to encourage life quality. Nguyen et al. (2016), Fetherstonhaugh et al. (2017), and Penning and Wu (2015) acknowledged that the caregiver's role is difficult, especially when older adults experience illness, cognitive decline, and disability. In these situations, family member caregivers may decide to transition their loves ones to senior facilities and may also assist these moves (O'Hora & Roberto, 2018). O'Hora and Roberto (2018) and Koenig et al. (2013) explored the adjustment process of the older adult and the family member who is actively engaged in the transition process. The burden of responsibility related to care, decision-making, and transitioning into a senior facility can bring about feelings of stress, guilt, anxiety, and frustration (Koenig et al., 2013; O'Hora & Roberto, 2018). The caregiving experience's emotional toll on family members was considered in this study. I took a reflective approach by using the interview guide and asking probing questions (see Arsel, 2017) to capture relevant information about these transitions as experienced by the family members. Selecting family members for this study was appropriate because they typically initiate, coordinate, or move older family members into senior facilities. The research selection criteria did not require that the family member caregiver had their loved one's permission to participate in the study.

Scope and Delimitations

This qualitative study was limited to family members of African American women 75–95 years of age who transitioned into assisted living facilities. As the study's

theoretical framework, Black feminist theory expresses that Black women's lived experiences are essential to explore and understand (P. H. Collins, 2002; Rousseau, 2013). Exploring the transitions of older African American women into assisted living through their family members' perspectives provided insights that reflected the African American caregiver's lived experiences as they tackled the aspects of caring for an older adult during this transition time and may help to inform an assisted living transition framework. Increased growth, diversity, and longevity in the aging population spotlight the family caregivers' role. Levine (2016) and Wolff, Spillman, et al. (2016) reported that family caregivers' work is often unrecognized despite their significant contributions to their loved ones' well-being and care. Insights into the caregiver's experience were relevant to this study because of the cultural expectations and filial responsibility that are a part of the African American family structure. These family members are typically adult children (e.g., adult daughters, daughters-in-law, or other family members). African American family caregivers have reported some reduced stress and burden, but this may be due to the African American family dynamic and structure (Namkung et al., 2016; Pharr et al., 2014).

In this study, I captured the family members' evaluation of the transition. I used an interview guide and conducted semistructured interviews to ask four family members open-ended questions that captured themes reflecting their perspectives on transitioning older African American women into assisted living facilities. Data contributed to suggestions for a transition framework to provide more resident- and family-centered approaches to services offered in assisted living settings.

The sample was delimited to family members who helped African American women 75–95 years of age move into an assisted living facility. The time frame of the move having occurred within 2 years of this study was selected as an adequate adjustment period to examine these transitions. This time frame provided ample opportunity for the family members to form initial thoughts about the older African American women's adjustment to assisted living facilities.

As previously noted, I interviewed four family members to capture their attitudes about these transitions. This sample size was appropriate for a multiple case study inquiry (see Yin, 2017). Malterud et al. (2016) identified five factors that can influence the strength of information gathered from study participants: (a) study aim, (b) the quality of the interview exchange, (c) the sample's specificity, (d) the theory, and (e) the analysis. With these factors in mind, the more information obtained, the fewer the participants needed. Since the study focused on exploring older African American women's transitions into assisted living facilities from the family member caregivers' point of view, the sample size of the four participants was manageable for capturing varied and similar perspectives (see Malterud et al., 2016). I further discuss the rationale for the smaller sample size in Chapter 3.

Limitations

The experiences and perceptions of family members of older African American women who relocated into assisted living facilities were explored in this study.

Semistructured interviews were conducted with family members who helped these women move to these facilities, not with the women themselves, as this group may be

considered vulnerable. Harmon (2018) defined vulnerable individuals as susceptible to physical, mental, or emotional mistreatment. Factors that influence vulnerability include gender, age, culture, race, disability, and socioeconomic status. Specifically, individuals who may be considered vulnerable are children, the poor, racial minorities, ethnic minorities, and older adults (Grabovschi et al., 2013; Harmon, 2018). Grabovschi et al. (2013) and M. T. Carney et al. (2016) suggested that multivulnerability factors may influence informed consent and decision-making capacity (see also Shivayogi, 2013). Considering the group's possible vulnerability justified using family members to explore these transitions.

Significance

This study's results may better inform practitioners about the experiences of older African American women as they transition into assisted living facilities. Understanding these transition experiences may help to structure a framework focused on social, cultural, and gender-related factors that may help acclimate women to assisted living. N. L. Fields et al. (2012) stated that transitions into senior care residential settings will increase as the population of older adults grows. Ortman et al. (2014) noted that the percentage of older adults in the United States would grow from 20.7% to 39.1% by 2050. The study outcomes may inform aging services professionals and practitioners who want to generate a framework to support older African American women and their family member caregivers, one that encourages independence, reduced declines, and aids in the adjustments in assisted living. The implications for positive social change are that the research results may prompt a more focused approach to developing and providing

services for family member caregivers and older African American women who transition into assisted living facilities.

Summary

Census data for the aging adult population reflect a significant increase by 2050 (Orman et al., 2014). To support this population, professionals in the field of aging will need to recognize, support, and implement programs and services that address the needs of diverse older adults, specifically older African American women and their family members who are primary caregivers (American Geriatrics Society Ethnogeriatrics Committee, 2016). Among the various programs, services, and housing options, assisted living facilities have become a popular alternative to skilled or nursing homes for older adults and their family member caregivers (Carroll & Qualls, 2014).

Limited focus on exploring the transition perceptions and experiences of family caregivers of African American women 75–95 years of age in existing research underscored the need for further research on this population. These women's transition experiences were explored through their family member caregivers' perspectives. The resulting data can be used to develop a framework to better assist families when the time comes to transition their loved ones to facilities outside the home.

Chapter 2 is a review and synthesis of research on transitioning into assisted living facilities, autonomy, independence, decision-making, family member caregivers' quality of life in assisted living, and diversity in assisted living. I present the literature review strategy, followed by a discussion of the study's theoretical framework. Findings from the literature review reflect concerns regarding successful aging, social isolation,

health expectation, and perceptions and cultural competence. The literature review justified the need for further research to examine family members' experiences and perceptions on transitioning African American women 75–95 years of age to assisted living facilities.

Chapter 2: Literature Review

Aging programs and services have expanded to meet the growing population of older adults. These programs and services encompass four areas: (a) home and community-based services, (b) independent living communities, (c) assisted living facilities, and (d) skilled nursing homes. Professionals in the field need to be aware and responsive to this population's evolving needs (Rowe et al., 2016; Zimmerman et al., 2014). This support may come through developing comprehensive service plans that promote greater well-being, quality of life, and successful aging. Achieving positive outcomes in U. S. health care systems is essential as older adults become a large segment of the population (Baldwin et al., 2014; Kozar-Westman et al., 2013; Rowe et al., 2016). The literature review for this study included research on assisted living facilities as a housing option for older adults. The topics included transitioning into assisted living, autonomy, independence, decision-making, the family member caregiver role, quality of life, and diversity in assisted living. Also addressed were topics including successful aging, social isolation, health perceptions, and cultural competence.

Aging services provide older adults options to live in a home setting or reside in a senior living facility (Freeman et al., 2017; Perry et al., 2014). Among these options, assisted living facilities have become increasingly popular for older adults and their families. These facilities, which have grown in number since the early 1990s, are an alternative to skilled nursing facilities (Kemp et al., 2016; Morgan et al., 2014; Sloan et

al., 2014). Their designs provide a residential setting that encourages autonomy and self-management (Bischoff et al., 2017).

The assisted living facility housing model was designed to embrace a person-centered approach to services for older adults. The model can promote well-being and successful aging (Bischoff et al. 2017; Ramdin et al., 2018). There is limited research on the experience of diverse older adults and their family caregivers that addresses the assisted living transition. Many senior women have been marginalized due to ageist and sexist attitudes that have historically been aspects of societal structure (Chrisler et al., 2016; Hudson & Gonyea, 2018). For older African American women, the burden of racism, ageism, and sexism has further marginalized their standing as women and has limited research on their experiences.

In 2016, the number of women over 65 years of age, including African American women and others from culturally diverse backgrounds, was 27,500,000 compared to 21,800,000 men (Administration for Community Living, 2019; Hudson & Gonyea, 2018). Family members often take on care for these women as they age (Hudson & Gonyea, 2018). Coleman and Roman (2015) emphasized the tremendous responsibility that family caregivers face when caring for older loved ones, which justifies the need to explore and understand the family members' perspectives on transitions to assisted living facilities.

In the present study, I explored the experiences, beliefs, and opinions of family member caregivers of older African American women. Researchers have examined the transition experiences of older women and their family member caregivers but have mostly focused on older White American women and their family caregivers' perspectives and experiences. Therefore, it was necessary to examine the assisted living transition experiences of older African American women, from the family member caregivers' position, to better understand their views on the move and their loved ones' adjustments to assisted living. The study results may be used to structure a transition framework that promotes successful transitions for this diverse group of older adults and their family members.

Literature Search Strategy

Identifying literature to review began with developing a list of central topics, which resulted in 191 peer-reviewed articles on these topics. These topics included older adults, the aging population, older Black women, older African American women, assisted living, nursing homes, informal caregivers, family caregivers, adult child caregivers, senior housing, and the move into senior living. I primarily used Google Scholar to research these topics. To expand the search, scholarly literature was also obtained from SocINDEX, PsycARTICLES, PsycINFO, ERIC, ProQuest, and MEDLINE. The search results provided literature on the following topics: older adults, aging population, assisted living, nursing homes, senior housing, long-term care, and aging services. Additional results included relocation, transfer to long term care, retirement living, decisions about assisted living, and moving into senior housing. Among the literature, there was limited scholarly material on older African American women, Black women's experiences, African American family caregivers' perspectives, transition experiences, and Black families and assisted living. Specifically, searching for literature

on these topics resulted in statistical, demographic, and general information. The data focused on cultural norms of the African American family structure, family expectations about providing care for a diverse group of older adults, caregiver stress, chronic disease, health care disparities, and other social factors impacting these women. I found few sources that reflected family member caregivers' perspectives on older African American women and assisted living.

Theoretical Foundation

Feminist theory—specifically, Black feminism—was the theoretical foundation for this study. Feminist theory reflects the beliefs and political, economic, and social constructs that established women's rights and shaped women's status (Turner & Maschi, 2015). Feminist writers like Patricia Leavy and Anne Harris contributed to feminist theory through their focus on contemporary feminist research that promotes advocacy, empowerment, and inclusion. Fitzsimmons (2018) described *Contemporary Feminist Research from Theory to Practice*, by Leavy and Harris, as a "herstory" of feminism, feminist approaches to research, and the responsibilities of feminist researchers. The authors focused on the Western perspective of feminism or the feminist perspective, provided recommendations for feminist research, and described how to become a feminist researcher to continue the focus on social change for women in society (Fitzsimmons, 2018).

Feminist theory is rooted in the women's suffrage movement of the 19th century, which focused on establishing women's rights and privileges in society (Rampton, 2015). The campaign promoted social change for women, which was manifested by four phases

or waves (Rampton, 2015). Anderson (2015) and Rampton (2015) stated that the feminist movement's first wave was between the 19th and early 20th centuries in the Western world. The first wave has been described as a period of social change and advocacy to enhance women's status by achieving voting and marriage rights and other opportunities that would confirm women's role as contributing members of society. Early feminists like Susan B. Anthony, Elizabeth Cady Stanton, and Lucretia Mott contributed to the feminist movement through their involvement in the Women's Rights Convention in 1848.

From the 1960s to the 1990s, the second wave further broadened feminist efforts by addressing social inequalities in the workplace, family structure, and civil rights. Specifically, civil rights efforts stimulated action supporting the investigation of the social disparities impacting Black women (Garcia, 2020). Therefore, to expand on feminist theory, Black feminist theory developed, which holds that Black women's lived experiences are essential and differ from that of White women (Lindsay-Dennis, 2015).

Rampton (2015) stated that despite the accomplishments in the feminist movement's first two waves, the third and fourth waves, from the 1990s to the present day, questioned the first and second waves' ideals. The third and fourth waves instead embraced a broader definition of feminism. This perspective addressed women's social issues and a universal approach for examining social inequalities.

In selecting feminist theory as the theoretical foundation for this study, it was appropriate to expand the approach by incorporating Black feminism. Black feminist theory is a framework that explores the lived experiences and self-identification of Black

women (P. H. Collins, 2002). This theory embraces the ideas, concepts, and beliefs of the feminist theory of gender equality, specifically for African American women's status (P.H. Collins, 2002). Social factors that shape Black feminism include gender, culture, and race. These collective aspects of gender and race acknowledge that Black feminist theory represents a broader social inequality context (P. H. Collins, 2002).

The theory of Black feminism was relevant for exploring the experiences of older African American women given the present study's focus on the lived experiences of African American women during this stage of life. Cooper (2015) suggested that because there are assumptions that Black feminist research does not have the rigor and importance of the broader feminist concept, ongoing studies focused on Black feminism can be beneficial to exploring and understanding the lived experience of this group and their family members. P. H. Collins (2002) and Lindsay-Dennis (2015) both discussed the need for research on African American women's experiences. Both agreed that the analysis should include a review of culture, race, and gender. To continue the discussion of P. H. Collins and her studies on Black women's marginalization, Lindsay-Dennis examined the issue by exploring young African American women's lived experiences. She noted previous calls for more culture- and gender-based studies on the attitudes, conditions, and expectations of young Black women and stated that research on African American young women's experiences had been one dimensional, with minor consideration to gender and cultural aspects that impact these women's experiences. She further reflected on negative perceptions of African American girls, including their being challenging, aggressive, uneducated, and promiscuous.

Cooper (2015) and Jones (2015) also reviewed the Black feminist framework.

Cooper emphasized the importance of refining Black feminism to support ongoing political and theoretical possibilities in Black women's lives (p. 19) and stated that tending to these possibilities can advance Black feminism not just to be an extension or expansion of the broader feminist framework but also a framework that explicitly defines the lived experiences of Black women. Similarly, Jones discussed the possibilities of Black feminist perspectives related to social work practice and services in the mental health field. She stated that Black feminism combines gender, culture, race holistically, and ethnicity to represent Black women's lived experiences (p. 246), but, despite the importance of recognizing these factors, comprehensive mental health support, treatment plans, and interventions were still lacking. Jones further reported that mental health support, treatment plans, and interventions for women have improved overall, but there are still opportunities to integrate culturally relevant mental health services.

Statistical data on older African American women present information on health status, prevalence of chronic diseases, and disability (Administration for Community Living, 2019; Baker et al., 2015; Miyawaki, 2015; Moreno et al., 2015). Although significant, the information is limited, therefore not adequately representing older African American women's lived experiences. Ashley (2014) and Lindsay-Dennis (2015) contributed to the research on Black women by discussing the negative stereotypes, social perceptions, and cultural misunderstanding of these women's experiences, which can compromise a comprehensive approach to treatment, services, and programs that may enhance their quality of life. Ashley specifically discussed Black women's negative

stereotypes and unique experiences in American society; Lindsay-Dennis had a similar focus by addressing African American girls' lived experiences. Based on these findings, exploring older African American women's lived experiences was necessary for providing a fuller understanding of these women and their needs. I discuss the transition into assisted living next.

Transitioning to Assisted Living

Historically, skilled nursing facilities, also known as nursing homes, defined the model of aging services and long-term care (Institute of Medicine, 1986). In recent years, an umbrella of services has evolved: home- and community-based services, independent living and assisted living communities, and long- and short-term care nursing facilities or homes (Bagwell, 2019; Sanford et al., 2015). The industry has shifted to accommodate specialized care in order to address specific health needs such as dementia and similar disorders and offer affordable housing programs that include financial assistance for older adults (Ortman et al., 2014; West et al., 2014). Ortman et al. (2014) stated that with the steady growth in the older adult population, increased service availability is essential for meeting changing demands, needs, and expectations.

Increases in the older adult population will be significant by 2050. The population of adults 65 years of age and older will be approximately 83,700,000, reflecting a doubling in size from current statistics (Ortman et al., 2014). Therefore, the evolution of aging services is not only timely but necessary to support social, economic, and care needs (Viveiros & Brennan, 2014). In addition to addressing these factors, professionals must consider older adults' experiences and preferences, especially when moving to a

senior living community is necessary (Gilbert et al., 2015; Perry et al., 2014). With home- and community-based services, independent living communities, assisted living facilities, and nursing homes, the options for older adults and their families are plentiful (Rowe et al., 2016; Viveiros & Brennan, 2014). Among these housing options, assisted living has become preferred due to supportive programs, services, and amenities in these settings (Bagwell, 2019).

When chronic diseases, disabilities, and other factors become issues, remaining at home and with family may become challenging and arduous (Administration for Community Living, 2019; Markides & Rote, 2014; Melvin et al., 2014; Pollard & Scommegna, 2013). Assisted living gives older adults an option other than skilled nursing facilities or nursing homes because it encourages independence and privacy (Abrahamson et al., 2013; Kisling-Rundgren et al., 2016). These facilities provide support services for older adults who cannot live alone but do not need the medical care provided in skilled nursing facilities or nursing homes. Kisling-Rundgren et al. (2016) described assisted living as a housing model that is residential rather than institutional. To complement the residential setting, older adults can receive support services that include social programs and activities and assistance with activities of daily living such as bathing and dressing and medication reminders, monitoring, and administration along with dining and housekeeping services in a private apartment in the facility (Bagwell, 2019; Kisling-Rundgren et al., 2016).

Assisted living facilities offer older adults and their family member caregivers noninstitutional and supportive environments that encourage independence (Sanford et.

al., 2015). Assisted living housing models can differ depending on the state regulations and guidelines (Gimm et al, 2014). Variations in the services are also necessary to meet older adults' needs reflecting mild to moderate physical disabilities, cognitive impairment, and chronic medical conditions. The assisted living facility model has shifted to meet these needs as more older adults select this housing alternative (Carder et al., 2015).

Transitioning to assisted living facilities often occurs when older adults need more support services, especially when they are in physical decline and unable to manage health-related conditions, they are in social isolation, or they have inadequate caregiver support. These factors are common experiences that can precipitate a move to assisted living. Sociodemographic variables related to financial conditions can be significant factors in delaying or preventing a move to assisted living facilities (Gilbert et al., 2015; Weeks et al., 2012). The inability to afford the programs and services provided in an assisted living facility is common for older adults who remain at home. Specific preferences, cultural norms, and other factors also influence older adults' decisions to stay in their own homes or with family or loved ones (Gilbert et al., 2015; Lee et al., 2013; Perry et al., 2014).

Some key concepts of transitioning into assisted living are autonomy and independence, decision-making, and the family member caregiver role. I discuss each idea in detail next. I then review assisted living literature, diversity in assisted living, successful aging, health perceptions, and cultural competence.

Autonomy and Independence

Autonomy and control of one's life are factors in adjusting to transition or change (Koehn et al., 2016; Pirhonen & Pietilä, 2016b). Autonomy involves making decisions to retain personal identity and independence (Hedman et al., 2017). Older adults settling in or adjusting to senior housing may experience anxiety, frustration, and fear because of perceived loss of autonomy. Hillcoat-Nallétamby (2014) and Pirhonen and Pietilä (2015) explored autonomy and independence related to past personhood and continuity of oneself in enhancing the aging experience. Maintaining or establishing autonomy and independence can help with adjustment when moving into an assisted care facility. Autonomy and independence are interchangeable because of the emphasis on an individual's ability to self-direct life activities (Hillcoat-Nallétamby, 2014).

In the assisted living model of care, older adults are encouraged to self-direct efforts to maintain dignity, privacy, and choice (Kisling et al., 2015). Training for assisted living staff members focuses on residents' needs and comfort, but despite the focus on self-direction or autonomy and independence, staff may not realize that providing extensive assistance may result in dependence. Staff appear to understand the importance of autonomy and independence but tend to focus on physical care needs rather than the whole person (American Geriatrics Society Ethnogeriatrics Committee, 2016). Scales et al. (2019) stated that "person-centered care is a holistic, biopsychosocial approach that takes into account each individual's values, preferences, goals, and abilities" (p. 2). Scales et al. used the adaptive leadership framework to guide the discussion of person-centered care but acknowledged that there are challenges because

the practice of person-centered care must be embraced by the older adult, family members, and human services professionals. Dellenborg et al. (2019) supports Scales et al. discussion of person-centered care in acknowledging that implementation of person-centered care can be challenging because it must include cultural, structural and organizational adjustments to provide comprehensive person-centered care. Cultural competence specifically includes acknowledging older adults' cultural perceptions, experiences, and attitudes in conjunction with their care needs (Eaton et al., 2015; Foronda et al., 2016). Quality of care and successful aging are enhanced by embracing the whole-person or person-centered approach and including cultural perspectives (Administration for Community Living, 2015).

Decision-Making

Decision-making capacity reflects an individual's ability to self-direct. Decision-making approaches used in this process include establishing power of attorney, supported decision-making, and alternative decision-making. These approaches are used when people are unable to express their wishes or preferences when faced with health challenges (Administration for Community Living, 2019; DeMartino et al., 2017; Gray et al., 2019; van de Pol et al., 2017; Watson, 2017).

A power of attorney is a legal directive that allows an individual to make decisions in advance regarding medical treatment and care. The directive designates a family member, friend, or others to decide on behalf of an individual if he or she becomes incapacitated. Power of attorney can be medical, financial, or both (de Heer et al., 2017; Klein & Coogle, 2015; Luck et al., 2017).

Supported decision-making and a power of attorney are similar in that they are alternatives to legal guardianship (Browning et al., 2014). The supported decision-making approach emphasizes an individual's ability to make decisions with support from family members or others (Flynn & Arstein-Kerslake, 2014). Supported decision-making can empower individuals to direct their life activities, resulting in increased quality of life and control (Blanck & Martinis, 2015). This approach provides individuals a level of autonomy but with support from family members, caregivers, and others on decisions that impact their life activities. Browning et al. (2014) and T. Carney (2014) stated that supported decision-making is broad, not legally binding, and values the importance of autonomy, choice, and preference that everyone is entitled to exercise. The supported process's basis is to help people maintain and achieve independence in decision-making but still receive support and direction from family members, friends, and others.

The alternative decision-maker approach designates authority to another party for making decisions in case of incapacity. Compared to power of attorney and supported decision-making, this approach does not require a person with authority or appointment to make decisions on behalf of an individual (DeMartino et al., 2017). Because of variations in state laws and statutes, the alternative decision-maker designation may be restricted because of attributes that include the relationship to the individual, availability to provide care, and other circumstances related to the willingness of the individual to become the caregiver (DeMartino et. al., 2017). State-specific reports and rules on alternative decision-making can dictate someone's ability to take on a decision-maker's role. As such, this approach may not always be appropriate. With these limitations in the

alternative decision-making approach and the participant selection criteria, the model was not further addressed or explored in this study.

Hawley and Morris (2017) discussed national and international initiatives to engage racially and culturally diverse clients in supported or shared decision-making.

These initiatives can encourage better outcomes for these clients and their family member caregivers. Martinis et al. (2017) and Bunn et al. (2017) encouraged the supported decision-making approach for its focus on promoting self-direction and engaging family and others in the decision-making process. However, even with this approach's focus on client and family engagement, diverse clients may not be aware of this alternative due to variations or differences in service approaches for culturally diverse older adults.

(Hawley & Morris, 2017). This lack of awareness may be due to issues related to availability of information and resources, relationships with professionals, economics, and status (Hawley & Morris, 2017). Bunn et al. recommended interventions that professionals can use to encourage the supported-decision making approach, including thorough assessments to understand the needs and expectations of older adults.

Supported decision-making maintains a person's independence and autonomy by identifying the assistance needed from not only the older person but also the family member caregivers involved in the care (Holm et al., 2016; Kohn et al., 2012). Engaging family members in ongoing decision-making processes and providing person-centered resources can benefit older adults and their family members.

Family Member Caregivers

A family member caregiver is an adult child, spouse, or other relative who provides support and care to an older adult (Wolff, Feder, et al., 2016). These individuals may also be raising a family, managing a household, and working full time in addition to caring for the needs of an older loved one (Aazami et al., 2017; Li & Carter, 2017). The family caregiver's role can range from support services that include personal tasks, household chores, and running errands to supporting, managing, and directing the older adult's medical and financial needs (Redfoot et al., 2013).

Family caregivers' responsibilities are significant regardless of the older adult's living arrangement (Wolff, Feder, et al., 2016; Wolff et al., 2018). Therefore, the decision to move an older adult into a senior living community impacts the older adult and the family caregiver as he or she typically facilitates the transition (Wolff, Spillman et al., 2016; Zimmerman et al., 2013). For family caregivers, the responsibility of caring for an older adult relative plus managing their own lives can be a burden, especially when the older adult's physical, cognitive, or overall health decline are factors. Qualls (2016) and Wolff, Spillman, et al. (2016) provided similar perspectives on family caregiving by emphasizing the complex aspects related to the responsibility of caring for an older loved one. Researchers have stated that more attention should be placed on the family caregiver role, especially as the number of older adults continues to grow (Bauer & Sousa-Poza, 2015; Roth et al., 2015).

A possible shortage of available family caregivers is a concern in the wake of the growing population of older adults. Not living in the same area, smaller family sizes, and

working full time are factors that can affect the ability to address the needs of older loved ones and necessitate moving to a senior living facility (Wolff, Feder, et al., 2016; Wolff et al., 2018). The family members' role can be stressful and demanding. (W. L. Collins & Hawkins, 2016; Sheridan et al., 2014). The primary family caregiver takes on most caregiving responsibilities. The secondary caregiver may take on similar duties but does not have the same commitment as the primary family caregiver (Kucmanski et al., 2016; Martínez-Alcalá et al., 2018).

Martínez-Alcalá et al. (2018) discussed the critical need to develop support services or resources for direct family caregivers to assist in managing the caregiving role's many aspects. They recommended an online platform that provides virtual workshops, therapeutic assistance, and support networks for primary and secondary caregivers. Each option on the platform would be available 24 hr a day, 365 days a year, to ensure that resources are available for the family member caregiver as needed (Martínez-Alcalá et al., 2018). Kucmanski et al. (2016) discussed primary and secondary family caregiver roles when loved ones are diagnosed with Alzheimer's disease or memory impairment and found that these caregivers often do not devote enough attention to their own needs because of the arduous nature of attending to the daily demands of care for these family members. In summary, primary and secondary caregivers encounter challenges related to providing comfort, attending to their loved ones, and understanding the disease process (Kucmanski et al., 2016; Martínez-Alcalá et al., 2018). Managing these factors contributes to ongoing stress and anxiety as a family caregiver (Alpert & Womble, 2015).

Gilbert et al. (2015) and Holroyd-Leduc et al. (2016) explored the transition experiences of older adults and family caregivers' roles in the transition. In their study on relocating older adults from independent settings to assisted living, Gilbert et al. found that the older adults had better relocation experiences when they had control and autonomy in the transition. Assistance from family members also can result in a positive relocation experience (Gilbert et al., 2015). Holroyd-Leduc et al. addressed the decline or frailty of older adults and the impact on life quality and recommended collaboration between the older adults, family members, and facility staff to ensure comprehensive care plans and services. They suggested strategies for engaging family members in the care for of older loved ones by establishing a safe and comfortable health care setting, building trusting relationships between the family member, older adult, and human services providers, and ensuring a comprehensive assessment process to include the family member and encourage ongoing communication among all parties.

In African American cultures, the family member caregiver role is essential because of the cultural expectation of caring for loved ones into old age (Connor & Chase, 2014; Pharr et al., 2014). Pharr et al. (2014) discussed the "culture embeddedness" that can lead family members to be obligated to and expected to care for their older loved ones. Conner and Chase (2014) and Pharr et al. agreed that the role of the family caregiver is significant and important. Understanding the family member caregiver's impression of their loved one's transition into senior living facilities can support better transitions and adjustments and provide better quality of life in these facilities, discussed next.

Quality of Life in Assisted Living

Factors that may impact an older adult's quality of life during the transition into an assisted living facility include establishing and maintaining social relationships and maintaining one's identity, cultural experiences, and independence (Čanković et al., 2016). Maintaining quality of life during the aging process has sparked discussion, especially with increased longevity and the prevalence of chronic disease and conditions (Beard et al., 2016; World Health Organization, 2018). Quality of life can encompass different variables, including physical, social, and emotional factors that define individual well-being and satisfaction when growing older (World Health Organization, 2018). Aging's physical, social, and psychological aspects can make transitioning to senior living facilities more complicated. Aging services professionals must acknowledge the adjustment factors related to growing older and transitioning to senior living facilities and understand the cultural and gender-related factors that impact adjustment (Fernandez-Mayoralas et al., 2015).

Koehn et al. (2016) and Park et al. (2013) examined the quality of life of diverse older adults. Koehn et al. evaluated specific variables related to the quality of life, and Park et al. discussed the social relationships of diverse older adults. Park et al. suggested that achieving a quality of life and well-being in assisted living facilities acknowledged cultural values and experiences but encourages social relationships through interracial and interethnic connections among fellow residents staff in the assisted living facility. Koehn et al. studied quality of life in minority older adults by exploring the elements of attachment, establishing a meaningful purpose or role, enjoyment or life satisfaction, and

security and control residing in an assisted living facility and acknowledged the significance of incorporating older adults' cultural experiences in transitioning and adjusting to assisted living facilities.

Kozar-Westman et al. (2013) used the theoretical framework of successful aging to examine quality of life among older adults in assisted living. The study authors explored the appropriateness of the Successful Aging Inventory to measure successful aging of older adults residing in assisted living. Study results suggested that participants felt that physical activity, personal relationships, aging, income and disease provided the context for successful aging. Recognizing cultural dimension was not Kozar-Westman et al.'s focus; they instead focused on successful aging elements and using an assessment tool to measure them.

Lustbader (2013) supported similar concepts related to social relationships as an aspect of quality of life for older adults in assisted living but further explored the feelings associated with the sense of home a older adult may or may not feel upon a transitions to a senior living residence. Similar to Kozar-Westman et al. (2013), Lustbader's findings suggested additional factors that can impact social relationships for older adults residing in a senior living setting include establishing significant relationships, respect, contributing to the well-being of others and autonomy, also factors that can promote successful aging.

Diversity in Assisted Living

The older adult population is becoming more racially and culturally diverse (Douglas et al., 2014; Foronda et al., 2016; Li & Cai, 2014; Markides & Rote, 2014;

Ortman et al., 2014; Park et al., 2013). As the United States experiences shifts in the racial and cultural composition of the older adult population and as more seniors become residents of assisted living communities, the importance of accommodating this population's needs will increase (Koehn et al., 2016). Precisely, regarding older minorities, it is estimated that minority individuals age 85 years and older will compose 29.7% of the U.S. population by 2050 (American Geriatrics Society Ethnogeriatrics Committee, 2016). To ensure comprehensive delivery of care, professionals must understand this population's cultural, social, economic, and health care needs.

African Americans represented approximately 9% of the older population in 2017 (Administration on Community Living, 2019). U.S. Census figures estimate this population to show a steady increase to 15.2% in 2030 and 18.5% in 2050 (Brown et al., 2014). With this continuing growth, aging services must address increased diversity in the older population (McFarland & Wehbe-Alamah, 2019).

Assisted living has become a preferred senior housing option, and increasing numbers of older African Americans may select assisted living facilities as places to live. As older African Americans elect to move into assisted living communities, incorporating cultural expectations, preferences, and customs will be necessary to encourage successful aging (McFarland & Wehbe-Alamah, 2019; Perkins et al., 2012). Acknowledging these elements will benefit older African Americans and transform how health care professionals, social workers, direct care staff, and family members manage transitions and adjustments to an assisted living facility (McFarland & Wehbe-Alamah, 2019; Perkinson & Solimeo, 2013).

Some older African Americans are transitioning into assisted living housing, but older African Americans traditionally prefer to reside at home or with family members (Klinenberg et al., 2013; Li & Cai, 2014; Silva et al., 2013). The preference to stay at home appears to be related to family obligations and responsibilities, family connections, cultural bonds, and familiarity at home (Morgan & Brazda, 2013; Park et al., 2013; Rodríguez-Galán, 2013). Wishing to remain at home can also stem from negative experiences with health care professionals or others. Hansen et al. (2016) discussed mistrust felt by African Americans because of the history of abuse and health care disparities that this group has experienced. Anxiety about adjusting to senior living communities can be a reflection of racial discrimination and exclusion (Caroll & Qualls, 2014; Lee et al., 2013; Miyawaki, 2015). All of these factors need to be considered in order to encourage independence, maintain capacity, and reduce decline (American Geriatrics Society Ethnogeriatrics Committee, 2016; Li & Cai, 2014).

Older women represent a significant portion of the aging population. Still, existing research has primarily focused on older European American women (Chrisler et al., 2016). This research gap supports the need for studies on older African American women's lived experiences in assisted living.

Successful Aging

Rowe and Kahn (2015) defined successful aging as the status of disease, physical fitness, mental stability, and social involvement. Tkatch et al. (2017) reported a connection between successful aging and an older adult's ability to manage physical and chronic conditions. Freedman and Spillman (2016) reviewed race and gender life

expectancy of Black and White older adults in the United States from 1982 to 2011 using data from the 1982 and 2004 National Long Term Care Survey and the 2011 National Health and Aging Trends Study. Differences between older White and Black adult's latelife disability and mortality in the United States were examined. The areas discussed included life expectancy beyond 65 years of age without impairment or disability, disability prevalence, and remaining years without limitation. Freedman and Spillman found that disability patterns varied among older Black and White adults, with older White adults entering later life without disabilities more than older Black adults. Study results also suggested that later life with a disability was more prevalent for older Black women due to increased decline and disability.

As life expectancy continues to trend upward despite the number of older adults experiencing physical and chronic impairments, there may be shifts in how successful aging is defined. With the support services offered in assisted living, the ability to manage physical disability, cognitive impairment, and chronic disease may describe what successful aging is becoming (Pirhonen & Pietilä, 2016a). Older adults who transition into assisted living communities despite their health challenges may still be able to age successfully. A renewed focus on successful aging can emphasize the importance of social and cultural factors defining successful aging rather than physical decline and disability that may occur as part of the aging process (Rowe & Kahn, 2015).

In African American culture, church and community, including close friends, neighbors, and colleagues, can play a part in successful aging. W. L. Collins and Hawkins (2015) reviewed the relationship between African American churches, older

adults, and their caregivers and how African American churches and religious organizations can relieve caregivers' burdens and provide support to African American older adults and their caregivers. Older African Americans traditionally embrace religion as a comfort (W. L. Collins & Hawkins, 2015, p. 95). The responsibility of caregiving for older adults is significant because of the prevalence of health decline due to disease and disability among African American older adults. Managing this enormous burden impacts the care and well-being of the older adult's supervision and well-being and the family member caregiver. Study results suggested that churches, pastoral support, and spiritual affiliations have a strong influence on the lives of older adults and their family caregivers. W. L. Collins and Hawkins suggested establishing formal support among African American church leaders, volunteers, social workers, and others to support older adults and their family caregivers. Churches and religious organizations may offer support for older adults and their caregivers while residing at home and may also offer assistance in care settings like assisted living (W. L. Collins & Hawkins, 2016).

Assari (2013) and Taylor et al. (2013) examined the importance of church and religious affiliations in African American culture. Individuals who embrace religion tend to be older adults, women, couples, and families because of the support systems and connections religious affiliations may provide (Taylor et al., 2013). Church and religious affiliation, including participating in weekly church services and religious holiday celebrations and fellowship with church members and friends appears to bring a sense of satisfaction and quality of life to these individuals (Assari, 2013). Cowlishaw et al. (2013) suggested that church social support can enhance well-being and overall health.

African Americans may rely on the church for spiritual guidance and support during times of illness or disability, for financial assistance, and help with other needs to manage their life events (Assari, 2013; Cowlishaw et al., 2013).

Harvey et al., (2016) and Reed and Neville (2014) explained the influence of religion and spirituality on Black women's well-being. Reed and Neville stated that, "For Black women, religious institutions have served as important spaces in which to communicate, make meaning of, and negotiate the challenges of being both black and a woman" (p. 385). Harvey et al., in comparison to Reed and Neville, explored religiosity in relation to social and religious support among African American women. Findings indicated that religiously, social support and religious social support are different, but more research is needed to address the religiosity and social support for African American women.

Zimmer et al. (2016) studied the concept of religiosity as it relates to aging. They hypothesized that religious participation or involvement might have a more substantial influence on the health of Black older adults than on White older adults. They also explored how spiritually and religious affiliation can help cope with disability and depression. Zimmer et al. recommended more research on religiosity and its effect on health in older adults. Findings from these studies support the potential significance of religious affiliation and church involvement on successful aging and quality of life.

Similarly, Holt et al. (2014) explored religious involvement; specifically, how self-perception impacts religious participation and health behaviors. Phone interviews were conducted using a list of U.S. households. Areas examined during the interviews

included religious involvement, self-perception, health behaviors, and demographics. Findings showed that religious-based participation, support, and spiritual beliefs positively impacted African Americans' health outcomes. Furthermore, Black women embraced religion more than Black men; thus, religious involvement promoted a better quality of life. This study's findings are significant for their implications that religious involvement or beliefs could impact successful aging for African Americans.

Social Ties and Social Isolation

Assisted living facilities combine support services with care in residential or home-like settings (Kisling et al., 2015). These services can increase life quality by encouraging well-being, socialization, and engagement in the facilities. Kisling-Rundgren et al. (2016) and Perkins et al. (2013) found that social networks or ties among fellow residents in an assisted living setting can help with adjusting to life in these facilities. Perkins et al. employed the social convey model as the theoretical framework supporting the idea that social connections and interactions improve health conditions, including depression, anxiety, and other changes related to aging. Findings highlighted the importance of establishing relationships with other residents. Maintaining close ties with family members, friends, and others will positively impact health, well-being, and adjustments to an assistive living facility (Perkins et al., 2013). Black et al. (2012) used qualitative inquiry to explore the concept of social participation or models in communitybased living, specifically focusing on encouraging successful aging by establishing dignity and independence for community-based older adults. The researchers also asked how older adults defined aging with dignity and independence in their lived experiences.

The study results reflected actionable themes related to meaningful engagement, social inclusion, communication, health, well-being, aging in place, and mobility. All items were central to achieving dignity and independence for the group (Black et al., 2012).

Palmer et al. (2016) contributed to prior research by furthering the idea that social participation or relationships impact mental and physical health in later life, mainly when communication deficits restrict developing and maintaining social participation or relationships. Palmer et al. examined social relations in the context of social networks, social participation, social exchange, and social isolation. Study findings indicated that communication impairments or deficits can limit social engagement and that chronic health conditions and decline in later life could challenge, limit, or restrict social engagement, relationships, and interactions. Understanding these challenges and limitations as they relate to older African American women may help aging services professionals implement comprehensive service plans for these women and for other older Americans (Baker et al., 2015; Freedman & Spillman, 2016; Pollard & Scommegna, 2013).

Diaz et al. (2019) and Pool et al. (2017) evaluated socialization in older ethnic minority persons. Pool et al. explored interventions to address the social determinants of health among an older ethnic minority. The key focus was on how socialization can impact health and well-being for African Americans, Asians, Hispanic, and Native Americans. Pool et al. stated that interventions for addressing social isolation and loneliness included volunteering, educational engagement, and physical activity. Diaz et al. examined loneliness and social isolation of ethnic minority older adults and evaluated

how culture and family involvement related to social connectedness. Courtin and Knapp (2017) stated that social isolation is a risk factor related to decreased well-being, increased depression, and cognitive decline.

Health Perceptions

The research discussed in this section includes a review and examination of older adults' health perceptions and well-being. In a longitudinal study on attitudes about aging, physical activity, self-perception, and other factors related to aging, Beyer et al. (2015) concluded that health perceptions or positive self-perceptions of aging result in better health outcomes for older adults. Park et al. (2015) similarly concluded that older adults' health perceptions or attitudes in assisted living facilities could affect successful aging. This study added to the scholarly literature by exploring differences in how older adults view their aging. Park et al. stated that the health belief model reflects health decline, impairment, and negative life experience that could influence health perceptions of residents residing in an assisted living facility. Spetz et al. (2015) acknowledged diversity in the older adult U.S. population and recommended that health care professionals, social workers, and other human services practitioners advocate for older adults by understanding their unique needs that reflect racial, cultural, gender, and socioeconomic factors. Zubair and Norris (2015) addressed perspectives on aging for ethnic minorities and stated that recognizing diversity in experiences, needs, and expectations is necessary to support the growing population of racially and ethnically diverse older people. Phillips et al. (2017) used the self-regulatory model to explore older African Americans' perceptions of chronic disease and found that acceptance and

understanding, spirituality, and social support related to older African Americans' perceptions of their conditions. Spiritual beliefs and a support network were crucial elements in managing and improving health outcomes (Phillips et al., 2017).

Menkin et al. (2017) and Baker et al. (2015) examined older adults' health perceptions. Menkin et al.'s focus was on the aging expectations or opinions of older adults from various backgrounds living in the United States. Health perceptions can be negative or positive attitudes related to physical, mental health, and cognitive function (Menkin et al., 2017). Menkin et al. noted the lack of research on senior expectations and perceptions, particularly in Latino, African American, Korean, and Chinese older adults. They further stated that successful aging can result in positive aging expectations or impressions and that negative aging expectations or perceptions can result in decline and disability. Menkin et al. recommended that professionals consider the implications of their clients' cultural experiences and preferences and that awareness and understanding of these aspects will help to encourage health and well-being.

Baker et al. (2015) focused on the cultural aspects of aging and health perceptions for older African American women and on defining successful aging for this group.

Compared to other racial groups, older African American women appear to experience a higher prevalence of chronic disease and disability, which results in negative aging and health perceptions. Baker et al. suggested incorporating the social, cultural, emotional, and environmental aspects of older African women's lived experiences to enhance successful aging and well-being in these women. They also recommended further studies

to provide a more comprehensive view of these lived experiences that could be used to guide older African American women's programs and services.

Health outcomes of older African American adults have been the focus of previous research (CDC, 2017). However, few studies on health outcomes among older African American women have focused on long-term care and aging services transitions (Cené et al., 2016; Joseph et al., 2015). Chronic disease and health disparities have received more research focus (Moreno et al., 2015).

There is evidence that older African American women have a high prevalence of chronic disease, leading to disability and decline (Phillips et al., 2017). Phillips et al. (2017) further commented that compliance to health recommendations may be due to self-perceptions of health and well-being. Additionally, caregiver availability will be a challenge because by 2030, 72,700,000 adults will be over 65 years of age, which will result in gaps between demand for and supply of family caregivers (National Academies of Sciences, Engineering, and Medicine, 2016). Programs and services that support the needs, experiences, and expectation of this group and their family members can promote better health outcomes and quality of life (Hansen et al., 2016).

Cultural Competence

Cultural competence has captured attention in all areas of the U.S. health care system. A general definition of cultural competence is that it supports and acknowledges the importance of cultural awareness, cultural differences, and cross-cultural understanding (Alizadeh & Chavan, 2016; Sorensen, Jervelund, et al., 2017; Sorensen, Norredam, et al., 2017). Danso (2018) confirmed that cultural competence, including

nontechnical empathy, compassion, and openness to patients' racial and ethnic differences, is necessary for adhering to ethical standards.

Health care disparities result from failing to capture patients' cultural beliefs, values, and perceptions (James et al., 2017). Practitioners lacking cultural awareness or understanding may not properly assess their clients from a social aspect. Excluding or not recognizing culture as part of the whole person or person-centered approach may impact client programs and services (Carbonneau et al., 2010; Dauvrin & Lorant, 2015; Fazio et al., 2018). Understanding older adults' cultural beliefs, values, and perspectives will need to be a fundamental component of the assessment process in whole person care (Sorensen, Jervelund, et al., 2017; Sorensen, Norredam, et al., 2017). Therefore, health care professionals, stakeholders, and advocates must take a proactive industry-wide stance to address health care disparities through cultural awareness.

Health care professionals must understand, acknowledge, and be responsive to the cultural needs of the clients and patients they serve (American Geriatrics Society Ethnogeriatrics Committee, 2016). Dauvrin and Lorant (2015) recommended that health care professionals in various settings, particularly aging services programs, services, and facilities, embrace cultural competence as the aging population becomes more diverse. Professionals who are culturally aware and communicate effectively with their clients can improve health outcomes and more effectively support their clients' needs from a physical, social, psychological, and cultural perspective by conducting thorough and comprehensive evaluations (Dauvrin & Lorant, 2015; Sorensen, Jervelund, et al., 2017; Sorensen, Norredam, et al., 2017).

In a review of foundational theories that have provided a framework for exploring and understanding older African Americans' lived experiences, Brown et al. (2014) acknowledged the lack of research on the Black aging experience. The increase in the Black older adult population will reflect a shift from 15.2% by 2030 to 18.5% by 2050 (Brown et al., 2014). With the growing older population, increases in longevity, and shifts in racial and ethnic demographics reflecting more diversity in the older population (U.S. Census Bureau, 2017), more research is needed to explore the lived experiences in this population.

Existing research has provided some insights into culturally relevant or adapted health interventions for African American women. Joseph et al. (2017) sought to develop a culturally relevant physical activity framework to address to promote physical activity in African American women. Findings showed that historical, social, and cultural considerations could increase participation in physical activity programs. As such, a culturally relevant physical activity framework for African American women should include their life transitions, cultural norms related to physical activity, and strategies to engage African American women in physical activity. Ward and Brown (2015) addressed the high prevalence of chronic depression in African American women in developing culturally adapted treatment and interventions for African American adults with depression. A cognitive behavioral approach with cultural adaptations resulted in reduced depressive symptoms, but Ward and Brown suggested gathering more data from additional research with a larger sample of African American women.

Both Joseph et al. (2017) and Ward and Brown (2015) noted that African American women often have low physical activity levels and are least likely to use mental health services. With these high-risk health behaviors and outcomes, interventions or strategies are necessary to engage this population.

Summary

The literature reviewed for this study focused on the experience of transitioning into assisted living facilities and related elements from a broad perspective, as there is limited research on these transitions specifically among older African American women. Most researchers have focused on older European American women in studying these transitions. Some studies did include a review of other minority elders such as African Americans and Hispanics/Latinos; however, very few specifically addressed gender, cultural preferences, and transition to senior living facilities.

Findings from the reviewed literature showed that assisted living facilities are attractive options for older adults seeking senior housing that is homelike and provides supportive programs and services. Furthermore, as the older population becomes more racially and culturally diverse, assisted living facilities will need to provide more comprehensive person-centered support to address social, emotional, and spiritual needs. Professionals will need to be culturally informed and sensitive to older adults and their family member caregivers' specific needs and expectations.

In Chapter 3, I describe the methodology for this study. The discussion includes details on the research design and rationale, my role as the researcher, and the steps I took

to conduct the research. I also discuss participant selection, instrument development, ethical concerns, and other aspects of the methodology employed in this study.

Chapter 3: Research Method

Care and services provided to older adults in the United States will become increasingly significant aspects of the U.S. health care system due to the growing aging adult population. Informal caregivers, family members, and formal caregivers provide care and services to older adults. Continued increases in this population's racial and ethnic diversity will require aging services organizations, professionals, and practitioners to be well-prepared to provide comprehensive services. These comprehensive services include addressing the social, emotional, and physical care needs of the population and the cultural norms of a diverse group of older adults as they transition into senior housing programs (Hollinger-Smith, 2016).

The perceptions of family member caregivers of older African American women 75–95 years of age who helped facilitate their loved ones' moves to an assisted living facility were the focus of this multiple case study. Four family members' impressions on the transition circumstances were explored. Using a case study approach facilitated capturing the family member caregivers' lived experiences of their older family members' relocation. Study findings may help to develop a culturally sensitive and relevant transition framework for assisting these women and their family member caregivers.

In Chapter 3, I discuss the research methodology for the study. The chapter starts with a discussion on the research design and rationale and my role as the researcher. I then offer details on the participant selection process, instrumentation, recruitment, and

participation. How the data were collected, maintained, and analyzed is also discussed.

Issues related to trustworthiness and ethical procedures and a summary close the chapter.

Research Design and Rationale

A qualitative approach was used to explore caregiver's impressions of older

African American women's experiences as they transitioned into assisted living facilities.

The following research question and subquestions guided the investigation:

Central research question: What are the family member caregivers' experiences and perceptions about the assisted living transitions of older African American women?

Subquestion 1: What do the family members understand to be the events and circumstances leading up to the older African American woman's transition into an assisted living facility?

Subquestion 2: What are the family member caregivers' thoughts about the challenges older African American women face when transitioning to assisted living facilities?

Subquestion 3: What are the family member caregivers' thoughts about programs and services that could be offered to older African American women to enhance the transition and adjustment into assisted living facilities?

The phenomenon of interest in this study was how older African American women transition to living in assisted living facilities and how they adjust to life in these facilities. The study focus was on exploring the caregivers' perspectives of these transitions and on using data from analyzing these experiences to understand the transition experience from this perspective. The family members' impressions of these

transitions also provided information that can promote independence, capacity, and decrease disability as these older adults move into assisted living.

A qualitative approach—specifically, multiple case study—was appropriate because of the study goal of capturing the perceptions of family member caregivers who facilitated moves into assisted living facilities for their older African American female family members. Researchers use qualitative studies to explore problems from participants' perspectives and employ ethical research practices to capture rich data (Wolgemuth et al. 2014). Qualitative methodology also allows for flexibility in conducting case study research (Hyett et al., 2014), which is important when investigating lived experiences.

Case study methodology is used to investigate events in their context (Yazan, 2015); in this case, the perceptions of family member caregivers who facilitated moves into assisted living facilities for their older African American female family members. Harrison et al. (2017) and Carolan et al. (2016) described case study as a form of inquiry that provides an in-depth, holistic, and flexible approach in various disciplines. Harrison et al. also stated that a case study is most often used by qualitative researchers because they aim to be descriptive, exploratory, interpretative, or explanatory to capture a point of view of the lived experience. Agom et al. (2019) and Tabatabaei et al. (2017) compared case studies to other methods, including ethnographic studies, in which research is conducted for an extended period to analyze and understand interactions or activities in a specific group. Grounded analysis is another qualitative approach and is used to develop a new theory or process based on study results (Rooddehghan et al., 2019). Ethnographic

and grounded studies are essential in qualitative research, but case study, specifically multiple case study, was most appropriate for the present study.

Yin (2017) acknowledged that single case studies can be successful, depending on the research goal, but recommended a multiple case study approach because of the benefits of analyzing two or more cases. Heale and Twycross (2018) also supported multiple case study because the information captured may be more substantial and reliable and can strengthen study outcomes. For the present study, this approach helped to capture impressions of transitions to assisted living through semistructured interviews with four family member caregivers. The inclusion criteria required that the family member helped their older relative move. Similarities and differences regarding the moves were explored through each case. The information provided insights to answer the central research question and subquestions (see Heale & Twycross, 2018; Yin 2017, 2018).

Role of the Researcher

I was the primary data collection instrument in this qualitative multiple case study. I conducted semistructured interviews with four family member caregivers to capture their interpretations of older African American women's transitions into assisted living facilities. I adhered to ethical standards and guidelines by receiving Institutional Review Board (IRB) approval, obtained the participants' informed consent), and used an interview guide (see Appendix A) during each session with the family member participants. I used inductive logic to identify patterns, categories, and themes regarding the family caregivers' interpretations of the assisted living transition.

Researchers' lived experiences as they reflect gender, race, bias, perceptions, and other identifiers can influence research activities and practice (Sanjari et al., 2014). As the researcher, I was conscious of any personal and professional perspectives that may impact data collection and analysis. During the interview sessions, I followed Clark and Veale's (2018) suggestions by conducting interpretative thinking about the data I gathered from the family member participants. I evaluated my thoughts, actions, and observations, taking into account my identifiers as an African American woman and my impressions and experiences as an aging services professional who has worked closely with older adults and their family member caregivers during the move to senior services facilities (see Clark & Vealé, 2018; Couture et al., 2012).

Noble and Smith (2015) noted the importance of clear methodological strategies in study trustworthiness, including acknowledging and recognizing personal bias, maintaining consistent, rich, and transparent data collection and analysis, ensuring that different perspectives in the data, and clarifying data analysis and interpretations. To avoid study bias and potential conflict of interest, I refrained from engaging, recruiting, and connecting with previous residents, family members, and aging services organizations with whom I have worked. Other strategies I used included (a) recognizing bias in sampling by conducting a comprehensive review of methods, (b) providing detailed documentation to ensure clarity of the data, (c) maintaining rich descriptions captured from the family members' reflections on the transitions of the older African American women, and (d) incorporating participant validation to ensure that the themes

represented the study objectives and that the lived experiences of family member caregivers about the transition of their loved ones were accurately presented.

Methodology

Participant Selection

Crucial elements in participant recruitment include sample size, identifying participants who meet the criteria, and ensuring that the participants understand the risks and benefits and receive informed consent (Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality (n.d.). When determining the population from which to sample participants for this study, I considered the implications of studying a group of older African American women. With memory loss, cognitive decline, and other issues related to this aging population, I considered the possible ethical implications of informed consent and questions related to the women's decision-making capacity that may surface (see Shivayogi, 2013). I decided instead to recruit family members who could offer their insights on their family members' transitions.

I used purposive sampling to recruit study participants. Specifically, I targeted family members who helped move older African American women 75–95 years of age into assisted living facilities. Purposive sampling was appropriate because of the study focus on obtaining rich and detailed data by exploring family members' experiences of moving older African American women into assisted living. Family members were selected to provide informative views of these transitions (see Ishak & Bakar, 2014).

I used the Illinois Department of Public Health Assisted Living and Shared Licensed Establishment directory on the Data.Illinois.gov data portal as part of my recruitment efforts. The open-access database lists all assisted living and shared housing facilities in the state of Illinois. I sorted the facilities and assembled a list of assisted living facilities by location. I then sent facility participation requests (see Appendix B) to each facility's director or administrator via email or regular mail. I included the recruitment flyer (see Appendix C), which detailed the study's purpose, participant eligibility criteria, participant expectations, time commitment, and my contact information for any inquiries or to express interest in participating in the research.

I identified a sample size of four family members for this study. Mason (2010) and Martínez-Mesa et al. (2016) suggested no specific sample size for qualitative research. Ishak and Bakar (2014) stated that there is flexibility in the sample size, which allowed me to select a sample that supported the research. The smaller sample size in the present study helped to provide meaningful themes and relevance about the transition experience. Selecting study participants with insights into the women's transitions provided an appropriate amount of data for answering this study's research questions and subquestions (see Saunders et al., 2018). I received data relevant and appropriate for analysis from the sample (see Mason, 2010; Saunders et al., 2018).

The family members self-identified as meeting the study criteria by responding to the recruitment flyers. These criteria were that they helped older African American female family members 75–95 years of age transition into assisted living facilities in the 2 years before this study. This time frame was selected so the family members could recall the transition details. Those interested in the study voluntarily reached out to me

and signed informed consent forms to confirm their interest in participating in the research. More details on the study participants are in Chapter 4.

Instrumentation

Researchers most often use semistructured and open-ended interviewing in qualitative studies (Jamshed, 2014). I conducted semistructured interviews with the family member participants. I asked open-ended questions regarding the older African American woman's transition into assisted living and asked probing questions (see Saunders et al., 2018) to fully understand their transition experiences.

I developed and used an interview guide (see Appendix A) for the interviews. I developed the guide based on the concepts explored and addressed in Chapter 2. Castillo-Montoya (2016) recommended a four-phase approach framework when refining an interview protocol. The framework includes (a) ensuring that the study interview questions support the research questions, (b) developing an inquiry-focused interview process with the participants, (c) obtaining feedback on the interview protocols, and (d) piloting the interview protocol.

First, I ensured that the interview guide supported the research focus and research questions. Secondly, I conducted relevant inquiries using relevant inquiries and conversational approach to ensure a good rapport with the participant. Third, I had my dissertation research committee review the interview protocol to provide objective feedback and recommendations. One recommendation provided was to plan for 1.5- to 2-hour sessions to ensure flexibility in time and ensure the participant's comfort. Lastly, Castillo-Montoya encouraged piloting the interview protocol, but due to limitations

related to time and participant recruitment, I did not pilot the interview protocol as suggested. These elements were central to developing the interview guide and managing the interview process.

Participant Recruitment, Participation, and Data Collection

The first step in recruiting study participants was accessing the Illinois

Department of Public Health Assisted Living and Shared Licensed Establishments
directory on the Data. Illinois. gov portal. This database lists all licensed assisted living
and shared housing facilities in Illinois. As previously noted, I sorted the facilities and
assembled a list of assisted living facilities by location. I then sent facility participation
requests to each facility's director or administrator via email or regular mail. I included
the recruitment flyer, which detailed the study's purpose, participant eligibility criteria,
participant expectations, time commitment, and my contact information for any inquiries
or to express interest in participating in the research. To facilitate outreach, I requested
that the facility display the flyer on my behalf. Family members interested in
participating in the research were advised to contact me directly to schedule an interview
by email, phone, or video conferencing.

Before starting the interviews, I asked the participants to sign an informed consent form, which explained the central topic, the data collection technique, the voluntary nature of participation, and the risks and benefits of study participation. The consent also advised that there would be no monetary incentive for their participation. Participants were interviewed on agreed-upon dates and times via Zoom video conferencing. The session was recorded using the Zoom auto-recording feature. During the interviews, I

used a semistructured but conversational style to capture the family members' views of their loved ones' transition experiences. To capture accurate accounts and details of their impressions, I recorded the interview sessions and took handwritten notes. To confirm understanding, I made sure to thoroughly explain the elements of the informed consent and confirmed the participants understanding of the risk and benefits. I also advised the participants that they had the right to withdraw from the research study at any time and that I would stop all study activities related to the participant if requested.

Data Analysis Plan

Postinterview data analysis consisted of thematically coding the data from the audio recordings and handwritten notes. Houghton et al. (2016) and Hilal and Alabri (2013) recommended automated data analysis software to manage data and provide analysis. I used NVivo software to organize and assemble the data collected during the interviews. NVivo held the data obtained in the audio recordings and facilitates managing the data and concepts entered into the software. Specifically, using NVivo helped me sort the data by organizing the interview transcripts, analyzing the concepts and themes, and saving them for reference. I used NVivo's transcription feature to create a Word document to analyze the in-depth interviews.

The data analysis approach included identifying themes, concepts, and ideas connected to the central research question and subquestions (see Graneheim et al., 2017; Silverman, 2016). The coding strategy included assembling data in meaningful categories (see Graneheim et al., 2017). I used open coding to identify concepts, themes, and categories based on participant interviews, reflecting guidance in Blair (2016) and Glaser

(2016). I created codes by assigning meaning to the data and analyzed it by focusing on the themes and concepts, as per Anney (2014) and Hilal and Alabri (2013).

Data from the participants reflected their perceptions of the transition experiences of older African American women who moved to assisted living facilities. I managed the data by organizing them into relevant concepts and eliminating information unrelated to the move, reflecting guidance from Blair (2016) and Glaser (2016). Using open coding to assemble the data helped to describe, name, or define the assisted living transition thoughts family caregivers expressed and shared. Axial coding includes relating categories to subcategories to form precise and complete explanations (Blair, 2016). I used axial coding to identify the relationship to the transition. Finally, I used selective coding to organize the main theme categories that reflected the transition experiences recounted by the study participants.

Issues of Trustworthiness

In qualitative studies, trustworthiness requires establishing credibility, transferability, dependability, and confirmability (Connelly, 2016). For the present study, I established credibility by restating comments, responses and statements participants made during the interviews to confirm my understanding of their experiences. I incorporated self-reflection to avoid bias due to personal and professional interpretations. I was mindful of my perceptions, ideas, and attitudes as an African American woman and as an expert in the field of aging. To address bias, I maintained reflective notes to acknowledge or recognize any prejudice or personal perspectives that may interfere with data gathering and analysis (see J. Smith & Noble, 2014).

Anney (2014), Noble and Smith (2015), and Tsai et al. (2016) stated that transferability refers to the ability to apply study findings to other situations or groups. Purposive sampling and thick descriptions help to establish transferability (Anney, 2014; Noble & Smith, 2015) and were both employed in the present study. Connelly (2016) and Anney defined dependability as a survey's ability to have stable findings over time. To establish dependability, I used an audit trail that required reviewing the processes and procedures I employed in data collection, documentation, and analysis. Following Connelly's recommendation, I kept a process log to detail my activities during the present study. I also incorporated member checking by having the study participants review and confirm the data shared during their interviews.

Strategies for confirmability suggested by Koelsch (2013) include validating findings with study participants, which I accomplished by reviewing the accuracy of the data from the participant interviews. In addition to the process log mentioned as part of dependability, I maintained notes to document my biases, assumptions, and perceptions. Failing to recognize these factors could have impacted the study (see Korstjens & Moser, 2018).

Ethical Procedures

I adhered to standard ethical practices and standards throughout this study. I received approval from Walden University's IRB to conduct this study prior to data collection. I followed practices to establish privacy, confidentiality, and anonymity. I obtained informed consent from the participants as part of the ethical rules and procedures.

To preserve confidentiality, I identified participants as P1, P2, P3, and P4 during data analysis and provided no other identifying information in the discussion of study results in Chapter 4. Tsai et al. (2016) suggested additional protections such as removing any identifying information related to the participants; for example, not referencing where participants live or providing other demographic information that could identify them. Petrova et al. (2016) also recommended avoiding internal confidentiality violations by ensuring that participants cannot identify their data or others'.

All data, documents, and materials related to the research will be securely maintained for 5 years. Print materials are locked in a file cabinet in my home office. All electronic data are stored on my password-protected computer. I will destroy all study materials after 5 years by shredding the paper documents and erasing the electronic data.

As noted, informed consent was obtained from all study participants before their interviews to ensure adherence to ethical standards and procedures. The consent detailed the nature of the study, the study processes, the voluntary nature of the study, risks and benefits, payment, confidentiality, and who to contact with any questions or concerns. The consent protected the study participants by providing a complete explanation of the research. L. M. Fields and Calvert (2015) stated that ethical code standards dictate the essential nature of informed consent. Careful attention to any potential negative impact on the study participants is necessary. All participants in the present study were advised that they could withdraw from the study at any time. They were also advised that I would stop all study activities on request. No participant requested this. This study was not a longitudinal study in which participant withdrawal rates may be higher (Hadidi et al.,

2013). Still, for this study, I thoroughly explained the elements of the informed consent and confirmed the participants' understanding of the study, per Hadidi et al. (2013).

Vulnerable populations can be challenging to research when health and cognition issues arise. In consideration of potential ethical concerns, I elected to interview family members of older African American women, not the women themselves. The data resulting from these interpretations may contribute to a transition framework for aging professionals and other service providers working with older African American women and their family member caregivers.

Summary

This study's focus was on exploring the experiences and perceptions of the family member caregivers of older African American women who relocated into assisted living facilities. Chapter 3 provided details on the research design and rationale, my role as the researcher, study methodology, participant selection, instrumentation, data analysis plan, issues of trustworthiness, and ethical procedures. Purposeful sampling was used to recruit participants. I conducted semistructured interviews with open-ended questions to understand the transition experience. I identified emerging topics and conducted thematic analysis of the data. In Chapter 4, I discuss changes in the procedures described in Chapter 3 as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic. I also review and analyze the data gathered for this study.

Chapter 4: Results

This study's focus was on exploring the insights, perspectives, and experiences of family member caregivers who helped move older African American women into assisted living facilities. The problem was that there was no clear framework that reflects the insights and impressions of family member caregivers as they transition their loved ones into senior living facilities. Few researchers have studied the lived experiences and perceptions of family members of older African American women who transition to these facilities, suggesting a need to conduct such an exploration. Conducting this qualitative multiple case study provided rich data from the family member participants to answer the following central research question and subquestions:

Central research question: What are the family member caregivers' experiences and perceptions about the assisted living transitions of older African American women?

Subquestion 1: What do the family members understand to be the events and circumstances leading up to the older African American woman's transition into an assisted living facility?

Subquestion 2: What are the family member caregivers' thoughts about the challenges older African American women face when transitioning to assisted living facilities?

Subquestion 3: What are the family member caregivers' thoughts about programs and services that could be offered to older African American women to enhance the transition and adjustment into assisted living facilities?

Chapter 4 details the study setting, participant demographics, data collection process, and data analysis. Lastly, I address the evidence of trustworthiness, including credibility, transferability, dependability, and confirmability. The chapter concludes with a summary of findings and a preview of Chapter 5.

Participant Recruitment and Study Setting

I sent invitation letters and recruitment flyers to 608 assisted living locations, including supportive living facilities, memory care centers, and retirement homes with assisted living programs. The facilities were in three major geographical areas of Illinois. I received email or phone responses from the directors or administrators of 21 facilities. Seven stated that they were interested in participating and would post the flyer on my behalf to recruit family member participants. Unfortunately, 14 facilities could not assist because they did not meet the study criteria: specifically, not having older women of African American descent as residents at the facility. I initiated follow-up emails and phone calls to the administrators or directors at the seven facilities who agreed to post the flyer after the initial inquiry. However, I was not successful in recruiting participants using this strategy.

The outbreak of COVID-19 and the ensuing pandemic impacted my initial recruitment and data collection activities. The virus is a global health crisis that has significantly impacted all aspects of society, specifically health care facilities and senior living facilities (CDC, 2019; Fallon et al., 2020). Residents in senior living facilities and assisted living centers are considered vulnerable and at higher risk of adverse outcomes related to COVID-19 due to age, possible underlying chronic health conditions, and

disease. Senior living facilities imposed visitor restrictions, limiting family members and other visitors. This restricted further efforts to recruit participants at these facilities.

To address the change in the original conditions, I requested a change in procedure from Walden University's IRB: specifically, the need to revise the recruitment and data collection processes. (The IRB approval number for this study is 12-02-19-0243876.) These revisions included using social media posts to recruit participants, exploring personal connections to find individuals with loved ones in assisted living, and, if necessary, using the Walden University participant pool to ask if anyone in the pool met the study criteria. The procedure changes also included broadening the assisted living move-in time frame to 2 years (from the original 6 months to 1 year) and providing alternative interviewing options for the family member participants, including email, phone, or video conferencing. The change in interviewing procedures was especially critical as the impact of COVID-19 restricted the ability to conduct in-person interviews. These changes were approved.

In recruiting the participants using social media, I followed the inclusion criteria outlined in Chapter 3: the age of the loved one, the time frame of the move (within 2 years of the study), and being an active participant in the move. Six individuals expressed interest in participating in the study. One did not meet the inclusion criteria and was excluded; another did not respond to my follow-up contact. The revised recruitment efforts resulted in four family member caregivers participating in the study.

The final setting for data collection was my home office, using my own personal computer, and the home computer or other device of the participants in their own

locations. Although far from what was originally planned, this setting facilitated conducting semistructured interviews with the participants in which I captured rich and thick data and insights on their experiences and perceptions regarding their loved ones' moves to senior care facilities.

Participant Demographics

As noted, four family member participants met the inclusion criteria and agreed to participate in this study. Three were secondary caregivers; one was the primary caregiver. They all provided assistance to their older female African American family members, all of whom had moved within 2 years of this study.

Data Collection

I was the only researcher in this study. Prior to collecting data, I sent informed consent forms to the participants by email for their review and signature. I scheduled the interviews by sending email invitations to the participants within 1 week after receiving their informed consent forms. Before starting the interviews, I asked the participants if there were any further questions or concerns.

I used an interview guide (see Appendix A) to ask questions regarding the family member participants' assisted living transition impressions. I informed the participants that the interviews would be recorded on my personal computer using the Zoom video communication recording feature. The interviews were conversational and relaxed so that I could build rapport with the participants. This approach reflected Yin's (2018) recommendation that these interviews more closely resemble guided conversations than structured inquiries. In addition to recording the interviews, I took handwritten notes to

document specific insights shared during the conversation. The sessions lasted between 45 and 75 minutes. I maintained a journal to log participant demographics, jot down interpretations and details about the participant interviews, and document any personal biases that arose during the interviews. Data collection took about 2 months after the change in procedure and expansion of the inclusion criteria.

Data Analysis

I explored the lived or social experiences of a specific group in this study. Because this was an exploratory study, an inductive approach was appropriate. I began data analysis by transcribing audio recordings of the participant interviews to a Microsoft Word document using NVivo's transcription feature. I cross-referenced the interview audio recordings, the interview transcripts, and my handwritten notes to confirm alignment in what the participants shared. I further confirmed the accuracy of the data by sending an email to the participants containing a copy of their interview transcript for their review, as recommended by Birt et al. (2016). I then called each participant to confirm receipt of the transcripts and to discuss any discrepancies they might have found, again following guidance in Birt et al. Once the participants confirmed the data as accurate, I began coding.

I first conducted open coding, looking for first impressions of the concepts that arose from the raw data by reviewing the printed interview transcripts and handwritten notes I had collected during the interviews. Based on the research subquestions, I then developed short word sequences to define the key themes. This seemed the best strategy for organizing the themes as possible responses to the subquestions. These themes

reflected the focus of each research question: events and circumstances, thoughts about challenges, and impressions about programs and services the participants experienced as part of the transition.

Using the subquestions to organize the data continued into developing themes. Further analysis entailed conducting axial coding, in which each participant's interview responses were reviewed line by line to identify meaningful phrases about the transition experience across each case. Once participants' statements and comments were categorized, I was also able to identify subcategories in each participant's case.

Selective coding was the last data analysis step. This approach facilitated deeper understanding of each case (see Williams & Moser, 2019). I reviewed the categories and subcategories developed in the axial coding process and identified emergent themes about the family members' transition experience under each of the subquestions. I highlighted and wrote comments to understand the initial interpretations presented in the data to determine thematic connectivity leading to thematic patterns (see Williams & Moser, 2019). This process clarified the themes or patterns in the participants' experiences.

Based on the data captured from the family member caregiver interviews, I analyzed the data by developing short word sequences to define categories. The three categories addressed the events and circumstances, thoughts about the challenges, and impressions about programs and services. From the three initial categories, I created 10 subcategories for further analysis of the data. The 10 subcategories were:

concerns prior to the move,

- decisions to move,
- family member caregiver role,
- family dynamics,
- initial adjustment,
- dementia and memory loss,
- COVID-19,
- family member involvement after the move,
- adjustment to facility services, and programs, and
- thoughts about resources and support services.

Table 1 shows the three categories and 10 subcategories that resulted in three emergent themes.

Table 1Emergent Themes Organized by Subquestion

Central research question: What are the family member caregivers' experiences and perceptions about the assisted living transitions of older African American women?

Subquestion	Category	Subcategories	Theme
Subquestion 1: What do the family members understand to be the events and circumstances leading to the older African American woman's transition into an assisted living facility?	Events & circumstances	Concerns prior to the move Decisions to move Family member caregiver role Family dynamics	Transition is usually not well planned in advance and does not happen until a critical event or incident occurs that changes the older adult's physical, social, or emotional status. This is significant in the role of family members in supporting the transition.
Subquestion 2: What are the family member caregivers' thoughts about the challenges older African American women face when transitioning to assisted living facilities?	Thoughts about challenges	Initial adjustment Dementia & memory loss COVID-19	The transition was more difficult than had been thought for older women and family members. Transition is a time of stress for both those moving and those supporting the move.
Subquestion 3: What are the family member caregivers' thoughts about programs and services that could be offered to older African American women to enhance the transition and adjustment into assisted living facilities?	Impressions about services and programs	Family member involvement after the move Adjustment to programs & services Thoughts about programs & services	The older adults expect family members to stay connected and involved after the transition. The family members may also have expectations of their playing a significant role in the new life of their loved ones in the assisted living facility.

These 10 subcategories formed a framework of issues that are important for family members who are looking to support their older adult family members in transitioning to long-term care or other group residential care. The analysis further

uncovered three emergent themes that recurred through the data and reflected the review and consolidation of these subcategories:

- Theme 1: Transition is usually not well planned in advance and does not
 happen until a critical event or incident occurs that changes the older adult's
 physical, social, or emotional status. This is significant in the role of family
 members in supporting the transition.
- Theme 2: The transition was more difficult than had been thought for older women and family members. Transition is a time of stress for both those moving and those supporting the move.
- Theme 3: The older adults expect family members to stay connected and
 involved after the transition. The family members may also have expectations
 of their playing a significant role in the new life of their loved ones in the
 assisted living facility.

These themes are discussed in more detail in Chapter 5.

Evidence of Trustworthiness

Credibility

To establish credibility, I retained handwritten notes and audio recordings from the interviews that provided insights into the family member participants' assisted living transition experiences. I maintained a participant interview process log, which contained details on participant's demographics, my notes on the participants' nonverbal communications, and self-reflection comments to recognize any biases. During the interview sessions, I used the same interview procedure and interview guide for each

participant, which encouraged them to recount their experiences, perceptions, and insights in an open forum. I conducted member checking during the interview to validate and confirm the details shared. I sent participants the interview transcripts for review and comment. I followed up with each participant but received no responses to my calls.

Transferability

Transferability refers to the ability to apply study findings to other situations or groups and is achieved through actions such as purposive sampling and creating thick descriptions (Anney, 2014; Daniel, 2018; Noble & Smith, 2015), both employed in the present study. Insights shared by family member caregivers did provide rich data that may contribute to future research. Therefore, findings from this study may help to inform a transition framework for older African American women and their family member caregivers. Other researchers may use the study findings in future research on the experiences and perceptions of family member caregivers of older African American women who move into assisted living facilities.

Dependability

Wu et al. (2016) stated that dependability reflects the stability of data analysis protocols. Dependability is often reflected in audit trails that describe data collection, documentation, and analysis processes and procedures. I maintained an audit trail for this study by compiling all study details in a file containing descriptions of the research activities and findings in the participants' audio recordings, the interview transcripts, handwritten notes, and the participant interview process log. The audit trail also includes

my self-reflection comments and the coding procedures. The audit trail is available for review upon request.

Confirmability

Confirmability in a study ensures the validity of participant responses or statements. Using direct quotes from the participants ensured that their impressions and insights reflected their transition experiences. Using these quotes also verified that the transition interpretations were from the family member's vantage point and were not my interpretations.

Study Results

This study reflects the transition impressions of family member caregivers of older African American women. The case study approach provided the opportunity to capture each family member's insights during semistructured interviews. The study's central research question focused on exploring family member caregivers' experiences and perceptions on older African American women's transitions into assisted living facilities. Three subquestions were used to explore these experiences in more detail; specifically, what the family members understood to be the events and circumstances leading up to the older African American woman's transition into an assisted living facility, what the family member caregivers' thoughts were on the challenges faced by older African American women when transitioning to these facilities, and what the family member caregivers' beliefs were about programs and services that could be offered to older African American women to enhance the transition and adjustment into these

facilities. The family members' statements confirmed their lived experiences from their perspectives.

The following is a narrative of the participant's responses to the interview questions presented during the semistructured sessions. To protect participant privacy and in recognition of the small sample size, no identifying information is presented. The following quotes from the participants represent comments from all of them. They are organized by subquestion.

Subquestion 1

Subquestion 1 asked what family members understood to be the events and circumstances leading up to the older African American women's transition into an assisted living facility. Concerns about their loved one's well-being and safety were reflected in many comments. Many participants also noted changes in their loved ones before the move in comments like "But now it's like her filter was removed . . . she was just blurting out things." "She started accusing my sister of stealing large sums of money, which she never had access to." "My mom had come down with dementia . . . when this dementia starts taking in, she had no filters, she became violent, you know, it was just the decision that had to be made."

Care Needs Changing Over Time

The participants' experiences highlighted the challenges for care needed that had changed over time and that were too acute to not pay attention to. One participant said, "Her thing is spending money, but when she started not wanting to do that anymore, we knew something was going on." Another participant said,

She started to develop some type of dementia, memory loss. Well, my mother's living situation, she was just by herself in a one-bedroom apartment. She was dealing with eye problems. She didn't let us know about it . . . So, she thought that she could just handle everything.

Attempts to keep their loves ones at home were common among participant comments. Their responses showed that they struggled with the final decision to move and felt obligated to keep their loved ones at home as long as possible despite the decline and change in their loved ones. Their comments included the following, "It was the hope to keep her in the home as much as possible." "But we felt it wasn't so severe that we have to put her in a living program. She felt that she was able to stay." "We shouldn't just be shifting her from different household . . . So, we determined by which household where she stayed, which ended up being in my brother's house." One participant said,

She wanted to stay in the home. We all agreed she would stay in her home. My sister took care of her Monday through Thursday, Friday, Saturday, and half of Sunday. I would take care of her Sunday afternoon; another sister would take care of her until Monday morning so that we would go to my mom's house.

Several participants discussed their efforts to identify facilities that could provide the needed care. Their comments included the following: "I toured quite a few places and tried to stay close . . . I didn't want my father to have to travel too far to get there or see her." "I went to a bit of a faith-based place . . . we'll have a good chance at having good care." "It was really difficult to try to find people that dealt with dementia or Alzheimer's to make sure that they were willing to take these folks."

"My sister finally said, I can't handle it anymore . . . she did have money, so we were able to pay the facility."

Subquestion 2

Subquestion 2 focused on family member caregivers' thoughts about the challenges faced by older African American women when transitioning to an assisted living facility. The participants' statements specifically focused on their experiences related to being the family caregiver, perceptions of their loved ones' adjustment to the assisted living facilities, their perceptions of their loved one's engagement/involvement in the facilities, issues related to dementia and memory loss progression, and challenges related to the COVID-19 pandemic. Impressions shared by the participants noted their awareness of how their loved ones fitted into their new environments. Most participants expressed that their loved ones had negative reactions to the move.

Posttransition: Family Caregiver Experiences

Participants reflected on their experiences after their loved one's movement to the assisted living facility. Each described the stress of being a caregiver for their loved one. Findings also uncovered the family members' continued need to be involved in the care even after the move.

Different Family Caregiver Stress. The participants discussed a different kind of stress and more stress after their loved ones moved to the facilities because of their need to continue to be involved with their care. Their comments included the following: "It was easier transitioning her out of a home because first, we transitioned her out of her home. And then we transfer a stranger out of my home into an assisted living." "They're

adjusting. They're trying to adapt. But at some point, you've got to come out of yourself and do what you can. It could be something very minimal to help your loved one." "He turned my mom's care over to me; I was kind of the closest to her . . . We waited. We passed the time that we were supposed to . . . we realized we would put her in more danger." One participant said,

My theory is, my mom raised me for 18 years. She sacrificed a lot to raise seven children while my dad was fighting wars. So, I mean, how can I turn around and say "I can only give you 1 hr."

All participants discussed their feelings about how they wanted to make the right decisions for their loved ones. Findings from the family member caregivers suggested that they felt a great sense of responsibility in making the right decision about the transition. The participants commented that they felt a significant obligation to ensure that their loved one was comfortable after moving to the assisted living facility.

Family Caregiver Continued Responsibilities. The participants discussed their desires to be involved in ongoing care and their responsibilities for their loved ones' well-being in their new settings. Their comments included the following: "It is such a traumatic thing to have to do, you know, to take your parent out of your home and put them in someplace . . . just hoping for the best. "You try to do what's best for your parents. You try to do what you feel." "I broke down . . . I realize[d] that my mother was never going to be the same again." "It's acceptance of what condition your family member . . . You can never adjust if you can't accept their diagnosis." "The particular place that we chose . . . [they] came out to the home and talked to my mom . . . So when

we took her, it was really good because that person was there . . . And that was really, for me, a lifesaver." "We all made a decision; mom would go into assisted living . . . So we moved her."

The participants also commented on the involvement and opinions of others, as reflected in the next section. Their comments suggested that participation of other family members impacted their transition experiences. Most participants found it challenging to be the decision-maker for their loved ones.

Family Caregiver Conflict: Primary and Secondary Caregiver Role

The participants discussed the relationships between themselves as primary caregivers and their siblings or other family members. Their comments included the following: "Every day, one of the siblings went to visit her and stay with her. And like, you know, sit with her while she had dinner, and another sister visiting her every evening, and then it came down to me. "Family issues . . . dealing with my dad was kind of difficult at times." "It's an emotional rollercoaster . . . it's taken a toll on my husband and brother in law." "My oldest sister. She just can't go. She can't see mom in that condition." "You know, they're used to seeing a strong grandmother." "He was kind of resistant at first. I think that's why we kind of held out for as long as we possibly could."

Perceptions of Loved Ones' Adjustments to the Move

The participants discussed their perceptions of their loved ones' reactions to the move. They expressed that their loved ones seemed to be experiencing anger, withdrawal, and depression, as reflected in these comments: "She was very angry." "[She said] don't put me [with] the old folks." "My mom was pretty simple . . . she didn't demand . . .

other than taking her away from her home." "So, when they had activities, she would go." "She was very depressed with me, sometimes angry." One participant said,

My mother has a way about her . . . she was usually the only Black person. And so because of that, she's always known that when she's around a certain audience, she acts a certain way. I think it was exhausting for her. She was around Black folk . . . she could be more herself.

Perceptions of Loved Ones' Engagement/Involvement

The participants shared their opinions about their loved ones' interests or involvement in facility programs and services. The findings reflected that participation in the programs and services was challenging for their loved ones and themselves as caregivers. Some family member participants suggested that their family members' lack of involvement in programs and services provided may have contributed to their further decline. Some family member participants suggested that their family members' lack of involvement in programs and services provided may have contributed to their further decline.

Some family members shared that their loved ones seemed to have difficulty adapting to their new environments. Their comments included the following: "[She] knows that this is not where she lives. She's ready to go. "I think familiarity with things, and so we try to make sure that she had the bed, she slept in comfort." "It was really difficult to leave her there." "Sometimes, we would find out that she left the room to go into the cafeteria, sit down, and eat. But she wouldn't tell us that we only found out because we had a relationship with the director." One participant said,

Everyone was so nice, but she didn't want to stay there. She didn't like . . . I think that has a lot to do with her experiences where she worked in the corporate world. And now she's in the latter part of her life and feels that maybe she has to be open again.

Other participants said that one issue was that their loved ones did not see other residents in the facility that looked like them. Their comments included: "My mother. She's a very social person. She became involved in the activities . . . She kept talking about she didn't like being the only Black person." "When things started to happen, and she started to say, 'I don't want to be [the] only Black person here except for the people that cook . . . So that that was an issue with her." One participant said,

She's out of her comfort zone because it's not like she was around Black people all the time, but, compared to what she was experiencing . . . The residents were starting to ask "Where's your mom?" We go into her room and knock on the door . . . Sometimes she's just sitting there. She wouldn't even answer the door.

Perceptions of Dementia and Memory Loss Progression

The participants provided insights about their observations of their loved ones as their conditions declined due to dementia and memory loss. They detailed how their loved ones changed after the move. Some participants implied that they felt unprepared to manage the care of their loved ones. They found it unsettling to witness how much dementia and memory loss impacted their loved ones' quality of life. Their comments included the following: "My mom has Alzheimer's. She was diagnosed six months after my dad died." "The hard part of the memory loss is that that you're dealing with a

woman who has always been in control, and now she's not in control. If she does not understand why she's not in control . . ." "She started to change, and we didn't understand why. She was on medication for her eyes. But what we finally figured out, [it] was dementia." "So hard to form her words to communicate . . . She gradually withdrew." "I spent 2 to 3 hrs with her every evening, walking her and talking with her. She doesn't have meaningful conversations."

Other comments were: "When I would strike up a conversation with her, it was gibberish. When she was talking, but then other times of the day, she was very clear-minded." "She seemed to do well at first . . . then the disease just kept getting worse and worse." "I think because it was both places we moved to, where everybody is living in their world." "She was depressed when we moved her. I would have to get up sometime[s] 3 in the morning and go up there. She would be so depressed and so blue and just crying." "She was starting to sleep more frequently . . . she wouldn't go to the restaurant. She didn't want to be there because she says every time I go there, they always want to talk to me, and I don't like talking to them." "She was giving them problems left and right. Because she wouldn't stay in her room, she would get up. Come out." "The violence was towards him as the primary caregiver." One participant said,

I thought it was just me. But when I talked to my sister, she's like, oh, no, she tells me the same way. So then she started blaming us, saying that we don't want her to be around her. But that was her mindset, that she was being ignored. Even though we were, we stepped up the times we were coming over.

Perceptions of COVID-19's Impact

Family member participants were asked about their feelings about other challenges. The impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on their experiences as family caregivers was paramount in their responses. They said that uncertainty about the virus and their loved ones' care contributed to additional stress and anxiety as family caregivers and that their caregiving roles had changed due to the pandemic. They found it frustrating because they were unable to determine the health status and condition of their loved ones because of restrictions imposed during the pandemic. They also felt that their loved ones may experience further decline. Most suggested that the experience with COVID-19 may have an impact on their loved ones in the future.

Participants discussed that as a caregiver that they experienced increased anxiety, stress and uncertainty because of the restrictions and precautions as a result of COVID-19. Most participants shared that not being able to visit and see their loved one was the most difficult. Their comments included the following: "When they closed the doors and would not let anybody in due to corona, we had to advocate for my mother . . . We have to see her. We went through a lot. That was an emotional time for us." "She didn't understand about the pandemic. She said we were making it up." "They said that she started leaving quarantine and going into other people's rooms." "It's just so overwhelming." "I was going every day until corona hit." "Prior to corona, I walked her She could walk a good distance with a walker." "That mental effect about this pandemic where you cannot see your relatives." "It's messing elderly people up because this is the phase of their life where they depend on their families."

Subquestion 3

The third subquestion focused on family member caregivers' thoughts about programs and services offered to older African American women to enhance the transition and adjustment into assisted living facilities. Their comments reflected a range of topics and experiences, including comments about efforts to support their loved one's quality of care by staying involved in their lives and their impressions of facility staff. They also offered insights on existing programs and services and how they could be improved.

Staying Involved to Support Loved One's Quality of Life

Family member participants expressed views about the quality of life of their loved ones' in the facility. They expressed that the transition was a challenging experience. One participant said, "It was tough at the beginning, then you feel a little better about moving her." Another participant said, "Your loved one is fighting emotions as much as you're fighting your emotions. I think. Another recalled, "She would call me periodically . . . And so then about a week after she was there and then she called. She [the facility director] said that you know, I think you guys need to come in." Other comments included: "Some of the issues that we kind of went into . . . just trying to move into a place where she would see people that look like her." "But sometimes when we place our loved ones, we feel okay. Our responsibility is over. Now it's someone else's responsibility . . . peace is really important with family members."

The participants felt that maintaining their loved one's quality of life continued to be their responsibility even though their loved ones were in assisted living facilities. They detailed their efforts to stay involved in supporting their loved ones' adjustments to the facilities and felt that these connections were essential to maintain the well-being and quality of life of their loved ones. Their comments included the following: "We'll take her . . . She loves to shop. She loves the spa. She loves nails . . . We make sure we took her to all those different places and kept her actively involved." "We pick her up for church that we belong [to], a Black church." "You could smell something sweet every time she went into her room. You know that I tried to make it so comfortable for her." "I think it's important . . . not just assume that what you have available is what they want." "Just having them realize your presence, it's huge. It goes a long way." "Unless I was out of town. I saw her every day. And I rarely went out on the town." "I believe she thought that it wasn't a hospital when it was actually like an apartment."

Impressions of Facility Staff and Care Provided by Staff

The participants shared their impressions of facility staff. Some members expressed concerns about the staff's ability to support and provide for the needs of their loved ones, reflected in the following comments: "There was just constant turnover in aides . . . with the aide turnover, who's training and who . . . some of that made it difficult." "You've got to let people know somebody is watching . . . My mother is very loved. There will always be someone there 24/7 if we need to be. One participant said, They did have this extensive form that you had to fill out. That form had a lot of

questions like their food likes and dislikes and activities they like to do. And what did they do when they were young . . . What were their interests . . . I guess they

could get to know the person . . . What I felt was extremely ridiculous was that the information was not shared with the aides.

Family caregivers implied that the quality of staff impacted the trust and confidence in the facility programs and services. Participants expressed that they felt the need to closely monitor the staff to ensure that their loved ones would receive what they needed as residents of the facility. Participants felt that communication with the staff was essential.

The participants discussed their perceptions, expectations, and preferences of the care staff and shared their feelings on which staff they felt most comfortable providing care to their loved ones. Their comments included: "There was it was a diverse group [staff]." "African descent . . . African Americans and White . . . they maneuvered and emotionally handled people. I appreciate the care that was given." "The aides are all African or Black, so they take care of them better . . . they braid my mom's hair. They know [to] take special care of my mom." "Staff did take care [of her]. I feel much more calm." One participant said,

They had a mixture of white and black taking care of people . . . My thing is I got to make sure she has lotion on her. I got to make sure she has Vaseline in the right spots . . . I got to make sure these things were happening.

Recommendations for Programs and Services

The participants shared their ideas about the facility programs and activities and offered their recommendations from the perspective of being a family member of an

African American older adult. The insights shared were to enhance facility services to better meet their loved ones' needs and their expectations as family member caregivers.

Embracing Inclusion and Diversity in Cultural Programs and Services. The participants' recommendations reflected their feelings about the importance of incorporating programs and activities that embrace inclusion and diversity and address individual needs. Their comments suggested that they would be more confident in the care and services if staff were more aware of their loved ones' cultural preferences. Their comments included the following: "Bible study . . . that's prominent in the Black community. They didn't have that . . . Having those things that are important to people culturally and individually. "Having family and friends events. I think providing opportunities for the family to get together, celebrating events and personal events, cultural events and all of that, and making sure it's fun." "Food, food. I'm just looking at this stuff, going 'What is this for?' More culturally diverse food."

Increased Knowledge of Assisted Living. The participants implied that family caregivers need more information about assisted living and aging services. Their comments suggested approaches that could better inform African American family caregivers on their options when exploring and considering assisted living facilities or aging services and included the following, "They think it's a nursing home when it's a nice environment that somebody could do well" and "I don't believe [Black] people know the [assisted living facility] system . . . I mentioned about having people go on tour to see if those cultural elements [were] kind of built-in or presented."

Intake/Assessment Process. The study participants recommended some initial approaches to capturing information about potential residents and family members before a move to a facility. Their comments included: "That person came and dealt with all the application and paperwork with us... I thought that it was important" and "[I] think as part of their intake, they should have conversations with the family and the potential resident. What is her cultural interest? What are things that she'd like? We didn't experience that."

Provide Resources for Family Caregivers. The participants suggested that having resources for themselves could help them manage the care of their loved ones. Furthermore, the participants suggested that these resources could help them with the adjustments and changes they experienced as family caregivers. Their comments reflected a need for family member support before and after the move: "Having resources, resources for [Black] family members to contact psychologically." "Educate some of these organizations that say that they're out there to help you, that would be helpful for people [family] who don't know what questions [to ask]." One family member suggested:

[A] helpline or something like that in case a family member has some questions about what their loved one is going through and they need to talk to someone might help a family member come to better terms with the situation.

The family members implied that cultural services and activities, education on assisted living facilities and the move-in/intake process, and resources for caregivers are elements to incorporate in services and programming for adjustment and support of both

families and older adults. These elements would promote a person- and family-centered approach to the programs and services in these facilities. Participants also recommended addressing cultural needs.

Summary

The assisted living transition experiences of family member caregivers of older African American women 75–95 years of age were detailed in Chapter 4. All participants shared their insights about the move to further the understanding of their experiences and perceptions during these transitions. Three themes emerged that highlighted the challenges faced by family members of older African American women transitioning into assisted living facilities. These findings may help to inform an assisted living transition framework that highlights issues arising from these transitions as well as overall themes of transition to support older African American women and their family member caregivers as they move into assisted living facilities. Chapter 5 is an interpretation of the findings. Also discussed are study limitations, implications for social change, recommendations for an assisted living transition framework, and considerations for further research.

Chapter 5: Discussion, Conclusions, and Recommendations

Aging services programs have evolved to address the growing senior population's needs and expectations (Rowe et al., 2016; Zimmerman et al., 2014). Exploring family member caregivers' needs and expectations is essential as they are actively involved in their older loved ones' care and support. Informal caregivers, including family members, take on significant responsibilities before moving older loved ones into senior living facilities (Coleman & Roman, 2015; Hudson & Gonyea, 2018). Eldercare options include home- and community-based services, independent living communities, assisted living facilities, and nursing homes (Rowe et al., 2016; Zimmerman et al., 2014). To support the needs expressed by older adults and their family member caregivers, assisted living facilities have become an alternative senior housing option to traditional independent living communities and nursing homes. These facilities provide program support with daily activities in a home-like environment for older adults who can no longer live at home or with family members but who do not need nursing care (Bischoff et al., 2017; Ramdin et al., 2018).

Studies addressing the lived experiences of family member caregivers of older African American women are few, which supported the present study's focus on exploring family member caregivers' impressions of the transitions to assisted living for African American women 75–95 years of age. Feminist theory supported this research, specifically Black feminist theory, which explores African American women's lived experiences (P. H. Collins, 2002; Cooper, 2015). For the present investigation, the case study approach captured in-depth details from family members on their thoughts and

feelings about the transition. The following central research question and subquestions guided the exploration of the family member caregivers' perceptions of these women as they transitioned into assisted living.

Central research question: What are the family member caregivers' experiences and perceptions about the assisted living transitions of older African American women?

Subquestion 1: What do the family members understand to be the events and circumstances leading up to the older African American woman's transition into an assisted living facility?

Subquestion 2: What are the family member caregivers' thoughts about the challenges older African American women face when transitioning to assisted living facilities?

Subquestion 3: What are the family member caregivers' thoughts about programs and services that could be offered to older African American women to enhance the transition and adjustment into assisted living facilities?

Data analysis concluded with identifying three categories and 10 subcategories that captured the highlights of a framework of issues of concern for family member transitions. Three themes also arose from exploring the experiences and perceptions of family member caregivers:

Theme 1: Transition is usually not well planned in advance and does not
happen until a critical event or incident occurs that changes the older adult's
physical, social, or emotional status. This is significant in the role of family
members in supporting the transition.

- Theme 2: The transition was more difficult than had been thought for older women and family members. Transition is a time of stress for both those moving and those supporting the move.
- Theme 3: The older adults expect family members to stay connected and
 involved after the transition. The family members may also have expectations
 of their playing a significant role in the new life of their loved ones in the
 assisted living facility.

In Chapter 5, I address the findings based on the themes identified and presented in Chapter 4, the study's limitations, recommendations for future studies, and implications for social change. I conclude by providing a summary of Chapter 5 and by summarizing the entire study.

Interpretation of Findings

Findings from this study reflect the experiences and perceptions of family member caregivers of older African American women who moved into assisted living facilities. The subcategories highlighted a framework of issues arising for family members supporting their loved ones' transitions. The following are interpretations of the three themes reflecting the transition experience:

Theme 1

The first identified theme was that the transition is not planned and does not happen until a critical event or incident occurs that changes the older adult's physical, social, or emotional status. The semistructured interviews with family member participants provided perspectives on the events and circumstances leading to the assisted

living transition, explicitly addressing concerns before the move, the decision to move, and the family member caregiver role. The family members shared that they delayed their actions because they felt obligated to keep their loved ones at home despite the changes in their loved ones. The participants discussed trying to manage care at home by engaging other relatives and hiring paid caregivers.

These findings support research conducted by Grigoryeva (2017), Santoro et al. (2016), and Pharr et al. (2014), which reflected the heavy burden of the caregiver role, especially for family members from different cultural backgrounds where the norm is to care for older loved ones at home. The participants stated that their sense of duty and obligation directed their decisions as caregivers. The family members expressed that they wanted to keep their relatives at home but realized that keeping them at home would not be good. These findings on the family caregiver role are similar to what Holroyd-Leduc et al. (2016) presented about family caregivers, stating that the care approach should be centered around older adults and family member caregivers as well. Holroyd-Leduc et al. (2016) suggested that the conceptual framework of the family-centric model of care should be implemented in various health care settings that support older adults and their families.

Participants in the present study confirmed that being a caregiver is difficult, especially with their loved ones' health declines. All participants shared that they felt significant pressure, anxiety, and stress as caregivers. Azzami et al. (2017), Li and Carter (2017), McCabe et al. (2016), and Redfoot et al. (2013) discussed the stress caregivers experience. However, they did not specifically address the heightened level of emotional

stress and guilt that family members of this group noted experiencing when dealing with their loved ones' health challenges and struggling with the fact that the move was necessary to address these changes. These researchers also did not specifically address the additional burdens that these family members experienced to adhere to filial duty and cultural expectations to care for their loved ones instead of placing them in facilities. The present study's findings illustrated how stress, guilt, and obligation delayed the transition despite the changes in their loved ones' physical, social, or emotional status.

Two participants discussed how family relationships impacted the transition experience. One participant said that there was resistance from other family members about the decision to move. Many participants commented on how involvement from other relatives varied, which resulted in their taking on additional caregiving responsibility. Some participants felt questioned, challenged, or judged by other family members about the decisions as caregivers. Qualls (2016) addressed these concerns in stating that care roles must be negotiated. For the present study's participants, difficulties in managing other family members' expectations appeared to also contribute to heightened levels of emotional stress and guilt. The participants implied that the judgment of other family members might have influenced why they delayed moving their loved ones.

The identified themes in the present study acknowledge that family caregivers' insights are essential. Family caregiver perceptions are meaningful because they are actively engaged in pretransition and posttransition care. The findings suggest that engaging family member caregivers before, during, and after these transitions can

provide support. Coleman and Roman (2015), who studied family caregivers' experiences when loved ones transitioned out of a hospital, shared guidance on how to structure a transition plan that includes family caregivers. The key elements included understanding the family members' transition expectations, clarifying caregiving roles during the transition, and acknowledging caregivers' feelings of stress and uncertainty during this time. Coleman and Roman suggested that since the insights of family members have not been fully addressed and acknowledged the need for more research. The present study's findings reflect this suggestion.

Theme 2

The second identified theme was that the transition was more difficult than had been thought for the older women and their families. The participants discussed their challenges by sharing details on their loved ones' initial adjustments. One participant stated that the loved one did not want to be around "old folks." Another participant said that her mother was "angry" about moving to the facility. Participants said that it was an emotional experience, especially after witnessing their loved ones' reactions. Family members expressed that because of their loved ones' health changes, the expectations to keep them at home and knowing that they had to move their relatives to ensure their well-being made the transition more difficult than had been thought. Some participants questioned their decisions about the move to the facility.

These findings reflect negative impressions about the transition, which conflicts with Gilbert et al. (2015), who suggested that the initial relocation experience of older

adults and their family members is positive. These researchers also suggested that involving the older adults can promote better transition experiences.

Because of the challenges they faced in these transitions, the comments from the caregivers in the present study did not reflect positive outcomes. All participants confirmed that they had to make prompt decisions to move their loved ones into the facility due to their relatives' changes in health status. They said that these moves were made without the involvement of relatives and, in some cases, without consent from their relatives. These findings conflict with Browning et al. (2014), T. Carney (2014), and Bunn et al. (2017), who discussed the supported decision-making model, which encourages the practice of having disabled or older individuals direct their life decisions with others (Administration for Community Living, 2015). The supported decision-making approach can be an option when appropriate, but, based on the present study's findings, incorporating this practice may be difficult. However, the study participants did not specifically share their observations about their loved one's decision-making capacities.

One participant expressed thoughts about the loved one's adjustment to the facility as an African American woman in commenting that "She was usually the only Black person . . . she's around a certain audience, she acts a certain way." The family member suggested that the loved one struggled with adjusting to the facility because she was the only Black resident in the facility. As previously noted, the present study's theoretical framework supported feminist theory, specifically Black feminist theory, which is used to examine African American women's experiences. The impressions

shared by this family member caregiver confirm what P. H. Collins (2002), Rousseau (2013), and Wells-Wilbon and Simpson (2009) said about the importance of understanding the experiences of Black women to confirm that their experiences are different. For the present study, the details shared by the family member caregivers were not to replace the accounting of the older women's lived experiences but instead to provide meaningful insights from the caregiver's perspective. These perceptions can help to inform an assisted living transition framework for older African American women moving into assisted living facilities.

The family member caregivers' observations suggested that their loved ones experienced adjustment issues because of race. Some participants indicated that because there were a limited number of Black residents in the facilities, their loved ones had difficulty adjusting, which resulted in their loved ones becoming withdrawn or socially isolated. These findings mirror what Kohn et al. (2016) and Park et al. (2013) said about attachment, social networks, and social interactions for ethnically diverse older adults in assisted living. These attributes may be indicators to promote quality of life for ethnically diverse older adults.

Comments from the present study's participants revealed that dementia and memory loss further challenged their loved ones' adjustment. One participant discussed interactions with the loved one by stating, "When I would strike up a conversation with her, it was gibberish . . . but then other times of the day, she was very clear-minded." Another family member said, "She seemed to do well at first, then the disease just kept

getting worse." Another participant stated, "She wouldn't stay in her room, she would get up. Come out . . . "

Despite the transition challenges, some of the family members felt a sense of relief. However, they were still concerned about how their loved ones with memory loss would adjust to the facility. Their comments reflected the emotional effects of changes in their loved ones. Day et al. (2014) stated that caring for a loved one with dementia or cognitive impairment can cause compassion fatigue in family member caregivers. The family members in the present study stated that they experienced stress, anxiety, and guilt and that these feelings continued even after their loved ones moved to the assisted living facilities.

Some family members shared their concerns related to COVID-19 pandemic and its effects on older people, especially those with chronic conditions and disease. The virus has specifically taken a toll on older adults in senior facilities, including assisted living (Bauchner & Fontanarosa, 2020; CDC, 2019). Three family members talked about how they felt about their experiences related to COVID-19. One participant said, "I was going every day until corona hit." Another participant said, "It's messing elderly people up because this is the phase of their life where they depend on their families." Another participant talked about how she would have been overwhelmed if her mother had lived during the pandemic. The family members' inability to visit, care, and interact with their loved ones as they did before the pandemic brought about increased levels of anxiety, trauma, and stress as caregivers, reflecting findings from Gallagher and Wetherell (2020) and Prime et al. (2020).

Theme 3

Theme 3 reflected older adults' expectations that family members stay connected and involved after the transition and that the family members may also have expectations of their playing a significant role in the new life of their loved ones in the assisted living facility. Overall, the study participants had positive but different impressions about their feelings after the transition. One participant said, "So it was tough at the beginning, then you feel a little better about moving her." Another participant said, "Our responsibility is over. Now it's someone else's responsibility." Most family caregivers stated that they felt obligated to be actively involved in their relative's care after the transition. As one participant put it, "You've got to let people know somebody is watching."

These findings are similar to what Wolff et al. (2016), Bauer and Sousa-Poza (2015), and Roth et al. (2015) said about the various elements of the caregiver role. However, these researchers did not explore the challenges facing caregivers when their loved ones are permanent residents of senior living facilities. Comments from the present study's participants implied that they still felt the need to continue their caregiving duties even with their loved ones officially no longer under their care. Filial obligation and responsibility influenced their need to continue taking an active role in their loved ones' care.

Three family members discussed their opinions of the programs and services that address culture. One participant talked about their loved one's concern about "being the only Black person." One participant suggested planning formal gatherings where residents and their family members can celebrate customs and traditions. Most

participants felt it would be good to incorporate culturally focused activities that would engage both older adults and family members. These findings reflect what Foronda et al. (2016), Hollinger-Smith (2016), and the American Geriatrics Society Ethnogeriatrics Committee (2016) stated about establishing cultural sensitivity in health care. The present study's findings suggest that incorporating culturally competent programs and services can encourage positive outcomes through informing staff on how to address adjustment issues, social isolation, and other factors for ethnically diverse older adults moving into senior care facilities. Staff could then take more comprehensive approaches to address these social elements.

The study participants also thought that including religious activities in facility services would provide opportunities for the family member and their loved ones to worship together in these facilities. One participant commented that supporting their relative's spiritual needs meant taking their loved one to a "Black" church to keep her socially and spiritually connected. The facility did not offer these activities. The participant said that these programs could help to maintain spiritual and community connections as part of the facility programs.

The findings on the spiritual needs of older African Americans confirm findings from Assari (2013), Collins and Hawkins (2015), and Taylor et al. (2013) on involvement in a church community or religious activities as part of African American culture. The findings further support Kohn et al. (2016) and Park et al. (2013), who identified attachment, social interactions, and social networks as quality of life indicators for diverse older adults in assisted living. Incorporating spiritual and religious programs in

these facilities may encourage better quality of life for family member caregivers and older African American women alike.

All of the study participants shared their perceptions of facility staff and how the facility teams provided care and services to their older relatives. The participants discussed the diversity of staff working in the facilities. One participant stated, "The aides are all African or Black." The family members commented that they would prefer staff who care for their loved ones be from a similar background or culture. The participants felt that these staff understood their loved ones' needs from a cultural perspective. These findings confirm the need for cultural competency training for all staff. Study outcomes also support Sorensen, Norredam, et al.'s (2017) and Sorensen, Jervelund, et al.'s (2017) findings that cultural competence training for health care professionals is a critical element in ensuring access to and quality of care for increasingly diverse populations. Incorporating cultural competency training as part of health care for all staff in assisted living facilities may provide family members a sense of relief in knowing that all staff are informed and understand the needs of their loved ones from a cultural perspective.

The present study's findings captured family caregivers' experiences with assisted living facility staff. Sorensen, Norredam, et al. (2017), Sorensen, Jervelund, et al. (2017), and Pillemer et al. (2018) discussed cultural competency with a different focus in their studies. Sorensen, Norredam, et al. and Sorensen, Jervelund, et al. discussed the importance of cultural competency training for health professionals to improve the delivery of care and services. They administrated a survey to health educators (e.g.,

medical and clinical teachers). Results suggested that these individuals agreed on the importance of cultural competency training. Pillemer et al. addressed cultural competency but in relation to cooperative communication among family members and assisted living staff members through the partners in care in assisted living. Similar to Sorensen, Norredam, et al., and Sorensen, Jervelund, et al., Pillemer et al. suggested that acknowledging and addressing cultural as well as environmental factors in long-term care settings can encourage better cooperation and communication among family members and staff. Findings presented by Pillemer et al. suggested the importance of understanding the cultural needs of older adults and their family members but more specifically on building a foundation to improve relationships among family members, staff, and older adults through training, conflict management and collaboration between these groups.

The study participants recommended that facility programs and services better support culturally diverse older adults and family caregivers. One participant suggested ideas for the intake process. This family member detailed a positive aspect of the intake process and indicated pleasure with the assessment, that the interview intended to get information to understand the older person's needs before moving to the facility. This participant felt that the intake interview was comprehensive and capture the loved one's preferences and needs. However, unfortunately, the information gathered during the intake did not get to the care staff.

The study participants' perceptions and recommendations in this area reflected what the American Geriatrics Society Expert Panel on Person-Centered Care (2016)

identified as elements to achieving a comprehensive approach to implementing personcentered care. This approach includes exploring and understanding the person's
preferences and expectations, adhering to ongoing review of the plan, consistent
coordination with providers, and training of care providers and others involved in the
care. In summary, the findings in this area suggest that establishing strong relations and
communication with family caregivers; incorporating a person-centered approach to care;
and providing resources before, during, and after the transition could encourage better
outcomes and adjustments for the older women and their family caregivers.

Limitations of the Study

This study's limitations largely reflect the methodology chosen to conduct it. The family members of older African American women in this study provided meaningful and valuable information about their assisted living transition experience. Identifying family member caregivers for the research was sufficient and appropriate for addressing the knowledge gap identified in Chapter 2. Malterud et al. (2015) stated that "Tools to guide sample size should not rely on procedures from a specific analysis method, but rest on shared methodological principles for estimating an adequate number of units, events, or participants" (p. 2). However, the small sample size of four participants makes it difficult to generalize the findings despite the family members' in-depth information about their transition experiences. Tsang (2014) stated that "The case study as a critical research method has often been criticized for generating results that are less generalizable than those of large-sample" (p. 369). Robust and meaningful data were captured from the family member participants in this study; however, as noted, the small sample size limits

generalizability. This limitation suggests future studies with a larger sample size of seven to 10 participants to further explore the perceptions of family member caregivers.

This study was conducted from the family members' perspectives, and it reflects their experiences and opinions about these transitions. The data collected during the interview sessions with the participants could reflect potential bias, including false memories or overstatement about the transition experience due to the emotional stress and burden family caregivers face during the time of transition (see Smith & Noble, 2014).

Recommendations for Future Research

The themes that emerged from this study provided insights from family member caregivers. A multiple case study approach was used to elicit these themes. The themes reflect the family member caregivers' assisted living transition impressions, which detailed the events and incidents, the transition's difficulty, and family expectations as caregivers after moving to the facility. The strength of this study is that the family members' assisted living perceptions provided in-depth information about the transition or move to assisted living facilities. The increase in the older population will bring social, economic, and cultural implications that health professionals and practitioners will need to address as they care for a diverse and older aging adult population and their families in assisted living settings (Viveiros & Brennan, 2014). Professionals will need to be prepared to acknowledge, support, and address this population's health, social, and cultural needs in order to encourage adjustment for older adults and their family member caregivers.

The present study's limitations included its small sample size and potential bias in recounting the participants' transition experiences. Recommendations for future studies include expanding research on this topic by using a multiple case study approach with a larger participant size of seven to 10 family member caregivers to further the understanding of the experiences of the family member caregivers of older African American women moving into assisted living. Additional studies may provide more awareness about the group to better inform aging and health care professionals in developing comprehensive transition frameworks to support these older adults and their family members before, during, and after the move, as suggested by Martínez-Alcalá et al. (2018). The framework could promote better experiences and adjustments for older adults and their family caregivers.

This study's focus was on understand the assisted living transition perspectives of family caregivers. I sought to understand the experiences from the family members' viewpoints. In Chapter 2, I evaluated research that addressed family member caregiver roles, the quality of life and diversity in assisted living, successful aging, social isolation, health perceptions, and cultural competence. What the family members shared about their experiences, including events and incidents leading up to the transitions, difficulties making these transitions, and the family's expectations of them as caregivers of their loved ones reflected findings in the literature I reviewed. Still, research needs to continue on the thoughts and impressions of family caregivers. More information may help health care professionals develop assisted living transition frameworks that will promote ongoing engagement of family caregivers before, during, and after their loved ones'

moves and that may also reflect findings from Carbonneau et al. (2010) and Fazio et al. (2018). Future research should also focus on resources and programs for family caregivers of older African American women who have cognitive impairments, dementia, or Alzheimer's disease. Researchers should consider cultural norms and family relationships in the African American culture as part of their evaluation of these programs and resources.

Implications for Social Change

Findings from this study reflect the impressions of family member caregivers of older African American women who assisted these women as they transitioned into senior living facilities. Family member participants identified events and incidents that prompted quick actions to ensure their loved ones' safety and well-being. The move was more difficult than thought for both the older woman and the family caregiver, reflecting findings from Alpert and Womble (2015). Family caregivers stayed connected and involved after these transitions, which reflected African American cultural norms and expectations that emphasize caring for their elders no matter what. These findings could contribute to social change by informing the development of more culturally sensitive assisted living transition frameworks to support older African American women and their family member caregivers. Understanding physical and psychological health, social, and cultural factors identified by such researchers as Dauvrin and Lorant (2015), McCabe et al. (2016), Sorensen, Norredam, et al. (2017), and Sorensen, Jervelund, et al. (2017) collectively in a comprehensive assessment can inform an assisted living transition framework that may enhance programs and services for this group and their family

member caregivers. Training initiatives that address cultural competence, health, and social factors may provide opportunities for aging services and health professionals in assisted living to facilitate better assessment and evaluation processes that meet this group's specific needs, as reflected in Baker et al. (2015) and Phillips et al. (2017). As part of my ongoing work in this field, I plan to share this study's results with aging services and health care professionals and share my expertise with local and national health care organizations and peer-reviewed journals that support research on older African American women and their family member caregivers.

Conclusion

The experiences and perceptions of family member caregivers of older African American women who transitioned into assisted living were detailed in this study. The objective was to understand how immediate family members experienced the transition of older African American women as they moved into assisted living facilities in order to begin to identify a framework that might be useful for human services practitioners.

Interview data were collected from four adult children family caregivers who facilitated the move. Black feminist theory provided a theoretical framework. This study's findings provide awareness and understanding of the family caregivers' experience during the assisted living and have implications for social change. Aging services and health care professionals can use the information to inform and develop a framework to support older African American women and their family member caregivers moving into senior living facilities. Findings from this study also contributed to the limited research on family member caregivers' lived experiences as they transition their older loved ones. More

research will be needed to explore the experiences of this group. Family caregivers' impressions and thoughts are valuable because professionals can incorporate this information into efforts to promote better transition for both family caregivers and their older loved ones.

The central research question for the study focused on family members' experiences and perceptions regarding assisted living transitions for older African American women. Three themes emerged from the content analysis:

- Theme 1: Transition is usually not well planned in advance and does not
 happen until a critical event or incident occurs that changes the older adult's
 physical, social, or emotional status. This is significant in the role of family
 members in supporting the transition.
- Theme 2: The transition was more difficult than had been thought for older women and family members. Transition is a time of stress for both those moving and those supporting the move.
- Theme 3: The older adults expect family members to stay connected and
 involved after the transition. The family members may also have expectations
 of their playing a significant role in the new life of their loved ones in the
 assisted living facility.

Chapter 5's recommendations for social change align with person-centered approaches in aging services (Molony et al., 2018; Wilberforce et al., 2016). In the years ahead, aging services professionals will be working with more diverse groups of older adults and their family member caregivers, which, as Beard and Bloom (2015) also noted,

confirms the essential need for a comprehensive transition framework. Such a framework could empower assisted living service providers to better address older African American women and their family caregivers' specific needs and expectations. Eaton et al. (2015) stated that "Focusing on policy and culture is unlikely to lead to change unless there are practical approaches that clinical teams can understand and implement" (p. 2). These practical approaches were reflected in the experiences and perceptions of older African American women's family caregivers as these women age and move into senior living facilities.

References

- Aazami, S., Shamsuddin, K., & Akmal, S. (2017). Assessment of work–family conflict among women of the sandwich generation. *Journal of Adult Development*, 25(2), 135–140. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10804-017-9276-7
- Abrahamson, K., Bradley, D. B., Morgan, K. H., Fulton, B. R., & Ibrahimou, B. (2013).

 Influence of satisfaction with services on assisted living resident satisfaction.

 Journal of Housing for the Elderly, 27(1–2), 177–190.

 https://doi.org/10.1080/02763893.2012.754821
- Administration for Community Living. (n.d). A statistical profile of older African

 Americans. U.S. Department of Health and Human Services.

 https://acl.gov/sites/default/files/Aging%20and%20Disability%20in%20America/Statistical-Profile-Older-African-Ameri.pdf
- Administration for Community Living. (2015). Preserving the right to self-determination:

 Supported decision-making [Press release]. U.S. Department of Health and

 Human Services. https://acl.gov/news-and-events/acl-blog/preserving-right-self-determination-supported-decision-making
- Administration for Community Living. (2019). *Minority aging*. U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. https://acl.gov/aging-and-disability-in-america/data-and-research/minority-aging
- Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality (n.d.). *Participant recruitment for research*.

 U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. https://digital.ahrq.gov/ahrq-funded-projects/emerging-lessons/participant-recruitment-research

- Agom, D., Poole, H., Allen, S., Onyeka, T., & Ominyi, J. (2019). Understanding the organization of hospital-based palliative care in a Nigerian hospital: An ethnographic study. *Indian Journal of Palliative Care*, 25(2), 218–223. https://doi.org/10.4103/IJPC.IJPC_12_19
- Alizadeh, S., & Chavan, M. (2016). Cultural competence dimensions and outcomes: A systematic review of the literature. *Health & Social Care in the Community*, 24(6), e117–e130. https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/full/10.1111/hsc.12293
- Alpert, J. M., & Womble, F. E. (2015). Coping as a caregiver for an elderly family member. *Health Communication*, 30(7), 714–721.

 https://doi.org/10.1080/10410236.2013.879560
- American Geriatrics Society Ethnogeriatrics Committee. (2016). Achieving high-quality multicultural geriatric care. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society*, 64(2), 255–260. https://doi.org/10.1111/jgs.13924
- American Geriatrics Society Expert Panel on Person-Centered Care (2016). Person-centered care: A definition and essential elements. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society*, 64(1), 15–18. https://doi.org/10.1111/jgs.13866
- Anderson, B. (2015). The F-word: Do we still need feminism in 2016. *ESSAI*, 13, Article 8. https://dc.cod.edu/essai/vol13/iss1/8
- Anney, V. N. (2014). Ensuring the quality of the findings of qualitative research:

 Looking at trustworthiness criteria. *Journal of Emerging Trends in Educational Research and Policy Studies*, 5(2), 272–281.

- Arsel, Z. (2017). Asking questions with reflexive focus: A tutorial on designing and conducting interviews. *Journal of Consumer Research*, *44*(4), 939–948. https://doi.org/10.1093/jcr/ucx096
- Ashley, W. (2014). The angry Black woman: The impact of pejorative stereotypes on psychotherapy with Black women. *Social Work in Public Health*, 29(1), 27–34. https://doi.org/10.1080/19371918.2011.619449
- Assari, S. (2013). Race and ethnicity, religion involvement, church-based social support, and subjective health in United States: A case of moderated mediation.

 International Journal of Preventive Medicine, 4(2), 208–217.

 https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC3604855/
- Bagwell, D. K. (2019). Assisted living facilities. In B. C. Auday, G. College, M. A. Buratovich, G. F. Harrocco, & P. Moglia (Eds.), *Magill's Medical Guide* (2019 Online Edition). Salem Press.
- Baker, T. A., Buchanan, N. T., Mingo, C. A., Roker, R., & Brown, C. S. (2015).

 Reconceptualizing successful aging among Black women and the relevance of the strong Black woman archetype. *The Gerontologist*, *55*(1), 51–57.

 https://academic.oup.com/gerontologist/article/55/1/51/575570
- Baldwin, P., Donahue, K., Flynn, A., Herbert, C., & Jeunesse, E. L. (2014). *Housing America's older adults: Meeting the needs of an aging population*. Joint Center for Housing Studies of Harvard University.

 http://www.jchs.harvard.edu/research/housing_americas_older_adults

- Band-Winterstein, T. (2015). Health care provision for older persons: The interplay between ageism and elder neglect. *Journal of Applied Gerontology*, *34*(3), NP113–NP127. https://doi.org/10.1177/0733464812475308
- Bauchner, H., & Fontanarosa, P. (2020). Thinking of risk in the era of COVID-19. *JAMA*, 324(2), 151–153. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2020.10242
- Bauer, J. M., & Sousa-Poza, A. (2015). Impacts of informal caregiving on caregiver employment, health, and family. *Journal of Population Ageing*, 8(3), 113–145. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12062-015-9116-0
- Beard, J. R., & Bloom, D. E. (2015). Towards a comprehensive public health response to population ageing. *The Lancet*, *385*(9968), 658–661. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(14)61461-6
- Beard, J. R., Officer, A., de Carvalho, I. A., Sadana, R., Pot, A. M., Michel, J. P., Lloyd-Sherlock, P., Epping-Jordan, J. E., Geeske Peeters, G. M. E. E., Mahanani, W. R., Thiyagarajan, J. A., & Chatterji, S. (2016). The World report on ageing and health: A policy framework for healthy ageing. *The Lancet*, 387(10033), 2145–2154. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(15)00516-4.
- Belgrave, F. Z., & Abrams, J. A. (2016). Reducing disparities and achieving equity in African American women's health. *American Psychologist*, 71(8), 723–733. https://doi.org/10.1037/amp0000081
- Birt, L., Scott, S., Cavers, D., Campbell, C., & Walter, F. (2016). Member checking: A tool to enhance trustworthiness or merely a nod to validation? *Qualitative Health Research*, 26(13), 1802–1811. https://doi.org/10.1177/1049732316654870

- Bischoff, J., Timmer, K., Walton, C., White, C., & Zulkowski, K. (2017). Perspectives of the ideal assisted living facilities from Depression Era nurses. *Online Journal of Rural Nursing and Health Care*, 2(2), 54–66.

 http://www.biomedsearch.com/article/Perspectives-ideal-assisted-living-facilities/174057636.html
- Black, K., Dobbs, D., & Young, T. L. (2012). Aging in community mobilizing a new paradigm of older adults as a core social resource. *Journal of Applied Gerontology*, 34(2), 219–243. https://doi.org/10.1177/0733464812463984
- Blair, E. (2015). A reflexive exploration of two qualitative data coding techniques.

 **Journal of Methods and Measurement in the Social Sciences, 6(1), 14–29.

 https://doi.org/10.2458/v6i1.18772
- Blanck, P., & Martinis, J. G. (2015). "The right to make choices": The National Resource Center for Supported Decision-Making. *Inclusion*, *3*(1), 24–33. https://doi.org/10.1352/2326-6988-3.1.24
- Bloom, D. E., Chatterji, S., Kowal, P., Lloyd-Sherlock, P., McKee, M., Rechel, B., & Smith, J. P. (2015). Macroeconomic implications of population ageing and selected policy responses. *The Lancet*, *385*(9968), 649–657.

 https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(14)61464-1
- Brown, C. S., Baker, T. A., Mingo, C. A., Harden, J. T., Whitfield, D., Aiken-Morgan, A. T., & Washington, T. (2014). A review of our roots: Blacks in gerontology. *The Gerontologist*, *51*(1), 108–116. https://doi.org/10.1093%2Fgeront%2Fgnt103

- Browning, M., Bigby, C., & Douglas, J. (2014). Supported decision making:

 Understanding how its conceptual link to legal capacity is influencing the development of practice. *Research and Practice in Intellectual and Developmental Disabilities*, *1*(1), 34–45.

 https://doi.org/10.1080/23297018.2014.902726
- Brown, C. S., Baker, T. A., Mingo, C. A., Harden, J. T., Whitfield, K., Aiken-Morgan, A. T., & Washington, T. (2013). A review of our roots: Blacks in gerontology. *The Gerontologist*, *54*(1), 108–116. https://doi.org/10.1093/geront/gnt103
- Bunn, F., Goodman C., Manthorpe, Durand, M., Hodkinson, I., Rait, G., Millac, P., Davies, S., Russell, B., & Wilson, P. (2017). Supported shared decision-making for older people with multiple health and social care needs: A protocol for a realist synthesis to inform integrated care models. *BMJ Open*, 7(2), e014026. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-2016-014026
- Čanković, S., Ač-Nikolić, E., Mijatović-Jovanović, V., Kvrgić, S., Harhaji, S., & Radić, I. (2016). Quality of life of elderly people living in a retirement home.

 Vojnosanitetski Pregled, 73(1), 42–46. https://doi.org/10.2298/VSP131205126C
- Carbonneau, H., Caron, C., & Desrosiers, J. (2010). Development of a conceptual framework of positive aspects of caregiving in dementia. *Dementia*, 9(3), 327–353. https://doi.org/10.1177/1471301210375316
- Carder, P., O'Keeffe, J., & O'Keeffe, C. (2015). Compendium of residential care and assisted living regulations and policy: 2015 edition. U.S. Department of Health & Human Services.

- Carolan, C. M., Forbat, L., & Smith, A. (2016). Developing the DESCARTE model: The design of case study research in health care. *Qualitative Health Research*, 26(5), 626–639. https://doi.org/10.1177/1049732315602488
- Carney, M. T., Fujiwara, J., Emmert, B. E., Liberman, T. A., & Paris, B. (2016). Elder orphans hiding in plain sight: A growing vulnerable population. *Current Gerontology and Geriatrics Research*, 2016, Article 4723250. https://doi.org/10.1155/2016/4723250
- Carney, T. (2014). Clarifying, operationalizing, and evaluating supported decision making models. *Research and Practice in Intellectual and Developmental Disabilities*, *I*(1), 46–50. https://doi.org/10.1080/23297018.2014.902727
- Carroll, J., & Qualls, S. H. (2014). Moving into senior housing: Adapting the old, embracing the new. *Generations*, 38(1), 42–47.
- Castillo-Montoya, M. (2016). Preparing for interview research: The interview protocol refinement framework. *The Qualitative Report*, 21(5), 811–831. https://nsuworks.nova.edu/tqr/vol21/iss5/2/
- Cené, C. W., Dilworth-Anderson, P., Leng, I., Garcia, L., Benavente, V., Rosal, M., & Bell, C. L. (2016). Correlates of successful aging in racial and ethnic minority women age 80 years and older: Findings from the Women's Health Initiative.

 **Journals of Gerontology Series A: Biomedical Sciences and Medical Sciences, 71(Suppl. 1), S87–S99.

https://academic.oup.com/biomedgerontology/article/71/Suppl 1/S87/2605403

- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2013). *The state of aging and health in America 2013*. https://www.cdc.gov/aging/pdf/state-aging-health-in-america-2013.pdf
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2019). *About COVID-19*. https://www.cdc.gov/coronavirus/2019-ncov/cdcresponse/about-COVID-19.html
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2020). Considerations for retirement communities and independent living facilities.

 https://www.cdc.gov/coronavirus/2019-ncov/community/retirement/guidance-retirement-response.html
- Chatterji, S., Byles, J., Cutler, D., Seeman, T., & Verdes, E. (2015). Health, functioning and disability in older adults—Current status and future implications. *The Lancet*, 385(9967), 563–575. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(14)61462-8
- Chrisler, J. C., Barney, A., & Palatino, B. (2016). Ageism can be hazardous to women's health: Ageism, sexism, and stereotypes of older women in the healthcare system.

 Journal of Social Issues, 72(1), 86–104. https://doi.org/10.1111/josi.12157
- Clark, K. R., & Vealé, B. L. (2018). Strategies to enhance data collection and analysis in qualitative research. *Radiologic Technology*, 89(5), 482CT–485CT.
- Clarke, J. L., Bourn, S., Skoufalos, A., Beck, E. H., & Castillo, D. J. (2017). An innovative approach to health care delivery for patients with chronic conditions.

 Population Health Management, 20(1), 23–30.

 https://doi.org/10.1089/pop.2016.0076

- Coleman, E. A., & Roman, S. P. (2015). Family caregivers' experiences during transitions out of hospital. *Journal for Healthcare Quality*, *37*(1), 12–21. https://doi.org/10.1097/01.JHQ.0000460117.83437.b3
- Connelly, L. M. (2016). Trustworthiness in qualitative research. *Medsurg Nursing*, 25(6), 435–437.
- Conner, N. E., & Chase, S. K. (2015). Decisions and caregiving: End of life among Blacks from the perspective of informal caregivers and decision makers.

 American Journal of Hospice and Palliative Medicine, 32(4), 454–463.

 https://doi.org/10.1177/1049909114529013
- Cooper, B. C. (2015). Love no limit: Towards a Black feminist future (in theory). *Black Scholar*, 45(4), 7–21. https://doi.org/10.1080/00064246.2015.1080912
- Couture, A. L., Zaidi, A. U., & Maticka-Tyndale, E. (2012). Reflexive accounts: An intersectional approach to exploring the fluidity of insider/outsider status and the researcher's impact on culturally sensitive post-positivist qualitative research.

 Qualitative Sociology Review, 3(1), 86–104.
- Collins, P. H. (2002). Black feminist thought: Knowledge, consciousness, and the politics of empowerment. Routledge
- Collins, W. L., & Hawkins, A. D. (2016). Supporting caregivers who care for African American elders: A pastoral perspective. *Social Work and Christianity*, *43*(4), 85–103.

- Courtin, E., & Knapp, M. (2017). Social isolation, loneliness, and health in old age: A scoping review. *Health & Social Care in the Community*, 25(3), 799–812. https://doi.org/10.1111/hsc.12311
- Cowlishaw, S., Niele, S., Teshuva, K., Browning, C., & Kendig, H. (2013). Older adults' spirituality and life satisfaction: A longitudinal test of social support and sense of coherence as mediating mechanisms. *Ageing & Society*, *33*(7), 1243–1262. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0144686X12000633
- Daniel, B. K. (2018). Empirical verification of the "TACT" framework for teaching rigour in qualitative research methodology. *Qualitative Research Journal*, 18(3), 262–275. https://doi.org/10.1108/QRJ-D-17-00012
- Danso, R. (2018). Cultural competence and cultural humility: A critical reflection on key cultural diversity concepts. *Journal of Social Work*, *18*(4), 410–430. https://doi.org/10.1177/1468017316654341
- Day, J. R., Anderson, R. A., & Davis, L. L. (2014). Compassion fatigue in adult daughter caregivers of a parent with dementia. *Issues in Mental Health Nursing*, *35*(10), 796–804. https://doi.org/10.3109/01612840.2014.917133
- de Heer, G., Saugel, B., Sensen, B., Rübsteck, C., Pinnschmidt, H. O., & Kluge, S. (2017). Advance directives and powers of attorney in intensive care patients.

- Deutsches Arzteblatt International, 114, 363–370. https://doi.org/10.3238/arztebl.2017.0363
- Dellenborg, L., Wikström, E., & Andersson Erichsen, A. (2019). Factors that may promote the learning of person-centred care: An ethnographic study of an implementation programme for healthcare professionals in a medical emergency ward in Sweden. *Advances in Health Sciences Education: Theory and Practice*, 24(2), 353–381. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10459-018-09869-y
- DeMartino, E. S., Dudzinski, D. M., Doyle, C. K., Sperry, B. P., Gregory, S. E., Siegler, M. D., Sulmasy, D. P., Mueller, P. S., & Kramer, D. B. (2017). Who decides when a patient can't? Statutes on alternate decision makers. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 376, 1478–1482. https://doi.org/10.1056%2FNEJMms1611497
- Desin, P. J., Caban-Holt, A. M., Abner, E. L., Van Eldik, L. J., & Schmidt, F. A. (2016).
 Factors associated with unmet needs of African American dementia care
 providers. *Journal of Gerontology & Geriatric Research*, 5(1), 267.
 https://doi.org/10.4172/2167-7182.1000267
- Diwan, S. (2017). The color of aging and health care in the United States. *The Gerontologist*, 57(4), 804–805. https://doi.org/10.1093/geront/gnx086
- Douglas, M. K., Rosenkoetter, M., Pacquiao, D. F., Callister, L. C., Hattar-Pollara, M., Lauderdale, J., & Purnell, L. (2014). Guidelines for implementing culturally competent nursing care. *Journal of Transcultural Nursing*, 25(2), 109–121. https://doi.org/10.1177/1043659614520998

- Eaton, S., Roberts, S., & Turner, B. (2015). Delivering person centered care in long term conditions. *BMJ*, *350*, h181. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.h181
- Epps, F., Rose, K. M., & Ruth, P. L. (2019). Who's your family? African American caregivers of older adults with dementia. *Research in Gerontological Nursing*, 12(1), 20–26. https://doi.org/10.3928/19404921-20181212-04
- Epstein, C. F. (2008). Reflections on women and the law in the USA. *International Social Science Journal*, 59(191), 17–26. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1468-2451.2009.00674.x
- Evans, K. L., Millsteed, J., Richmond, J. E., Falkmer, M., Falkmer, T., & Girdler, S. J. (2018). The impact of within and between role experiences on role balance outcomes for working sandwich generation women. *Scandinavian Journal of Occupational Therapy*, 26(3), 1–10.

 https://doi.org/10.1080/11038128.2018.1449888
- Fallon, A., Dukelow, T., Kennelly, S. P., & O'Neill, D. (2020). COVID-19 in nursing homes. *QJM: An International Journal of Medicine*, *113*(6), 39—392. https://doi.org/10.1093/qjmed/hcaa136
- Fazio, S., Pace, D., Flinner, J., & Kallmyer, B. (2018). The fundamentals of person-centered care for individuals with dementia. *The Gerontologist*, *58*(Suppl. 1), S10–S19. https://doi.org/10.1093/geront/gnx122
- Feinberg, L. F., & Levine, C. (2015). Family caregiving: Looking to the future. *Generations*, 39(4), 11–20.

- Fernández-Mayoralas, G., Rojo-Pérez, F., Martínez-Martín, P., Prieto-Flores, M. E., Rodríguez-Blázquez, C., Martín-García, S., Rojo-Abuín, J.-M., Forjaz, M.-J., & Spanish Research Group on Quality of Life and Ageing. (2015). Active ageing and quality of life: Factors associated with participation in leisure activities among institutionalized older adults, with and without dementia. *Aging & Mental Health*, *19*(11), 1031–1041. https://doi.org/10.1080/13607863.2014.996734
- Fetherstonhaugh, D., McAuliffe, L., Bauer, M., & Shanley, C. (2017). Decision-making on behalf of people living with dementia: how do surrogate decision-makers decide? *Journal of Medical Ethics*, 43(1), 35–40.

 https://doi.org/10.1136/medethics-2015-103301
- Fields, L. M., & Calvert, J. D. (2015). Informed consent procedures with cognitively impaired patients: A review of ethics and best practices. *Psychiatry and Clinical Neurosciences*, 69(8), 462–471. https://doi.org/10.1111/pcn.12289
- Fields, N. L., Koenig, T., & Dabelko-Schoeny, H. (2012). Resident transitions to assisted living: A role for social workers. *Health & Social Work*, *37*(3), 147–154. https://doi.org/10.1093/hsw/hls020
- Fitzsimmons, S. (2018). Engagement, advocacy, empowerment, and inclusion: A review of Patricia Leavy and Anne Harris's Contemporary Feminist Research from Theory to Practice. *The Qualitative Report*, 23(12), 3157–3160. https://nsuworks.nova.edu/tqr/vol23/iss12/20

- Flynn, E., & Arstein-Kerslake, A. (2014). Legislating personhood: Realising the right to support in exercising legal capacity. *International Journal of Law in Context*, 10(1), 1–57. https://doi.org/10.1017/S1744552313000384
- Foronda, C., Baptiste, D. L., Reinholdt, M. M., & Ousman, K. (2016). Cultural humility:

 A concept analysis. *Journal of Transcultural Nursing*, 27(3), 210–217.

 https://doi.org/10.1177/1043659615592677
- Freedman, V. A., & Spillman, B. C. (2014). Disability and care needs among older

 Americans. *Milbank Quarterly*, 92(3), 509–541. https://doi.org/10.1111/1468-0009.12076
- Freedman V. A., & Spillman, B. C. (2016). Active life expectancy in the older US population, 1982–2011: Differences between Blacks and Whites persisted. *Health Affairs*, 35(8), 1351–1358. https://doi.org/10.1377/hlthaff.2015.1247
- Freeman, S., Bishop, K., Spirgiene, L., Koopmans, E., Botelho, F. C., Fyfe, T., Xiong, B., Patchett, S., & MacLeod, M. (2017). Factors affecting residents transition from long term care facilities to the community: A scoping review. *BMC Health Services Research*, 17, Article 689. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12913-017-2571-y
- Gallagher, S., & Wetherell, M. (2020). Risk of depression in family caregivers:

 Unintended consequence of COVID-19. *MedRχiv*.

 https://doi.org/10.1101/2020.06.15.20131532
- García, J. D. (2020). Black feminism. Salem press encyclopedia. Salem Press.

- Gilbert, S., Amella, E., Edlund, B., & Nemeth, L. (2015). Making the move: A mixed research integrative review. *Healthcare*, *3*(3), 757–774. https://doi.org/10.3390/healthcare3030757
- Gimm, G., Kitsantas, P., Cantiello, J., & Carle, A. (2014). Resident characteristics and chronic health conditions in assisted living communities. *Seniors Housing & Care Journal*, 22(1), 82–96.
- Girling, L. M., & Morgan, L. A. (2014). Older women discuss planning for future care needs: An explanatory framework. *Journal of Aging and Health*, 26(5), 724–749. https://doi.org/10.1177/0898264314529330
- Glaser, B. G. (2016). Open coding descriptions. *Grounded Theory Review*, *15*(2), 108–110. http://groundedtheoryreview.com/2016/12/19/open-coding-descriptions/
- Grabovschi, C., Loignon, C., & Fortin, M. (2013). Mapping the concept of vulnerability related to health care disparities: A scoping review. *BMC Health Services**Research, 13(1), Article 94. https://doi.org/10.1186/1472-6963-13-94
- Grabowski, D. C., Stevenson, D. G., & Cornell, P. Y. (2012). Assisted living expansion and the market for nursing home care. *Health Services Research*, 47(6), 2296–2315. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1475-6773.2012.01425.x
- Graneheim, U. H., Lindgren, B. M., & Lundman, B. (2017). Methodological challenges in qualitative content analysis: A discussion paper. *Nurse Education Today*, *56*, 29–34. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nedt.2017.06.002

- Gray, T. F., Nolan, M. T., Clayman, M. L., & Wenzel, J. A. (2019). The decision partner in healthcare decision-making: A concept analysis. *International Journal of Nursing Studies*, 92, 79–89. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijnurstu.2019.01.006
- Grigoryeva, A. (2017). Own gender, sibling's gender, parent's gender: The division of elderly parent care among adult children. *American Sociological Review*, 82(1), 116–146. https://doi.org/10.1177/0003122416686521
- Gustafsson, J. T. (2017). Single case studies vs. multiple case studies: A comparative study. DIVA. http://www.diva-portal.org/smash/get/diva2:1064378/FULLTEXT01.pdf
- Hadidi, N., Lindquist, R., Treat-Jacobson, D., & Swanson, P. (2013). Participant withdrawal: Challenges and practical solutions for recruitment and retention in clinical trials. *Creative Nursing*, 19(1), 37–41. https://doi.org/10.1891/1078-4535.19.1.37
- Han, K., Trinkoff, A. M, Storr, C. L., Lerner, N., & Yang, B. K. (2017). Variations across
 U.S. assisted living facilities: Admissions, resident care needs, and staffing.
 Journal of Nursing Scholarship, 49(1), 24–32.
- Hansen, B. R., Hodgson, N. A., & Gitlin, L. N. (2016). It's a matter of trust: Older

 African Americans speak about their health care encounters. *Journal of Applied Gerontology*, 35(10), 1058–1076. https://doi.org/10.1177/0733464815570662
- Harmon, A. (2018). Vulnerable populations. Salem press encyclopedia. Salem Press.
- Harper, S. (2014). Economic and social implications of aging societies. *Science*, 346(6209), 587–591. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1254405

- Harrison, H., Birks, M., Franklin, R., & Mills, J. (2017). Case study research:

 Foundations and methodological orientations. *Forum Qualitative Socialforschung/Forum: Qualitative Social Research*, *18*(1), Article 19. https://researchonline.jcu.edu.au/47422/1/47422_Birks_2017.pdf
- Harvey, I. S., Story, C. R., Knutson, D., & Whitt-Glover, M. C. (2016). Exploring the relationship of religiosity, religious support, and social support among African American women in a physical activity intervention program. *Journal of Religion and Health*, 55(2), 295–509. https://doi.org/10.1007%2Fs10943-015-0017-6
- Hawley, S. T., & Morris, A. M. (2017). Cultural challenges to engaging patients in shared decision making. *Patient Education and Counseling*, 100(1), 18–24.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pec.2016.07.008
- Heale. R., & Twycross, A. (2018). What is a case study? *Evidence-Based Nursing*, 21(1), 7–8. https://doi.org/10.1136/eb-2017-102845
- Hedman, M., Häggström, E., Mamhidir, A.-G., & Pöder, U. (2017). Caring in nursing homes to promote autonomy and participation. *Nursing Ethics*, 26(1), 280–292. https://doi.org/10.1177/0969733017703698
- Heid, A. R., Zarit, S. H., & Van Haitsma, K. (2016). Older adults' influence in family care: How do daughters and aging parents navigate differences in care goals?

 Aging & Mental Health, 20(1), 46–55.

https://doi.org/10.1080/13607863.2015.1049117

- Hernandez, M. (2012). Disparities in assisted living: Does it meet the HCBS test?

 Generations, 36(1), 118–124.

 http://web.pdx.edu/~nwallace/AHP/Hernandez2012.pdf
- Hilal, A. H., & Alabri, S. S. (2013). Using NVivo for data analysis in qualitative research. *International Interdisciplinary Journal of Education*, 2(2), 181–186. https://doi.org/10.12816/0002914
- Hillcoat-Nallétamby, S. (2014). The meaning of "independence" for older people in different residential settings. *The Journals of Gerontology: Series B*, 69(3), 419–430. https://doi.org/10.1093/geronb/gbu008
- Hollinger-Smith, L. (2016). *Diversity & cultural competency in health care settings*.

 eCALD. https://www.ecald.com/assets/Resources/Assets/Diversity-and-Cultural-Competency.pdf
- Hollis-Sawyer, L. (2017). Examining women's aging through a feminist advocacy perspective. *Adult Development & Aging News*.

 http://www.apadivisions.org/division-20/publications/newsletters/adult-development/2017/10/women-aging.aspx
- Holm, A. L, Berland, A. K., & Severinsson, E. (2016). Older patient's involvement in shared decision-making—A systematic review. *Open Journal of Nursing*, 6(3), 170–185. https://doi.org/10.4236/ojn.2016.63018
- Holroyd-Leduc, J., Resin, J., Ashley, L., Barwich, D., Elliott, J., Huras, P., Légaré, F., Mahoney, M., Maybee, A., McNeil, H., Pullman, D., Sawatsky, R., Stolee, P., & Muscedere, J. (2016). Giving voice to older adults living with frailty and their

- family caregivers: Engagement of older adults living with frailty in research, health care decision making, and in health policy. *Research Involvement and Engagement*, 2, Article 23. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40900-016-0038-7
- Holt, C. L., Roth, D. L., Clark, E. M., & Debnam, K. (2012). Positive self-perceptions as a mediator of religious involvement and health behaviors in a national sample of African Americans. *Journal of Behavioral Medicine*, *37*(1), 102–112. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10865-012-9472-7
- Hooyman, N. R. (2018). A personal, professional, and political journey as a feminist gerontologist. *Generations*, 41(4), 57–63.
- Houghton, C., Murphy, K., Meehan, B., Thomas, J., Brooker, D., & Casey, D. (2017).
 From screening to synthesis: Using NVivo to enhance transparency in qualitative evidence synthesis. *Journal of Clinical Nursing*, 26(5–6), 873–881.
 https://doi.org/10.1111/jocn.13443
- Howie, L. O., Troutman-Jordan, M., & Newman, A. M. (2014). Social support and successful aging in assisted living residents. *Educational Gerontology*, 40(1), 61–70. https://doi.org/10.1080/03601277.2013.768085
- Hudson, R. B., & Gonyea, J. G. (2018). The second sex: Older women and public policy. *Generations*, 41(4), 20–28.
- Hyett, N., Kenny, A., & Dickson-Swift, V. (2014). Methodology or method? A critical review of qualitative case study reports. *International Journal of Qualitative Studies on Health and Well-Being*, 9(1), Article 23606. https://doi.org/10.3402/qhw.v9.23606

- Institute of Medicine. (1986). *Improving the quality of care in nursing homes*. https://doi.org/10.17226/646
- Ishak, N. M., & Bakar, A. Y. A. (2014). Developing sampling frame for case study:

 Challenges and conditions. *World Journal of Education*, *4*(3), 29.

 https://doi.org/10.5430/wje.v4n3p29
- James, C. V., Moonesinghe, R., Wilson-Frederick, S. M., Hall, J. E., Penman-Aguilar, A., & Bouye, K. (2017). Racial/ethnic health disparities among rural adults—United States, 2012–2015. MMWR Surveillance Summaries, 66(23), 1–9.
 https://doi.org/10.15585/mmwr.ss6623a1
- Jamshed, S. (2014). Qualitative research method—Interviewing and observation. *Journal of Basic and Clinical Pharmacy*, *5*(4), 87–88. https://doi.org/10.4103%2F0976-0105.141942
- Johnson, C. (2018). UK Kidney Week 2018: Looking back on the conference highlights.

 Journal of Kidney Care, 3(4), 242–244.

 https://doi.org/10.12968/jokc.2018.3.4.242
- Johnson, S. D. (2018). An elder care imperative. *Physician Assistant Clinics*, *3*(4), 469–477. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cpha.2018.05.001
- Jones, L. V. (2015). Black feminisms: Renewing sacred healing spaces. *Affilia*, 30(2), 246–252. https://doi.org/10.1177/0886109914551356
- Joseph, R. P., Ainsworth, B. E., Keller, C., & Dodgson, J. E. (2015). Barriers to physical activity among African American women: An integrative review of the literature.

- Women & Health, 55(6), 679–699. https://doi.org/10.1080/03630242.2015.1039184
- Kallio, H., Pietila, A., Johnson, M., & Kangasniemi, M. (2016). Systematic methodological review: Developing a framework for a qualitative semi-structured interview guide. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 72(12), 2954–2965. https://doi.org/10.1111/jan.13031
- Kelly, G. A. (2012). Examining resident social support systems in assisted living.

 Families in Society: The Journal of Contemporary Social Services, 93(3), 219–225. https://doi.org/10.1606%2F1044-3894.4219
- Kemp, C. L., Ball, M. M., Morgan, J. C., Doyle, P. J., Burgess, E. O., Dillard, J. A., Barmon, C. E., Fitzroy, A. F., Helmly, V. E., Avent, E. S., & Perkins, M. M. (2016). Exposing the backstage: Critical reflections on a longitudinal qualitative study of residents' care networks in assisted living. *Qualitative Health Research*, 27(8), 1190–1202. https://doi.org/10.1177/1049732316668817
- King, D. K. (2016). Multiple jeopardy, multiple consciousness: The context of a Black feminist ideology. In S. A. Jackson (Ed.), *Race, gender, and class* (pp. 36–57). Routledge.
- Kisling, A., Paul, D. P., III, & Coustasse, A. (2015, March). Assisted living: Trends in cost and staffing [Paper presentation]. 51st Annual Midwest BusinessAdministration Association International Conference, Chicago, IL.
- Kisling-Rundgren, A., Paul, D. P., III, & Coustasse, A. (2016). Costs, staffing, and services of assisted living in the United States: A literature review. *The Health*

Care Manager, 35(2), 156–163.

https://doi.org/10.1097/HCM.0000000000000107

- Klein, M. L., & Coogle, C. L. (2015). Living wills, durable power of attorney, and advance directives. In S. K. Whitbourne (Ed.), *The encyclopedia of adulthood and aging*, 1–5. https://doi.org/10.1002/9781118521373.wbeaa101
- Klinenberg, E., Torres, S., & Portacolone, E. (2013). *Aging alone in America*. Council on Contemporary Families. https://www.contemporaryfamilies.org/wp-content/uploads/2013/10/2012_Briefing_Klinenberg_Aging-alone-in-america.pdf
- Koehn, S. D., Mahmood, A. N., & Stott-Eveneshen, S. (2016). Quality of life for diverse older adults in assisted living: The centrality of control. *Journal of Gerontological Social Work*, *59*(7–8), 512–536. https://doi.org/10.1080/01634372.2016.1254699
- Koelsch, L. E. (2013). Reconceptualizing the member check interview. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, *12*(1), 168–179. https://doi.org/10.1177/160940691301200105
- Koenig, T. L., Lee, J. H., Macmillan, K. R., Fields, N. L., & Spano, R. (2013). Older adult and family member perspectives of the decision-making process involved in moving to assisted living. *Qualitative Social Work*, 13(3), 335–350.
 https://doi.org/10.1177/1473325013475468
- Korstjens, I., & Moser, A. (2018). Series: Practical guidance to qualitative research. Part

 4: Trustworthiness and publishing. *European Journal of General Practice*, 24(1),

 120–124. https://doi.org/10.1080/13814788.2017.1375092

- Kozar-Westman, M., Troutman-Jordan, M., & Nies, M. A. (2013). Successful aging among assisted living community older adults. *Journal of Nursing Scholarship*, 45(30, 238–246. https://doi.org/10.1111/jnu.12027
- Kucmanski, L. S., Zenevicz, L., Geremia, D. S., Madureira, V. S. F., Silva, T. G. D., & Souza, S. S. D. (2016). Alzheimer's disease: Challenges faced by family caregivers. *Revista Brasileira de Geriatria e Gerontologia*, 19(6), 1022–1029. https://doi.org/10.1590/1981-22562016019.150162
- Lahaie, C., Earle, A., & Heymann, J. (2013). An uneven burden: Social disparities in adult caregiving responsibilities, working conditions, and caregiver outcomes.

 *Research on Aging, 35(3), 243–274. https://doi.org/10.1177/0164027512446028
- Lee, V. S., Simpson, J., & Froggatt, K. (2013). A narrative exploration of older people's transitions into residential care. *Aging & Mental Health*, *17*(1), 48–56. https://doi.org/10.1080/13607863.2012.715139
- Levine, C. (2016). Putting the spotlight on invisible family caregivers. *JAMA Internal Medicine*, 176(3), 380–381. https://doi.org/10.1001/jamainternmed.2015.8002
- Li, Y., & Cai, X. (2014). Racial and ethnic disparities in social engagement among US nursing home residents. *Medical Care*, 52(4), 314–321. https://doi.org/10.1097/MLR.000000000000088
- Li, Y., & Carter, A. (2017). Demographic factors of adult-children on their caregiving values and options as home caregivers to their elderly parents. *Open Journal of Social Sciences*, 5(5), 186–199. https://doi.org/10.4236/jss.2017.55013

- Lindsay-Dennis, L. (2015). Black feminist-womanist research paradigm: Toward a culturally relevant research model focused on African American girls. *Journal of Black Studies*, 46(5), 506–520. https://doi.org/10.1177/0021934715583664
- Longacre, M. L., Valdmanis, V. G., Handorf, E. A., & Fang, C. Y. (2016). Work impact and emotional stress among informal caregivers for older adults. *Journals of Gerontology Series B: Psychological Sciences and Social Sciences*, 72(3), 522–531. https://doi.org/10.1093/geronb/gbw027
- Lord, J., Davlyatov, G., Thomas, K. S., Hyer, K., & Weech-Maldonado, R. (2018). The role of assisted living capacity on nursing home financial performance. *INQUIRY:*The Journal of Health Care Organization, Provision, and Financing, 55.

 https://doi.org/10.1177/0046958018793285
- Lorraine Radtke, H. (2017). Feminist theory in feminism & psychology [Part I]: Dealing with differences and negotiating the biological. *Feminism & Psychology*, 27(3), 357–377. https://doi.org/10.1177/0959353517714594
- Lowry, K. A., Vallejo, A. N., & Studenski, S. A. (2012). Successful aging as a continuum of functional independence: Lessons from physical disability models of aging.

 Aging and Disease, 3(1), 5–15.

 https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC3320804/
- Luck, T., Rodriguez, F. S., Wiese, B., van der Leeden, C., Heser, K., Bickel, H., in der Schmitten, J., Koenig, H.-H., Weyerer, S., Mamone, S., Mallon, T., Wagner, M., Weeg, D., Fuchs, A., Brettschneider, C., Werle, J., Scherer, M., Maier, W., Riedel-Heller, S. G., & the AgeCoDe & AgeQualiDe Study Group. (2017).

- Advance directives and power of attorney for health care in the oldest-old—Results of the AgeQualiDe study. *BMC Geriatrics*, *17*(1), 85. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12877-017-0482-8
- Lum, H. D., Sudore, R. L., & Bekelman, D. B. (2015). Advance care planning in the elderly. *Medical Clinics*, 99(2), 391–403. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mcna.2014.11.010
- Lustbader, W. (2013). It all depends on what you mean by home. *Generations*, *37*(4), 17–23. https://www.jstor.org/stable/26556003?seq=1#metadata_info_tab_contents
- Malterud, K., Siersma, V. D., & Guassora, A. D. (2016). Sample size in qualitative interview studies: Guided by information power. *Qualitative Health Research*, 26(13), 1753–1760. https://doi.org/10.1177/1049732315617444
- Martínez-Alcalá, C. I., Ramírez-Salvador, J. A., Rosales-Lagarde, A., & Jiménez-Rodríguez, B. (2018). Assistance and support of primary caregivers through an eservice platform. *Journal of Information Systems Engineering and Management*, 3(1), Article 09. https://doi.org/10.20897/jisem.201809
- Martínez-Mesa, J., González-Chica, D. A., Duquia, R. P., Bonamigo, R. R., & Bastos, J. L. (2016). Sampling: How to select participants in my research study? *Anais Brasileiros de Dermatologia*, 91(3), 326–330. https://doi.org/10.1590/abd1806-4841.20165254
- Martinis, J. G., Campanella, T. M., Blanck, P., Wehmeyer, M. L., & Shogren, K. A. (2017). Supported decision-making as an alternative to guardianship. In K. A. Shogren, M. L. Wehmeyer, & N. N. Singh (Eds.), *Handbook of positive*

- psychology in intellectual and developmental disabilities (pp. 247–259). Springer International Publishing.
- Markides, K. S., & Rote, S. (2014). Aging, minority status, and disability. *Generations*, 38(4), 19.
 - https://www.jstor.org/stable/26556072?seq=1#metadata_info_tab_contents
- Martyr, A., Nelis, S. M., Quinn, C., Wu, Y. T., Lamont, R. A., Henderson, C., Clarke, R., Hindle, J. V., Thom, J. M., Jones. T. R., Morris, R. G., Rusted, J. M., Victor, C. R., & Clare, L. (2018). Living well with dementia: A systematic review and correlational meta-analysis of factors associated with quality of life, well-being and life satisfaction in people with dementia. *Psychological Medicine*, 48(13), 2130–2139. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0033291718000405
- Mason, M. (2010). Sample size and saturation in PhD studies using qualitative interviews. Forum Qualitative Sozialforschung/Forum: Qualitative Social Research, 11(3). http://www.qualitativeresearch.net/index.php/fqs/article/view/1428/3027
- McCabe, M., You, E., & Tatangelo, G. (2016). Hearing their voice: A systematic review of dementia family caregivers' needs. *The Gerontologist*, *56*(5), e70–e88. https://doi.org/10.1093/geront/gnw078
- McFarland, M. R., & Wehbe-Alamah, H. B. (2019). Leininger's theory of culture care diversity and universality: An overview with a historical retrospective and a view toward the future. *Journal of Transcultural Nursing*, 30(6), 540–557. https://doi.org/10.1177/1043659619867134

- Melvin, J., Hummer, R., Elo, I., & Mehta, N. (2014). Age patterns of racial/ethnic/nativity differences in disability and physical functioning in the United States. *Demographic Research*, *31*, 497–510. https://doi.org/10.4054/DemRes.2014.31.17
- Mendes, F. R. (2013). Active ageing: A right or a duty? *Health Sociology Review*, 22(2), 174–185. https://doi.org/10.5172/hesr.2013.22.2.174
- Menkin, J. A., Guan, S.-S. A., Araiza, D., Reyes, C. E., Trejo, L., Choi, S. E., Willis, P., Kotick, J., Jimenez, E., Ma, S., McCreath, H. E., Chang, E., Witarama, T., & Sarkasian, C. A. (2017). Racial/ethnic differences in expectations regarding aging among older adults. *The Gerontologist*, 57(Suppl. 2), S138–S148.
 https://doi.org/10.1093/geront/gnx078
- Mello, J. D. A., Macq, J., Van Durme, T., Cès, S., Spruytte, N., Van Audenhove, C., & Declercq, A. (2017). The determinants of informal caregivers' burden in the care of frail older persons: A dynamic and role-related perspective. *Aging & Mental Health*, 21(8), 838–843. https://doi.org/10.1080/13607863.2016.1168360
- Mignani, V., Ingravallo, F., Mariani, E., & Chattat, R. (2017). Perspectives of older people living in long-term care facilities and of their family members toward advance care planning discussions: A systematic review and thematic synthesis.

 Clinical Interventions in Aging, 12, 475–484.

https://doi.org/10.2147/CIA.S128937

Mitchell, G. W. (2014). The silver tsunami. *Physician Executive*, 40(4), 34.

- Miyawaki, C. E. (2015). Association of social isolation and health across different racial and ethnic groups of older Americans. *Aging and Society*, *35*(10), 2201–2228. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0144686X14000890
- Molony, S. L., Kolanowski, A., Van Haitsma, K., & Rooney, K. E. (2018). Personcentered assessment and care planning. *The Gerontologist*, *58*(Suppl. 1), S32–S47. https://doi.org/10.1093/geront/gnx173
- Moore, K. K., & Ghilarducci, T. (2018). Intersectionality and stratification in the labor market. *Generations*, 42(2), 34–40.
- Moreno, G., Mangione, C. M., Meza, C. E., Kwon, I., Seeman, T., Trejo, L., & Sarkisian,
 C. A. (2015). Perceptions from Latino and African American older adults about
 biological markers in research. *Ethnicity & Disease*, 25(3), 355–362.
 https://doi.org/10.18865/ed.25.3.355
- Morgan, L. A., & Brazda, M. A. (2013). Transferring control to others: Process and meaning for older adults in assisted living. *Journal of Applied Gerontology*, 32(6), 651–668. https://doi.org/10.1177/0733464813494568
- Morgan, L. A., Rubinstein, R. L., Frankowski, A. C., Perez, R., Roth, E. G., Peeples, A.
 D., & Goldman, S. (2014). The facade of stability in assisted living. *The Journals of Gerontology, Series B: Psychological Sciences and Social Sciences*, 69(3), 431–441 https://doi.org/10.1093/geronb/gbu019
- Mulry, C. M. (2012). Transitions to assisted living: A pilot study of residents' occupational perspectives. *Physical & Occupational Therapy in Geriatrics*, *30*(4), 328–343. https://doi.org/10.3109/02703181.2012.741190

- Namkung, E. H., Greenberg, J. S., & Mailick, M. R. (2016). Well-being of sibling caregivers. Effects of kinship relationship and race. *The Gerontologist*, *57*(4), 626–636. https://doi.org/10.1093/geront/gnw008
- National Academies of Sciences, Engineering, and Medicine. (2016). *Families caring for an aging America*. The National Academies Press. https://doi.org/10.17226/23606
- Ng, J. H., Bierman, A. S., Elliott, M. N., Wilson, R. L., Xia, C., & Scholle, S. H. (2014).

 Beyond Black and White: Race/ethnicity and health status among older adults. *The American Journal of Managed Care*, 20(3), 239–248.

 https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC4474472/
- Noble, H., & Smith, J. (2015). Issues of validity and reliability in qualitative research. *Evidence-Based Nursing*, 18(2), 34–35. https://doi.org/10.1136/eb-2015-102054
- Nguyen, A. W., Chatters, L. M., Taylor, R. J., & Mouzon, D. M. (2016). Social support from family and friends and subjective well-being of older African Americans.

 **Journal of Happiness Studies*, 17(3), 959–979. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10902-015-9626-8
- O'Hora, K. A., & Roberto, K. A. (2018). Navigating emotions and relationship dynamics: Family life review as a clinical tool for older adults during a relocation transition into an assisted living facility. *Aging & Mental Health*, 23(4), 1–7. https://doi.org/10.1080/13607863.2017.1423028
- O'Neill, G., & Pruchno, R. (2015). Toward the 2015 White House Conference on Aging:

 Creating an aging policy vision for the decade ahead. *The Gerontologist*, 55(2),

 179–182. https://doi.org/10.1093/geront/gnv013

- O'Sullivan, R., Mailo, K., Angeles, R., & Agarwal, G. (2015). Advance directives: Survey of primary care patients. *Canadian Family Physician*, *61*, 353–356. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC4396762/
- Ortman, J. M., Velkoff, V. A., & Hogan, H. (2014). *An aging nation: The older*population in the United States (Report No. P25-1140). U.S. Census Bureau.

 https://www.census.gov/content/dam/Census/library/publications/2014/demo/p25-1140.pdf
- Palmer, A. D., Newsom, J. T., & Rook, K. S. (2016). How does difficulty communicating affect the social relationships of older adults? An exploration using data from a national survey. *Journal of Communication Disorders*, 62, 131–146. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jcomdis.2016.06.002
- Pandey, B. (2016). Feminist standpoint and question of women participation in decision-making, in Nepal. *Dhaulagiri Journal Sociology and Anthropology*, *10*, 202–220. https://doi.org/10.3126/dsaj.v10i0.15886
- Park, N. S., Dobbs, D., Carrion, I. V., Young, T. L., Salmon, J. R., & Roff, L. L. (2013).
 Social relationships of African American and Hispanic older assisted living residents: Exploring the role of race and ethnicity. *Journal of Housing for the Elderly*, 27(4), 369–391. https://doi.org/10.1080/02763893.2013.813427
- Park, N. S., Jang, Y., Lee, B. S., Chiriboga, D. A., & Molinari, V. (2015). Correlates of attitude toward personal aging in older assisted living residents. *Journal of Gerontological Social Work*, 58(3), 232–252.

https://doi.org/10.1080/01634372.2014.978926

- Paulson, D., & Bassett, R. (2016). Prepared to care: Adult attachment and filial obligation. *Aging & Mental Health*, 20(11), 1221–1228.

 https://doi.org/10.1080/13607863.2015.1072800
- Pedraza, S. L., Culp, S., Falkenstine, E. C., & Moss, A. H. (2016). POST forms more than advance directives associated with out-of-hospital death: Insights from a state registry. *Journal of Pain and Symptom Management*, *51*(2), 240–246. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpainsymman.2015.10.003
- Penning, M. J., & Wu, Z. (2015). Caregiver stress and mental health: Impact of caregiving relationship and gender. *The Gerontologist*, 56(6), 1102–1113. https://doi.org/10.1093/geront/gnv038
- Perkins, M. M., Ball, M. M., Kemp, C. L., & Hollingsworth, C. (2013). Social relations and resident health in assisted living: An application of the convoy model. *The Gerontologist*, *53*(3), 495–507. https://doi.org/10.1093/geront/gns124
- Perkins, M. M., Ball, M. M., Whittington, F. J., & Hollingsworth, C. (2012). Relational autonomy in assisted living: A focus on diverse care settings for older adults.

 Journal of Aging Studies*, 26(2), 214–225.

 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaging.2012.01.001
- Perkinson, M. A., & Solimeo, S. L. (2013). Aging in cultural context and as narrative process: Conceptual foundations of the anthropology of aging as reflected in the works of Margaret Clark and Sharon Kaufman. *The Gerontologist*, *54*(1), 101–107. https://doi.org/10.1093/geront/gnt128

- Perry, T. E., Andersen, T. C., & Kaplan, D. B. (2014). Relocation remembered:

 Perspectives on senior transitions in the living environment. *The Gerontologist*,

 54(1), 75–81. https://doi.org/10.1093/geront/gnt070
- Petrova, E., Dewing, J., & Camilleri, M. (2016). Confidentiality in participatory research:

 Challenges from one study. *Nursing Ethics*, 23(4), 442–454.

 https://doi.org/10.1177/0969733014564909
- Pharr, J. R., Dodge Francis, C., Terry, C., & Clark, M. C. (2014). Culture, caregiving, and health: Exploring the influence of culture on family caregiver experiences.

 ISRN Public Health, 2014, Article 689826. https://doi.org/10.1155/2014/689826
- Phillips, K. L., Rogers, C. R., & Aiken-Morgan, A. T. (2017). Perceptions of chronic disease among older African Americans: A qualitative analysis. *Journal of Health Disparities Research and Practice*, *10*(4), 52–60. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC5831544/
- Pillemer, K., Schultz, L., Cope, M. T., Meador, R. H., & Henderson, C. (2018). Partners in care in assisted living: Fostering cooperative communication between families and staff. *Seniors Housing & Care Journal*, 26(1), 3–15.

 https://www.amwa.org/global_engine/download_custom.aspx?fileid=f2583b21-fe87-4633-bee292d58c412715.pdf&filename=Complete%20Journal_Seniors_Housing_2018_PD

F.pdf&blnIsPublic=2

- Pirhonen, J., & Pietilä, I. (2015). Patient, resident, or person: Recognition and the continuity of self in long-term care for older people. *Journal of Aging Studies*, *35*, 95–103. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaging.2015.05.004
- Pirhonen, J., & Pietilä, I. (2016a). Active and non-active agents: Residents' agency in assisted living. *Ageing & Society*, *38*(1), 1–18. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0144686X1600074X
- Pirhonen, J., & Pietilä, I. (2016b). Perceived resident–facility fit and sense of control in assisted living. *Journal of Aging Studies*, *38*, 47–56. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaging.2016.04.006
- Pollard, K., & Scommegna, P. (2013). *The health and life expectancy of older Blacks and Hispanics in the United States*. Population Reference Bureau. https://www.prb.org/life-expectancy-blacks-hispanics/
- Pool, M. S., Agyemang, C. O., & Smalbrugge, M. (2017). Interventions to improve social determinants of health among elderly ethnic minority groups: A review. *The European Journal of Public Health*, 27(6), 1048–1054.

 https://doi.org/10.1093/eurpub/ckx178
- Porter, C. P., & James, T. D. (2016). Race, gender, and class distinctions among aging middle class Black and White women: Implications for feminist interventions.

 Women & Therapy, 39(1–2), 35–55.

 https://doi.org/10.1080/02703149.2016.1116311

- Powers, S. M., & Whitlatch, C. J. (2016). Measuring cultural justifications for caregiving in African American and White caregivers. *Dementia*, *15*(4), 629–645. https://doi.org/10.1177/1471301214532112
- Prime, H., Wade, M., & Browne, D. T. (2020). Risk and resilience in family well-being during the COVID-19 pandemic. *American Psychologist*, 75(5), 631–643. https://doi.org/10.1037/amp0000660
- Qualls, S. H. (2016). Caregiving families within the long-term services and support system for older adults. *American Psychologist*, 71(4), 283–293. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0040252
- Ramdin, V. A., Kim, M., Pozzar, R., Fombelle, P. W., Zhang, Y., Zhou, X., & Janigan, J. (2018, July). Resident autonomy in assisted living facilities: A conceptual framework for transformative service research. In ServDes2018. Service Design Proof of Concept, Proceedings of the ServDes 2018 Conference, 18-20 June, Milano, Italy (No. 150, pp. 1088-1099). Linköping University Electronic Press.
- Rampton, M. (2015). *Four waves of feminism*. Pacific University Oregon. https://www.pacificu.edu/about/media/four-waves-feminism
- Rasquinha, D. M. (2013). Depression among institutionalized and non-institutionalized elderly widows and married women. *Indian Journal of Gerontology*, 27, 468–475. https://doi.org/10.1037/e576972013-001
- Redfoot, D., Feinberg, L., & Houser, A. N. (2013). The aging of the baby boom and the growing care gap: A look at future declines in the availability of family caregivers. AARP Public Policy Institute.

- https://www.aarp.org/content/dam/aarp/research/public_policy_institute/ltc/2013/baby-boom-and-the-growing-care-gap-in-brief-AARP-ppi-ltc.pdf
- Reed, T. D., & Neville, H. A. (2014). The influence of religiosity and spirituality on psychological well-being among Black women. *Journal of Black Psychology*, 40(4), 384–401. https://doi.org/10.1177%2F0095798413490956
- Reid, R. C., & Chappell, N. L. (2017). Family involvement in nursing homes: Are family caregivers getting what they want? *Journal of Applied Gerontology*, *36*(8), 993–1015. https://doi.org/10.1177/0733464815602109
- Rodríguez-Galán, M. B. (2013). The ethnography of ethnic minority families and aging: Familism and beyond. In K. E. Whitfield & T. A. Baker (Eds.), *Handbook of minority aging* (pp. 435–454). Springer.
- Rooddehghan, Z., ParsaYekta, Z., & Nasrabadi, A. N. (2019). Equity in nursing care: A grounded theory study. *Nursing Ethics*, 26(2), 598–610. https://doi.org/10.1177/0969733017712079
- Roth, D. L., Fredman, L., & Haley, W. E. (2015). Informal caregiving and its impact on health: A reappraisal from population-based studies. *The Gerontologist*, 55(2), 309–319. https://doi.org/10.1093/geront/gnu177
- Rowe, J. W., Fulmer, T., & Fried, L. (2016). Preparing for better health and health care for an aging population. *Jama*, *316*(16), 1643–1644. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2016.12335

- Rowe, J. W., & Kahn, R. L. (2015). Successful aging 2.0: Conceptual expansions for the 21st century. *The Journals of Gerontology: Series B*, 70(4), 593–596. https://doi.org/10.1093/geronb/gbv025
- Rousseau, N. (2013). Historical womanist theory: Re-visioning Black feminist thought.

 Race, Gender & Class, 20(3–4), 191–204.

 https://www.jstor.org/stable/43496941?seq=1
- Saldaña, J. (2016). *The coding manual for qualitative researchers* (3rd ed.). Sage Publications.
- Sanford, A. M., Orrell, M., Tolson, D., Abbatecola, A. M., Arai, H., Bauer, J. M., Hajjar, R. (2015). An international definition for "nursing home." *Journal of the American Medical Directors Association*, 16(3), 181–184.

 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jamda.2014.12.013
- Sanjari, M., Bahramnezhad, F., Fomani, F. K., Shoghi, M., & Cheraghi, M. A. (2014).

 Ethical challenges of researchers in qualitative studies: The necessity to develop a specific guideline. *Journal of Medical Ethics and History of Medicine*, 7, 14.

 https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC4263394/
- Santoro, M. S., Van Liew, C., Holloway, B., McKinnon, S., Little, T., & Cronan, T. A. (2016). Honor thy parents: An ethnic multigroup analysis of filial responsibility, health perceptions, and caregiving decisions. *Research on Aging*, *38*(6), 665–688. https://doi.org/10.1177/0164027515598349
- Saunders, B., Sim, J., Kingstone, T., Baker, S., Waterfield, J., Bartlam, B., Jinks, C. (2018). Saturation in qualitative research: Exploring its conceptualization and

- operationalization. *Quality & Quantity*, *52*(4), 1893–1907. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11135-017-0574-8
- Scales, K., Lepore, M., Anderson, R. A., McConnell, E. S., Song, Y., Kang, B., Porter, K., Thach, T., & Corazzini, K. N. (2019). Person-directed care planning in nursing homes: Resident, family, and staff perspectives. *Journal of Applied Gerontology*, 38(2), 183–206. https://doi.org/10.1177/0733464817732519
- Shay, L. A., & Lafata, J. E. (2015). Where is the evidence? A systematic review of shared decision making and patient outcomes. *Medical Decision Making*, *35*(1), 114–131. https://doi.org/10.1177/0272989X14551638
- Sheridan, M. J., Burley, J., Hendricks, D. E., & Rose, T. (2014). "Caring for one's own":

 Variation in the lived experience of African-American caregivers of elders. *Journal of Ethnic & Cultural Diversity in Social Work, 23*(1), 1–19.

 https://doi.org/10.1080/15313204.2013.849642
- Shivayogi, P. (2013). Vulnerable population and methods for their safeguard.

 *Perspectives in Clinical Research, 4(1), 53–57. https://doi.org/10.4103/2229-3485.106389
- Silva, A. L., Teixeira, H. J., Teixeira, M. J. C., & Freitas, S. (2013). The needs of informal caregivers of elderly people living at home: An integrative review. Scandinavian Journal of Caring Sciences, 27(4), 792–803.
 https://doi.org/10.1111/scs.12019
- Silverman, D. (2016). Introducing qualitative research. In D. Silverman (Ed.), *Qualitative* research (pp. 3–14). Sage Publications.

- Sloane, P. D., Zimmerman, S., & D'Souza, M. F. (2014). What will long-term care be like in 2040? *North Carolina Medical Journal*, 75(5), 326–330. https://doi.org/10.18043/ncm.75.5.326
- Smith, J., & Noble, H. (2014). Bias in research. *Evidence-Based Nursing*, *17*(4), 100–101. https://doi.org/10.1136/eb-2014-101946
- Smith, S. (2013). Black feminism and intersectionality. *International Socialist Review*, 91(11). https://isreview.org/issue/91/black-feminism-and-intersectionality
- Sorensen, J., Jervelund, S. S., Norredam, M., Kristiansen, M., & Krasnik, A. (2017).

 Cultural competence in medical education: A questionnaire study of Danish medical teachers' perceptions of and preparedness to teach cultural competence.

 Scandinavian Journal of Public Health, 45(2), 153–160.

 https://doi.org/10.1177/1403494816685937
- Sorensen, J., Norredam, M., Dogra, N., Essink-Bot, M. L., Suurmond, J., & Krasnik, A. (2017). Enhancing cultural competence in medical education. *International Journal of Medical Education*, 8, 28–38. https://doi.org/10.5116/ijme.587a.0333
- Spetz, J., Trupin, L., Bates, T., & Coffman, J. M. (2015). Future demand for long-term care workers will be influenced by demographic and utilization changes. *Health Affairs*, *34*(6), 936–945. https://doi.org/10.1377/hlthaff.2015.0005
- Spitzer, W. J., & Davidson, K. W. (2013). Future trends in health and health care:

 Implications for social work practice in an aging society. *Social Work in Health Care*, 52(10), 959–986. https://doi.org/10.1080/00981389.2013.834028

- Suh, J. (2016). Measuring the "sandwich": Care for children and adults in the American Time Use Survey 2003–2012. *Journal of Family and Economic Issues*, *37*(2), 197–211. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10834-016-9483-6
- Tabatabaei, S. Z., Ebrahimi, F., Hamzah, A. B. H., Rezaeian, M., & Kamrani, M. A. (2017). Ethnographic exploration of empowerment to improve elderly residents' quality of life. *Iranian Journal of Nursing and Midwifery Research*, 22(5), 414–419. https://www.ijnmrjournal.net/article.asp?issn=1735-9066;year=2017;volume=22;issue=5;spage=414;epage=419;aulast=Tabatabaei
- Tam, M. (2014). Understanding and theorizing the role of culture in the conceptualizations of successful aging and lifelong learning. *Educational Gerontology*, 40(12), 881–893. https://doi.org/10.1080/03601277.2014.907072
- Taylor, R. J., Chatters, L. M., Woodward , A. T., & Brown, E. (2013). Racial and ethnic differences in extended family, friendship, fictive kin, and congregational informal support networks. *Family Relations*, 62(4), 609–624. https://doi.org/10.1111/fare.12030
- Tinker, A., Kellaher, L., Ginn, J., & Montserrat, E. R. (2013). *Assisted living platform:*The long term care revolution. King's College London.
- Tkatch, R., Musich, S., MacLeod, S., Kraemer, S., Hawkins, K., Wicker, E. R., & Armstrong, D. G. (2017). A qualitative study to examine older adults' perceptions of health: Keys to aging successfully. *Geriatric Nursing*, *38*(6), 485–490. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gerinurse.2017.02.009

- Tsai, A. C., Kohrt, B. A., Matthews, L. T., Betancourt, T. S., Lee, J. K., Papachristos, A. V., Weiser, S. D., & Dworkin, S. L. (2016). Promises and pitfalls of data sharing in qualitative research. *Social Science & Medicine*, 169, 191–198. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2016.08.004
- Tsang, E. W. K. (2014). Generalizing from research findings: The merits of case studies.

 *International Journal of Management Reviews, 16(4), 369–383.

 https://doi.org/10.1111/ijmr.12024
- Turner, S. G., & Maschi, T. M. (2015). Feminist and empowerment theory and social work practice. *Journal of Social Work Practice*, 29, 151–162. https://doi.org/10.1080/02650533.2014.941282
- U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics (2019). *Unpaid eldercare in the United States*—2015–16 summary. https://www.bls.gov/news.release/elcare.nr0.htm.
- U.S. Census Bureau. (2017, June 22). The nation's older population is still growing,

 Census Bureau reports [Press release]. https://www.census.gov/newsroom/press-releases/2017/cb17-

 100.html#:~:text=JUNE%2022%2C%202017%20%E2%80%94%20The%20nati

 on's,Bureau%20population%20estimates%20released%20today.&text=The%20es

 timates%20also%20present%20changes,Puerto%20Rico%20and%20its%20muni
 cipios.
- van de Pol, M. H., Fluit, C. R., Lagro, J., Slaats, Y., Olde Rikkert, M. G., & Lagro-Janssen, A. L. (2017). Shared decision making with frail older patients: Proposed

- teaching framework and practice recommendations. *Gerontology & Geriatrics Education*, 38(4), 482–495. https://doi.org/10.1080/02701960.2016.1276014
- Viveiros, J., & Brennan, M. (2014). Aging in every place: Supportive service programs for high and low density communities. *Ideas for Housing Policy and Practice*. https://community-wealth.org/content/aging-every-place-supportive-service-programs-high-and-low-density-communities
- Waites, C. E., & Onolemhemhen, D. N. (2014). Perceptions of healthy aging among African-American and Ethiopian elders. *Ageing International*, *39*(4), 369–384. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12126-014-9203-1
- Ward, E. C., & Brown, R. L. (2015). A culturally adapted depression intervention for African American adults experiencing depression: Oh, happy day. *American Journal of Orthopsychiatry*, 85(1), 11–22. https://doi.org/10.1037/ort0000027
- Watson, J. (2017). Supported decision making. *Intellectual Disability Australasia*, *38*(4), 3–5. https://www.asid.asn.au/files/1723_ida68_p3-5_supd_desn_mak.pdf
- Weeks, L. E., Keefe, J., & Macdonald, D. J. (2012). Factors predicting relocation among older adults. *Journal of Housing for the Elderly*, 26(4), 355–371. https://doi.org/10.1080/02763893.2011.653099
- Wells-Wilbon, R., & Simpson, G. M. (2009). Transitioning the caregiving role for the next generation: An African-centered womanist perspective. *Black Women*, *Gender & Families*, 3(2), 87–105. https://doi.org/10.1353/bwg.0.0010
- West, L. A., Cole, S., Goodkind, D., & He, W. (2014). 65+ in the United States: 2010.

 U.S. Census Bureau.

- https://www.census.gov/content/dam/Census/library/publications/2014/demo/p23-212.pdf
- Wiemers, E. E., & Bianchi, S. M. (2015). Competing demands from aging parents and adults in two cohorts of American women. *Population and Development Review*, 41(1), 127–146. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1728-4457.2015.00029.x
- Wilberforce, M., Challis, D., Davies, L., Kelly, M. P., Roberts, C., & Loynes, N. (2016).

 Person-centredness in the care of older adults: A systematic review of questionnaire-based scales and their measurement properties. *BMC Geriatrics*, *16*, Article 63. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12877-016-0229-y
- Williams, M., & Moser, T. (2019). The art of coding and thematic exploration in qualitative research. *International Management Review*, *15*(1), 45–55. http://www.imrjournal.org/uploads/1/4/2/8/14286482/imr-v15n1art4.pdf
- Wolff, J. L., Feder, J., & Schulz, R. (2016). Supporting family caregivers of older Americans. New England Journal of Medicine, 375, 2513–2515.
 https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMp1612351
- Wolff, J. L., Mulcahy, J., Huang, J., Roth, D. L., Covinsky, K., & Kasper, J. D. (2018).
 Family caregivers of older adults, 1999–2015: Trends in characteristics,
 circumstances, and role-related appraisal. *The Gerontologist*, 58(6), 1021–1032.
 https://doi.org/10.1093/geront/gnx093
- Wolff, J. L., Spillman, B. C., Freedman, V. A., & Kasper, J. D. (2016). A national profile of family and unpaid caregivers who assist older adults with health care activities.

- JAMA Internal Medicine, 176(3), 372–379. https://doi.org/10.1001/jamainternmed.2015.7664
- Wolgemuth, J., Erdil-Moody, Z., Opsal, T., Cross, E., Kaanta, T., Dickmann, E. M., & Colomer, S. (2014). Participants' experiences of the qualitative interview:

 Considering the importance of research paradigms. *Qualitative Research*, *15*(3), 351–372. https://doi.org/10.1177/1468794114524222
- World Health Organization. (2018). *Ageing and health*. www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/ageing-and-health
- Yazan, B. (2015). Three approaches to case study methods in education: Yin, Merriam, and Stake. *The Qualitative Report*, 20, 134–152. https://nsuworks.nova.edu/tqr/vol20/iss2/12/
- Wu, Y. P., Thompson, D., Aroian, K. J., McQuaid, E. L., & Deatrick, J. A. (2016).
 Commentary: Writing and evaluating qualitative research reports. *Journal of Pediatric Psychology*, 41(5), 493–505. https://doi.org/10.1093/jpepsy/jsw032
- Yin, R. K. (2017). Case study research and applications: Design and methods. Sage Publications.
- Yin, R. K. (2018). Case study research and applications. Sage Publications.
- Zimmer, Z., Jagger, C., Chiu, C.-T., Ofstedal, M. B., Rojo, F., & Saito, Y. (2016).

 Spirituality, religiosity, aging and health in global perspective: A review. *SSM Population Health*, 2, 373–381. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ssmph.2016.04.009
- Zimmerman, S., Cohen, L. W., Reed, D., Gwyther, L. P., Washington, T., Cagle, J. G., & Sloane, P. D. (2013). Comparing families and staff in nursing homes and assisted

living: Implications for social work practice. *Journal of Gerontological Social Work*, *56*(6), 535–553. https://doi.org/10.1080/01634372.2013.811145

Zubair, M., & Norris, M. (2015). Perspectives on ageing, later life and ethnicity: ageing research in ethnic minority contexts. *Ageing & Society*, *35*(5), 897–916.

https://doi.org/10.1017/S0144686X14001536

Appendix A: Interview Guide

Central Research Question: What are the family member caregivers' experiences and perceptions about the assisted living transition of older African American women?

Open-Ended Interview Questions

Sub question 1: What are the family member caregivers understanding of the events and circumstances leading up to the older African American women's transition into an assisted living facility?

- Describe your relative's living situation prior to the move to the assisted living facility?
- 2. Tell me about the move of your relative to the assisted living facility?
- 3. What was the reason for the move to assisted living for your relative?
- 4. How and why was an assisted living facility selected over a nursing home for your loved one?
- 5. How did your relative learn about assisted living housing prior to moving into the facility?

Sub question 2: What are the family member caregivers' thoughts about the challenges faced by older African American women when transitioning to an assisted living facility?

 Tell me about your impressions of your relative's adjustment into the assisted living facility.

- 2. What has changed in your loved one's life since moving to the facility? What do they do now that they did not do before? What have they stopped doing?
- 3. What was good about the adjustment of your relative? Why?
- 4. What was bad/difficult about the adjustment of your relative? Why?
- 5. What are your perspectives of the comfort and satisfaction with programs and services? Provide an example.
- 6. What were your initial impressions of your loved one upon the move into the assisted living facility?
- 7. Tell me about your perspective of the challenges or negative experiences faced by your loved one upon move into the assisted living facility? Describe how you currently feel.

Sub question 3: What are family member caregivers' thoughts about programs and services that could be offered to older African American women to enhance the transition and adjustment into the assisted living facility?

- 1. What kinds of programs and services would you recommend the facility to implement to capture the cultural needs?
- 2. What types of programs and services were offered upon transition?
- 3. What are your impressions of how cultural needs are being met? Can you provide examples?

- 4. What are your views on whether the experiences and preferences of your loved one are being considered or recognized as part of the assisted living service plan?
- 5. Do you feel that assisted living staff understand the cultural experience, perceptions, and attitudes? Explain
- 6. What are your perspectives on the programs and services being offered to improve quality of life? Explain.
- 7. What are your thoughts about how your loved one has settled into the assisted living facility programs?
- 8. Tell me about your observations of the emotions, feelings and attitudes of your elderly loved one's transition to the assisted living facility.
- 9. Tell me your perspective on your loved one's attitude or perception upon move-in to the assisted living?
- 10. What are your observations about the health perceptions of your relative?
- 11. What are your thoughts about what it means for your loved one's move to assisted living?
- 12. What are your opinions about what aging, adjustment and quality of life means, to your older relative now that she resides in an assisted living facility?

Thank you for your participation in the interview today. The information you provided is valuable and will be kept private and confidential. I invite any comments, questions, and further reflection on the research.

Appendix B: Facility Participation Invitation Letter

My name is Carol Shaw Burns and I am a doctoral student in the College of Social and Behavioral Sciences at Walden University. I am conducting a research study titled Assisted Living Transitions: Experiences of Family Members of older African **American Women**. In order to capture the transition, I plan to conduct semi-structured interviews with family member caregivers who facilitated the move of the older African American women to your assisted living facility. This letter is to allow your facility to be a location for distributing a flyer to invite family members to participate in the research. The purpose of the qualitative study is to understand the assisted living transition of older African American women between the ages 75 - 95 years old, through the experiences and perceptions of family members who assisted with the move to your facility. The family member interviews would take approximately 1-hour, but I will be flexible depending on the comfort and preference of the family member. There is no compensation for participating in this study but your facility's cooperation as a site to post a flyer may contribute to findings and information about the assisted living transition of older African American women. The outcomes of the study are to support the development of a transition framework for health and aging services professionals, so that they can better help older African American women adjust to an assisted living facility. If you are willing to participate or have any questions about the study, please contact Carol Shaw Burns at or by phone at

. Thank you in advance for your response.

Sincerely, Carol Shaw Burns.

Appendix C: Recruitment Flyer



Family Member Caregivers needed for a study

ASSISTED LIVING TRANSITIONS

- Are you a family member caregiver of an African American women age 75 – 95 years old?
- Did your loved one move into the assisted living facility within the last two-years?
- Did you help with the move to the assisted living facility?

If the answers to these questions are <u>ves</u>, you may qualify to participate in a study to understand your experiences and perceptions about the move of your loved one.

Interviews can also be conducted by email, phone or video conferencing.

Please contact Carol Shaw Burns, at 708-607-2245 and/o

1